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- Annual General Meeting
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- Proposed Final Dividend
EERPRE
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o8k A H

14th August 2024 (Wednesday) to 19th August 2024 (Monday)
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19th August 2024 (Monday)
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28th August 2024 (Wednesday)
“E-WNENAZTNB(EHZD)

Annual General Meeting
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11:30 a.m., 19th August 2024 (Monday)
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Financial Highlights
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Year Ended 31st March @2 =A=+—HILEE
Results
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Financial Highlights
MBREE

As at 31st March R=BA=+—H
Financial Position
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Sales Analysis by Location
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Notes:

“Hong Kong SAR” represented the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China.

“Macau SAR” represented the Macao Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ERHRS

13

In FY2023/2024, the Group’s
profit to equity shareholders grew
substantially, as a result of our
focus on improving field sales
execution in Mainland China and
leveraging portfolio innovation in
the Hong Kong Operation. We are
confident that both the VITASOY
and VITA brands are well positioned
to take advantage of the growth
opportunities presented by shoppers
looking for plant-based beverages.

Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO

(SBS, BSc, MSc)
R-B-= /—B_NHREE" 52 ¥ 95 (SBS, BSc, MSQ)
A 3R 1P S5k B 2 84T o L 3t e Crima

By 85 & R B 3 45 = m £l ¥ E A R
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Chairman’s Statement
ETERE

In financial year 2023/2024 (FY2023/2024), the Group’s profit to
equity shareholders grew substantially, by 155%, as a result of our
focus on improving field sales execution in Mainland China and
leveraging portfolio innovation in the Hong Kong Operation. This
was partly offset by manufacturing attainment issues in Australia
that we are now addressing.

Group revenue in FY2023/2024 rose 1% over the previous year,
excluding currency impact. The drop of 3% in the first half of the
financial year was more than offset in the second half by Mainland
China’s 10% revenue growth in local currency terms and solid
performance by the Hong Kong Operation.

Following improvement in the Group’s financial performance, and
in its cash position, the Board of Directors recommended a final
dividend of HK6.3 cents per ordinary share for FY2023/2024,
subject to the shareholders’ approval at the Annual General Meeting
to be held on 19th August 2024. This, along with the interim
dividend of HK1.4 cents per ordinary share, brings the total dividend
for FY2023/2024 to HK7.7 cents per ordinary share.

Encouraging growth in Mainland China and Hong
Kong Operation

Mainland China attained substantial growth in operating profit,
driven by disciplined sales execution and improved organisational
capabilities.

We also achieved revenue growth in the Hong Kong Operation
compared with last year, primarily due to successful product
innovation - one of our core business strengths - and the return to
normal trading of the Vitaland school business.
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Chairman’s Statement
ETERE

Our Australia and New Zealand business did not perform to
expectation, however, as a result of protracted manufacturing
attainment challenges, intensified price competition and high logistics
costs in a tight supply environment. These issues are currently being
addressed with a high sense of urgency.

In ASEAN markets, Singapore revenue was on a par with last year,
as growing export tofu sales were offset by soft local demand
and slower beverage sales in preparation for our switch to a new
beverages distributor. Our Philippines joint-venture business grew
strongly in both the multi-serve and on-the-go platforms.

The year ahead

In the year ahead, we are confident that both the VITASOY and
VITA brands are well positioned to take advantage of the growth
opportunities presented by shoppers looking for plant-based
beverages.

As a responsible company, we will also continue to advance
our Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) performance
in accordance with our Sustainability Framework and the latest
regulatory requirements.

Note of appreciation

| would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow Board
members, management team and staff for all their hard work
and contributions during the year. | would also like to thank our
shareholders, customers, suppliers and business partners, whose
ongoing support and trust in us is so critical for our continued
development.
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Chairman’s Statement
ETERE

Dr. the Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI and Mr. Jan P.S. ERLUND, our
Independent Non-executive Directors, will retire by rotation at
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and will not stand for
re-election. Their strong business acumen and insightful advice made
meaningful contributions to the Group’s development. On behalf
of the Board, | would like to express our gratitude to Sir David and
Mr. Erlund for their unwavering support and commitment, valuable
guidance and contributions to the Board and Sub-board Committees
over the years.

With our strong portfolio of popular brands and organisational
capabilities, | believe we are well placed to achieve even greater
success in the years ahead.

Winston Yau-lai LO
Executive Chairman
20 June 2024
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GROUP CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
REPORT/BUSINESS REVIEW

SETHRANRE RGER

13

We improved the structural
profitability of the Group in
FY2023/2024 by increasing
operating efficiency and enhancing
field sales execution. Next year,
we aim to continue growing our
business and improving structural
profitability. We remain well
positioned to deliver long-term
value and growth in our markets,
thanks to our strong brand equity
and core product portfolio and
ongoing innovation.

AMEBRABERER
MBEBTHERR S AEE

A—E =/ —_FE_MBHBKE Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI
ENEBHEBAEDERNE - BETE = 4
EH ﬂi ﬁ 1FH E’ T:E ?Rﬁ ,Q.E E ﬂ' % i% & Executive Director and

== N Gr Chief Ex ive Officer
RELEBURAED  REBRE insieii

BANMEEE ZRLOmBER
ZIURTERIH HMaER
EmSFREREEERERED
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Group Chief Executive Officer’s Report/Business Review

EETHRARBE FBOE

Group revenue grew by 1% net of currency impact in FY2023/2024
after recovering from a 3% drop during the first half of the year,
driven by a solid 6% growth in the second half.

This result is primarily attributable to the accelerating performance
of our China business. In Mainland China, revenue grew 10%
in local currency terms during the second half of the year, with
both VITASOY and VITA brands returning to growth as a result
of improved sales execution. The Hong Kong Operation achieved
robust single digit growth through strong core portfolio performance
and selective product innovation. In Australia, manufacturing
attainment issues hindered short-term growth and profitability,
which we are now addressing with a high degree of urgency.
ASEAN units in Singapore and the Philippines continued to focus on
structural improvements to secure sustained growth and enhanced
profitability.

Gross profit margin rose to 50%, mainly due to higher selling prices
and increased efficiency in trade promotional spending, partially
offset by the impact of unfavourable foreign exchange movements
and sales mix. Key raw material prices during the financial year
remained stable. Profit from operations grew significantly by 79%
in FY2023/2024, due to the higher gross profit margin and greater
efficiencies following our rightsizing of investments and expenses.
Mainland China registered a profit from operations of RMB29 million
in the second half of the year, reversing an RMB80 million loss in
the same period last year. This was primarily due to our commercial
structural interventions and cost control measures. Net of currency
impact and COVID-19-related government subsidies, Group profit
from operations for the year increased by 392%.

Innovation is one of the major strengths of Vitasoy. Towards the
end of FY2023/2024, we renewed our efforts to expand our core
product offerings in Mainland China and the Hong Kong Operation
by appealing to different consumer segments.

We remain confident in the long-term potential of the plant-based
market and our ability to grow. We will also maintain our disciplined
focus on our core fundamentals and expand product availability to
improve revenue and profit.
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Group Chief Executive Officer’s Report/Business Review

EETHRARBE FBOE

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)

In the past year, new frameworks and standards were developed
and released to address a range of topics, notably the Taskforce on
Nature-related Financial Disclosures (TNFD) and the International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) Sustainability Disclosure
Standards. Along with the Taskforce on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD), there has been growing recognition of the
need to incorporate sustainability factors into our business strategy
and financial reporting. This year, we provided a standalone TCFD
report in our sustainability report and started to incorporate TNFD
information.

Our Group's purpose is to promote sustainable plant-based nutrition
and to become a role model for sustainability in the way we do
business. In our current sustainability report, we provide a detailed
account of our sustainability initiatives in FY2023/2024 as well as
our plans for the future. We are also committed to pursuing the
targets set in our Sustainability Framework while advancing the
material ESG topics we have identified.

Portfolio

In FY2023/2024, we continued to develop formulae for plant-
based products with high nutritional value, lower sugar content and
reduced saturated fat. Additionally, we expanded the amount of
nutrition information on our front-of-pack product labels.

Packaging

We continued to test and pilot improvements leading to better
environmental performance.

Manufacturing

Our ongoing efforts to reduce the water intensity in our production
and move towards zero manufacturing waste to landfill have brought
us closer to meeting our targets for FY2025/2026. We have also
been increasing our efforts to drive down energy inefficiencies in
our operations, but that has proven to be more challenging than
expected. To improve energy efficiency, we have put plans in place
to optimise our regional production arrangements, which we expect
will result in further improvements.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7
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é% Group Chief Executive Officer’s Report/Business Review

EETHRARBE FBOE

Carbon emissions

We have analysed the physical risk factors for our business and
engaged with our top suppliers to improve their carbon data for
our Scope 3 emissions inventory. As our business relies heavily
on collaboration with suppliers, we undertook a supply chain ESG
risk mapping exercise on forced labour, working conditions and
deforestation covering four key commodities, namely soybean, sugar,
tea and milk powder.

Community

We are committed to serving our communities in ways that are
closely related to our purpose. To that end, we have established
community projects in Mainland China and Australia on nutritional
education, rural revitalisation and land rehydration.

External recognition serves as an affirmation of our ESG efforts. In
FY2023/2024, the Company retained its grade A rating in the MSCI
ESG ratings and was featured in Corporate Knights’ Global 100 Most
Sustainable Corporations for the fifth consecutive year.

The benefits of plant-based foods and beverages for people and
the planet have received increasing positive attention. We believe
our purpose, growing range of healthy plant-based products and
commitment to include social and environmental considerations in
our business decisions will continue to position us favourably as a
responsible corporate citizen.
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é? Group Chief Executive Officer’s Report/Business Review

EETHRARBE FBOE

Financial Highlights

Highlights of the Group’s financial performance for the year ended
31st March 2024, with comparisons against the previous financial
year ended 31st March 2023, are presented in the following table.

Revenue

WA

Gross Profit

EX

EBITDA (Earnings before Interest Income,
Finance Costs, Income Tax, Depreciation,
Amortisation and Share of Losses of
Joint Venture)

EBITDA CRETRIB WA « BB - FIEH -
TE BEBRARMESELTBEARER)

Profit Attributable to Equity Shareholders of the
Company

KRB RERE A BAEEF

Basic Earnings per Share (HK cents)

BREAREF GBAL)

Gearing ratio

BEk=E

Gearing ratio (excluding lease liabilities)

BEER(TREHEEE)

ROCE (Return on Capital Employed)
EARmEFE

B RE

Year ended 31st March
BZ=RA=+—HLEE

TREJAEEEZE-Z-_NF=A=1+—H
LFEFENBBEXERE HBEE-_ZT-=F
ZA=t+—-BLz E—ERRFEMNLL -

Change -
Net of currency
impact and
COVID-19
related
government
subsidies
BE—
2024 2023 WRERZER
—E-ME —E-=F 2019 BARTE
(HK$ million) (HK$ million) Change SHERBUA
(B¥EET) GRS =) AL
6,341 -2% +1%
3,012 +3% +7%
621 +10% +27%
N/A
0,
46 +155% RiE
N/A
O,

4.3 +153% i
-2ppt -3ppt

25%
) 2B H 3EOH
-8ppt -8ppt

21%
’ -SEOH SEOH
+3ppt +5ppt

18%
° +3EDH +5SEDH
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Group Chief Executive Officer’s Report/Business Review

EETHRARBE FBOE

Revenue

For the year ended 31st March 2024, Group revenue was HK$6,217
million (FY2022/2023: HK$6,341 million). Net of currency impact,
the Group's revenue increased 1% over the previous year, but
dropped slightly by 2% in Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD”) terms due to
the depreciation of both the Renminbi (“RMB”) and Australian Dollar
(“AUD").

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group’s gross profit for the year was HK$3,111 million
(FY2022/2023: HK$3,012 million), representing an increase of 3%,
mainly driven by higher selling prices and lower trade promotional
expenses, partially offset by the impact of unfavourable foreign
exchange movements and sales mix.

Gross profit margin increased to 50% (FY2022/2023: 48%).

Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses were at a level similar to the year before, at
HK$3,010 million (FY2022/2023: HK$3,022 million).

Marketing, selling and distribution expenses decreased 2% to
HK$1,976 million (FY2022/2023: HK$2,024 million), despite the
cessation of COVID-19-related government subsidies and higher
advertising and promotion spending. The decrease was mainly
due to effective cost rationalisation in our operations and lower
transportation costs.

Administrative expenses increased 4% to HK$701 million
(FY2022/2023: HK$672 million), mainly due to higher staff
incentives as a result of the year's favourable performance compared
with the previous year.

Other operating expenses increased 2% to HK$333 million
(FY2022/2023: HK$326 million), which mainly included costs for
staff in support functions as well as sundry tax charges in Mainland
China.
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EETHRARBE FBOE

EBITDA (Earnings before Interest Income, Finance
Costs, Income Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation and
Share of Losses of Joint Venture)

EBITDA for the year was HK$685 million, an increase of 10%
year-on-year. This was mainly driven by the higher gross profit
contribution and effective cost rationalisation in our operations,
partly offset by the cessation of COVID-19-related government
subsidies. The EBITDA to revenue margin for the year increased
from 10% to 11%. Net of currency impact and the COVID-19-related
government subsidies, EBITDA for the year increased by 27%.

Profit from Operations

Profit from operations for the year was HK$185 million, an increase
of 79% from a profit of HK$104 million last year. Net of currency
impact and COVID-19-related government subsidies, profit from
operations for the year increased by 392%.

Profit before Taxation

For FY2023/2024, profit before taxation was HK$132 million,
compared with last year's HK$49 million.

Taxation

Income tax charged for the year was HK$14 million (FY2022/2023:
HK$28 million), with an effective tax rate of 11% versus 57% last
year, mainly due to deferred tax impact in respect of tax losses
expected to be utilised in the future.

Profit Attributable to Equity Shareholders of the
Company

Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company was
HK$116 million (FY2022/2023: HK$46 million), representing an
increase of 155% over the previous year.
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EETHRARBE FBOE

Financial Position

The Group finances its operations and capital expenditure primarily
through internally generated cash as well as banking facilities
provided by our principal bankers.

As of 31st March 2024, cash and bank deposits amounted to
HK$794 million (31st March 2023: HK$555 million), with 82%, 12%
and 3% of our cash and bank deposits denominated in HKD, RMB
and United States Dollars (USD), respectively (31st March 2023:
62%, 27% and 6%). As of 31st March 2024, the Group had a net cash
balance (cash and bank deposits less bank borrowings, bills payable
and lease liabilities) of HK$111 million (31st March 2023: net debt
balance of HK$197 million). Available banking facilities amounted to
HK$1,193 million (31st March 2023: HK$1,146 million) to facilitate
future funding needs.

The Group'’s debt amounted to HK$684 million (31st March 2023:
HK$753 million), of which bank borrowings were HK$256 million
(31st March 2023: HK$525 million), bills payable were HK$125
million (31st March 2023: HK$92 million), and lease liabilities were
HK$303 million (31st March 2023: HK$136 million).

The gearing ratio (total debt/total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company) decreased to 23% (31st March 2023:
25%). Excluding lease liabilities from total debt, the gearing ratio was
13% (31st March 2023: 21%)

The Group’s return on capital employed (ROCE, being EBITDA/
average non-current debt and equity) for the year was 21%
(FY2022/2023: 18%).

Capital expenditure incurred during the year decreased to HK$133
million (FY2022/2023: HK$154 million), mainly due to the
normalised investment required for maintaining and upgrading our
production lines and equipment.

There were no assets pledged or secured under loan and/or lease
arrangements during the year.
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EETHRARBE FBOE

Non-financial Key Performance Indicators

The Group publishes various non-financial KPlIs in its FY2023/2024
Sustainability Report, which will be released in July 2024 together
with this Annual Report.

Tax Strategy

When considering tax, the Group gives due consideration to
the importance of its corporate and social responsibilities. More
specifically, the Group commits to paying taxes in the countries
where it creates value and complying fully with tax laws across
all relevant jurisdictions. The Group also commits to following
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
(OECD) transfer pricing guidelines and to ensuring that the arm’s
length principle is always observed in transactions between Group
companies. In addition, the Group commits to being open and
transparent with tax authorities about the Group’s tax affairs and to
disclosing relevant information to enable tax authorities to carry out
their reviews.

Financial Risk Management

The Group’s overall financial management policy focuses on
anticipating, controlling and managing risks, and covering
transactions directly related to the underlying businesses of the
Group. For synergy, efficiency and control, the Group operates a
central cash and treasury management system for all subsidiaries.
Borrowings are normally taken out in local currencies by the
operating subsidiaries to fund their investments and partially mitigate
foreign currency risks.

Potential Risk and Uncertainties

The Company has implemented a comprehensive risk management
framework across the Group to consistently anticipate, assess and
mitigate key business risks, as well as a risk governance structure to
ensure risk ownership and proper oversight. In view of the rapidly
changing business environment, the Group Internal Audit and Risk
Management Department has stepped up its efforts to improve
key risk indicators, identify external emerging risks and facilitate
risk reviews for key purchasing decisions. Details of these risk
management processes are covered in the Risk Management section
of the Corporate Governance Report in this Annual Report.
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SETHRARBRE EKEE

Review of operations 3 1% B B8

Mainland China o A b

Restored revenue growth in the second half, a step change F¥EFEUALEER K KFELEHBE

towards total Financial Year profitability [&F
(Rounded to the nearest million) 2024 2023 % Change
(MIEEANZREFRLFGE) —EMEF —E-= ERalsd-k)
Revenue from external customers (RMB million) 3084 On par
RENEEEZBRA (AREEET) ’ ¥
Profit from operations (RMB million)

o s e — 40 402%
EEER ARBEET) *
Revenue from ?xternal~custonﬁrs—(HK$ million) 3,509 4%
REIEEEZBA (BEEET)

Profit from operations (HK$ million) 46 +380%

KRN (BB AaET)

Mainland China revenues were flat in RMB year-on-year as 10% HEBERMBHBRARAREHERLLFE  T¥
growth in the second half enabled RMB29 million profit from  F&&EFIE R 10%ZE A K ¥ 29,000,000 7T °
operations, reversing the revenue drop during the first half of HEF¥XFIWATHRANEE SRETE R
the year. The performance was balanced across brand platforms, EBRitEAIZEEREYE -

channels and regions.

Profit from operations for the year increased significantly by 402%in EEEB LR - EHNE S EE I HURIEHIE

local currency terms, driven by higher pricing, efficient spendingon & EBRT » FRAKLERZFUE b E ¥ E KIF
trade promotions and effective containment of operating expenses. R 402%
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Hong Kong Operation (Hong Kong SAR, Macau SAR and
Exports)

Sustained growth behind core business strengths and
incremental product innovation

BRER (FBERITHE - RPIER

(Rounded to the nearest million) HK$ million HK$ million % Change
(M EAZREREE) BEBET BEEETT BoLbE

Revenue from external customers

REINEERZWA

THEREHO)
BERODEBEDEHEE BN EDRERF
EER
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E==-=
2,144 +4%
218 +3%

Profit from operations

B RF

The Hong Kong Operation grew revenue and profit, driven by its
core business strengths, effective leveraging of selective innovation,
improved consumption in convenience stores and the Vitaland
school business’s return to normal.

Profit from operations increased 3%. Excluding COVID-19-related
government subsidies, however, profit from operations growth was
actually a much more significant 42%, as a result of our efforts to
achieve savings in material and production costs.
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Australia and New Zealand

Factory attainment and logistics transition issues (now being
addressed) affected results

(Rounded to the nearest million)

BN X ¥ P bR
HIEBEEY THERRYHBELESF
AER

(NEBEAZREERE) —BomE —2-= BOLL#E

Revenue from external customers (AUD million)

REIEEEZRA(RTHET)

(Loss)/profit from operations (AUD million)
w2 (ER) /BN (BRTtEE8rT)

Revenue from external customers (HK$ million)

REIIEEEZRACBEEERET)

(Loss)/profit from operations (HK$ million)

g (B1R) Onk (BB EET)

2024 2023 % Change
108 -5%

1 N/A

R

580 -9%

8 N/A

R

Despite strong demand for our plant-based products, revenue
during FY2023/2024 decreased in local currency and Hong Kong
Dollar terms, owing to an out-of-stock situation which arose
from temporary manufacturing attainment and logistic issues. We
are now addressing these issues and providing comprehensive
Group-wide support for our manufacturing plant in Australia to
ensure accelerated and sustained recovery of production capacity
and stability in FY2024/2025.

Riding on the positive feedback and growth of our VITASOY Soy
Greek-style Yogurt, we introduced a whole new oat-based yogurt
portfolio. The expanded offerings drove growth momentum on this
platform during the financial year.

In FY2023/2024, we registered an operating loss of AUD16 million.
This was due to the out-of-stock situation, intensified market
competition and high raw material, logistics and overhead costs as
well as other operating expenses incurred during the transition to full
ownership which took place on 13th February 2023.
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CECZ /RN BREERENRARE
WERRERHERATR RMARLEEER
BRE  AEEYERNEEREEEHZE
mBEBRIN-Z-N/ ZZE-_HHBFEM
REFEMEEEREFRE -

BESMDAEAATIRNEAEERER
B BMNELEHAEIR -BRXERRD
BEUAMBFEESARERNEREE -

R-ZBZ= /ZE2-_NHRFEE AR HIBER
EBR MEHREFME - BZHE - IRKREE
BRAER UWEREZZE-_=Z=F-A+=ZHW
B2REERNBEERRAELEEMEEER
ISR B % B BB T 16,000,000 7T ©

Annual Report 2023/2024 £ E# & @



é% Group Chief Executive Officer’s Report/Business Review

EETHRARBE FBOE

Singapore

Beverages sales decline ahead of distributor change, offsetting

strong tofu export growth

03K
mE EH T BEAHBEA TF BHEE
B H O 89 7% 5 1 =

(Rounded to the nearest thousand) 2024 2023 % Change
(M EAZREERT) —EME —E-= BotbEs
Revenue from external customers (SGD thousand)

N — 18,782 -2%
REHNEERZ WA R FT) °
Loss from operation (SGD thousand)

e e e _ 2,123 -4%
1S I8 (R T ) (2123 ’
Revenue from external customers (HK$ thousand) On par

o N _ 107,008 107,318
RENEEEZWA CB¥ETT) B
Loss from operation (HK$ thousand) (12,855) (12.130) 6%

HEBEBE T

Revenue dropped slightly by 2% in local currency terms, which was
on par in Hong Kong Dollar terms. A temporary decline in beverage
sales ahead of changing our distributor affected overall performance
and offset positive growth in tofu exports.

The higher operating loss was mainly due to increasing raw material

costs and price competition, which was partially offset by effective
control of operating expenses.
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EETHRARBE FBOE

Business Outlook

We are committed to improving revenue and profit growth in
Mainland China and the overall Group. We are confident that our
brands are strategically poised to capitalise on the long-term growth
potential of the plant-based movement, both in our existing core
products and innovative new offerings.

Mainland China

Building upon the substantial growth in profit from operations during
the current financial year, we are committed to expanding the scale
of our business while enhancing profitability.

In FY2024/2025, we will continue to improve field sales execution
and increase availability of our products. Both VITASOY and VITA
will leverage new marketing campaigns and new core product
innovation.

Hong Kong Operation

We will sustain growth by strengthening our core products and
introducing innovative new offerings under both the VITASOY
and VITA brands. We firmly believe that our strong brand equity,
pervasive presence and execution capability in the local market are
important competitive advantages to sustain our success.

Australia and New Zealand

We remain resolute in our commitment to expedite the business
turnaround by enhancing factory attainment and completing the
integration of our logistics and warehouse operations.

Singapore

In FY2024/2025, we will continue to focus on returning to profit
by improving tofu and export sales and making step changes in
beverage sales under our new distributor partnership.

The Philippines

Our joint venture with Universal Robina Corporation will continue
to invest in building the VITASOY brand and raising soy category
awareness and adoption through promotion trials to grow sales
and market share. In addition, we will continue to enhance our local
manufacturing capabilities in order to increase our product offerings
and drive efficiency.
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Conclusion

Despite higher advertising investment and raw material prices, we
improved the structural profitability of the Group in FY2023/2024
by increasing operating efficiency and enhancing field sales
execution. Next year, we aim to continue growing our business and
improving structural profitability.

We remain well positioned to deliver long-term value and growth
in our markets, thanks to our strong brand equity and core product
portfolio and ongoing innovation. Our strengthened organisational
capabilities and international breadth in plant-based food and
beverage products, which appeal to health-conscious consumers, are
also distinctive advantages.

In closing, | would like to express my deep appreciation to our
Executive Chairman and Board of Directors for their help and
guidance in returning us to profitability. | would also like to extend
my heartfelt thanks to our dedicated staff and business partners,
whose contributions have been instrumental in our achievements
throughout the year.

Roberto GUIDETTI

Executive Director and

Group Chief Executive Officer
20 June 2024
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRSE

Vitasoy International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is firmly  #fBBEREBER AT (A27F ) Brak
committed to a high level of corporate governance and adherenceto  FHH(ER  WEHIABFIEEERHE - B
the governance principles and practices emphasising transparency, M1 & - AEFHEAFL2ERRAIRER -
independence, accountability, responsibility and fairness. These AATRESE(EES|)JEBEZEETEE
principles and practices are regularly reviewed, enhanced and E&EH#st - Eﬂ?&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁ '
updated by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) or its delegated Board URMAEHESNEESRERTCEETAER -
Committees to reflect the ever changing regulatory requirements EZEZSHBEZSRANERNBEZEER
and corporate governance development. The Board would conduct BB ETEH B - ESSHEE SBEMND
regular review on the implementation and effectiveness of those % &4 ¥ E{ﬁw}%.ﬁnﬁ/\ELﬁfﬁ B %
policies embracing those principles and practices. The Board believes RE - ARREEREMENERSEEE
that the high standards of corporate governance is the essential core A SR AYBIERAZ s ©

for sustaining Vitasoy Group’s long term performance and value

creation for our shareholders, the investing public and the other

stakeholders.

five out of the eleven directors are independent non-executive directors

T-—BEBEFIARBYFYTES

|

two out of the eleven directors are female

T-—RESETFMARLM

Board

Composition the Board has diverse mix of knowledge, skills, experience and expertise

ES2RAZTENAE - HiE - BBRRER

EEEAK

chairpersons of major board committees are independent non-executive directors

TEEEZREECIREYRBIUFYTES

roles of Executive Chairman and Group Chief Executive Officer are separate

BOTEIERERTRARZABGYEESD

[

NN NI N

five Board meetings and eight Sub-board Committee meetings in FY2023/2024
— 0 K== __/ SN BRFEERTTRAAESEEER/\RESESET
éﬁ = E F

average 99% attendance rate of meetings

SETHYHEREII%

periodic review the Corporate Culture Statement to always align with business
— strategies and operating practices

_J EMRNEE LR  BEBEBREEEFRARE -

proactive sustainability strategy and effective implementation

RENTHEZR R R B NER

active participation into in-house training and continuing professional development

BEZEQNAABFIARSEEXERRE

clear roadmap for Board Succession Plan and Board Diversity

EXSHAARESERE S LI REMHI R K@ E
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Company has, throughout the year ended 31st March 2024,
complied with all the code provisions and, where appropriate,
adopted certain recommended best practices set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Part 2 of
Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Corporate Culture

Vitasoy is one of the world’s leading producers of tasty nutritious
plant-based foods and beverages for over 80 years. In 1940, our
founder Dr. K.S. Lo was motivated to provide an abundant source of
affordable nutrition to help improve the lives of others. Since then,
we have built on his principles to champion sustainable practices
across our business. We are leading the transition towards more
sustainable plant-based nutrition. Our founding purpose continues
to inspire us today.

Vitasoy Culture Statement: Our Purpose, Values and
Behaviours

Our Purpose

To advance the world’s transformation towards a sustainable future,
through the amazing power of plants.

Our Core Values

We share the same three core values:

1. Integrity - Honest, trusted, loyal. We are reliable and
responsible partners.

2. Dedication - Committed, enthusiastic, with a “can-do” spirit.
We always give our best efforts.

3. Advancement - Striving, moving forward, always improving.

We aspire to advance ourselves and the Company.

Our Vitasoy Success Drivers (VSD)

We set six competency-based behaviour standards for all our
employees:

Customer Focus
Innovation

Quality Orientation
Strategic Agility
Collaboration
Accountability

oA E

By living our shared Purpose, Values and Behaviours, we create a
culture of high performance, build a better environment in which to
work and make positive impacts on each other.
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Alignment of Culture with Business Strategies and
Operating Practices

Vitasoy’s Executive and Leadership team set the tone and develop
the strategies for our Culture which is reviewed, aligned and
endorsed by the Board of Directors or its Board Committee on
a regular basis. The leadership team acts as a role model and
cascades the Company’s culture to all levels via various internal
communication platforms and systems.

Our core values are embedded in the Group Business Ethics Policy
and the Code of Conduct for employees and relevant stakeholders.
The Code of Conduct is clearly laid out in our Staff Handbook and
communicated to all new joiners. We provide refresher training to all
employees and relevant stakeholders on Business Ethics and Code
of Conduct on a regular basis to ensure strict compliance of all rules
and regulations when we do our business.

The Company’s talent acquisition, onboarding, performance
management and talent development processes for our employees
are all aligned with our Purpose, Values and Behaviours. Purpose,
Values and VSD training has been mandated to all new joiners during
their onboarding. Our Values and VSD standards are reinforced
during day-to-day work and employees are recognised by role
modelling our Purpose, Values and demonstrating positive VSD
behaviours.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7
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Board of Directors EETE

The general management of the Company’s business is vested inthe @EBEESESAAFER s EZESTEI/E 12
Board. The Board has established various committees to carry out HKIYFAEZEZESRBITEESMEREER
specified functions assigned by the Board of Directors which require B EEX B BE S ERE - EET2ET
specialised areas of expertise. The Board has delegated the day-to- ZARARZHITEELEEEEAEESEEERN
day management power of the Company to the Executive Directors AT HESHH - A BIB(R KA ~ £
and Senior Management of the Company. However, full delegation 18 8] - ¥ EATFHREMBEEREE 3
is not allowed for some specific matters under the Companies ZDHEBTEAAFTEZTMAES AR
Ordinance, the Listing Rules, the CG Code or other regulatory Z2RBEECHEHEAFHERRE -ESSC
requirements, and the final decisions on those specific matters are  RMBABCEEBEBR  JHEASTESSELERE
required to be made by the whole Board. A defined schedule of ZZEI1E > GIFEERER :

matters reserved for Board decisions has been adopted by the Board,

including but not limited to:

e Business direction and strategic plans
EBHERERRE

o ESG strategy

Direction and Strategy B HEeREAE

R ERE e Corporate culture
TEIL

® Major merger, acquisition or disposal transactions

a6t WERHERS

e Ensure the Company strategy is in alignment with ESG issues by taking
account of ESG opportunities and risks

Oversight role of ESG E@%E%ﬁ;ﬁ%&%iﬁi%ﬁ&@@  BRRAQRREERE

TR (1IN HEREREE—H

RIE - HERER o )

oy e Approval and review of corporate culture statement

£l HERBFEELER

e Approval and review of ESG related policies

HARBRFNERE  HERELEBARE

e Reorganisation of group and capital structure
Corporate Structure BEHEERELRER
puEsntE e Shares buy-back
RHEE

e Appointment or removal of Directors, Chief Executive, and Company Secretary
Appointments and ERERERRES  THRARRLAAWE
e Appointment or removal of External Auditors
Py ZERERRINEXEEAT
ZERZFERED e Set up and dissolution of Board committee
RIRBREEEES

e Annual budget
FEEE
e Capital expenditure plans and management
EXRHXEREE
e Significant guarantee or indemnity
Financial Transactions, BERIERSFERFE
Internal Control and e Notifiable and connected transactions
2 I\ JE Zx
Risk Management [ ;FE;% Aﬁj&ﬁﬁ&;%
N e Financial reporting
MRS - REREEE B iS3R 4
R b EE e Dividend policy
R E R
e Internal Control and Risk Management

R EREE I % [ b E

delegation of authorities [ )
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The Board strives to achieve high standards of corporate governance
practices as well as the Company’s mission to creating value for our
shareholders. The Board is responsible for developing the strategic
directions and overseeing the Company’s ESG matters and ensuring
the Company’s ESG strategy is aligned with and incorporated into
the Company’s mission, vision and long term business strategy. A
lot of focus and attention have been devoted to formulation and
execution of the Company’s strategic planning as well as integration
of ESG considerations into the strategic plans.

Strategic planning horizons are currently set for five years. The
Board has approved a Five Year Strategic Plan including the ESG
Strategy for the fiscal years up to FY2028/2029 in August 2023
and has always been taking a proactive role in reviewing and
revising the Strategic Plan periodically in response to changes in the
macro-economic, competitive business environment, ESG related
risks and opportunities and regulatory requirements. The Board
also actively defines the Company’s sustainability strategies and
practices, and prioritizes and allocates resources to achieve the long-
term success of the business and its sustainability.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7
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Board Composition

EETAMX

Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO

Executive Chairman

HTERE

Independent Non-executive Director Non-executive Director Executive Director
BUIERITES EMITES WITES
Dr. the Hon. Sir Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI
David Kwok-po LI ERKLZL [EEISEE
FEEST : : (Group Chief Executive Officer)
: : (EETEAE#)
Mr. Jan P. S. ERLUND Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO Mr. Eugene LYE
sE2E g BEAELE g e TS
Mr. Anthony John Liddell Ms. May LO
NIGHTINGALE : BHXZL
mEESY : (Deputy Chairman)
2 (BIE/E)

Mr. Paul Jeremy BROUGH
Sk

Dr. Roy Chi-ping CHUNG
EETEL
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The designation, position and brief biographical information of each
Director, together with the relationship amongst each other, Senior
Management or substantial or controlling Shareholder are set out
in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this
Annual Report. In addition, a latest list containing the names of the
Directors and their roles and functions is published on the websites
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
and the Company at www.vitasoy.com.

Designation B

e Non-executive Directors
—— o

FHITES
Executive Directors
HITES

Gender 13|

I Fzzemale

Ethnicity &%

Non-Chinese
IEEH

Age Group F# 45!

- o 41-50
- o 51-60

e 61-70

Tenure of Office (Years) {EHi (££)

Over 9
oLl E

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7
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Independent Non-executive Directors
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0 Male
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Chinese
=5

Over 70
7000 k&

1-9



Corporate Governance Report

A S 3
TEERRE

The Directors’ core skills, expertise and experience are relevant to EEMEEHAE BHEAEBRELHRERDNTE
the Company’s business, strategy and governance which enable the 7 X RERHE  FEESSHEAERNET
Board discharges its duties and responsibilities effectively. HBEREE-

Directors' Core skills, expertise and experience

ESCITH SENEREN
Accounting,
Audit,
Finance, Risk Manufacturing
Management and Project
General  Eit it Food Management
Management BER Legal  Technology Marketing EER
Name #e GRER RisER ER BN THERE HEER
Executive Chairman HTERE
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO BRELE * *
Independent Non-executive ey
Di BikyTES
irectors
Dr. the Hon. Sir David SEEEL . .
Kwok-po LI
Mr. Jan P. S. ERLUND JanP.S.ERLUND %4 *
Mr. Anthony John Liddell
BT *
NIGHTINGALE e
Mr. Paul Jeremy BROUGH Paul Jeremy BROUGH %t £ *
Dr. Roy Chi-ping CHUNG EXVEL *
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO BRRUL *
Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO BEARLE x
Ms. May LO BHEZL *
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI HEEERE * x
Mr. Eugene LYE BAEE * *
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Board Composition and Diversity

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy to set out the
objectives and the factors to be considered for achieving the
diversity of the Board in June 2013. The board diversity will be
achieved through a number of factors, including but not limited to
experience, professional qualification, knowledge, gender, ethnicity
and age. The Board Diversity Policy has been updated in March
2022 to expressly include the disclosure of targets and timelines for
achieving gender diversity at Board level. The Board Diversity Policy
has been published on the Company’s website. The Remuneration
and Nomination Committee (the “R&N Committee”) will review this
policy annually and monitor the implementation to ensure continued
effectiveness and compliance with regulatory requirements and good
corporate governance practices.

During the year, the Board, through the R&N Committee, had
reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board
and the Board Diversity Policy, to ensure the Board's composition
complies with the CG Code with an appropriate mix of skills,
experience and diversity that are relevant to the Company’s strategy,
governance and business and contribute to the Board’s effectiveness
and efficiency. The implementation of the Board Diversity Policy
during FY2023/2024 was considered effective.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. Board
appointment and renewal have been made based on merit as well as
complementing and expanding the skills, knowledge and experience
of the Board as a whole. The R&N Committee reviews the progress
on achieving measurable objectives for gender and age diversity
annually and review such objectives, whenever applicable to ensure
it leverages diversity to contribute to the achievement of the
Company'’s strategic objectives. The R&N Committee has established
the measurable objectives for achieving gender and age diversity up
to FY2029/2030. As at the year ended 31st March 2024, progress in
achieving the objectives are:

EFEREHARRZ T

EXEN 2= ARNESENES T
tBE ERHIESEHESTLHENU
REHZTICNEERZ -ESEREZ L
HEB-RIERER BEETRANER -
EXER HB MR -EBRRFR-EFTT
BMEZTIEHRRER-ZZF-ZZ2F=Z/AFH N
PEAAREERESEHEMANZ T ZE
BREBXR -EFEREZTLBREHER
RRARPUY - FHRRREZEERETFRIZ
BHRREFRENT BRESEZHRBARY
REEERRRHLXERTESR

FR -EXZSEBFHRESZEERNES
ENRB R AERZTEURESENR
BERABE UWERESENERFALHE
BT YEARBRALARK  ERKRER
BENEERE EREZEM ReESRS
MMBERYE - RZB= ZE-NHREF
EERNESEREZ TILBREARTZER

AABAAFESERESZ Tt zEE  URA
A REEECRBEEZ EE2ZIRER
—ERBRAZREURESHERNEE
EERROFE -ABRERAEA - HE K
REZEEREEERTEIHIRERS
TEHAGEEECEETERRITZE
B UBERBEREINAZ THEBBEREAD
AREBKEE FHRIEEZESEHEHE
ZECN/CE=EUHEEERENIRER
ST EEE REE-E_NFE=A
=+—HLEFEER  ERZEEEZEENT :

$.8

Gender

:3:1] ] [FDR18%1 2BZ °

Female representation during FY2023/2024 was 18.2% which has achieved the target of “not less
than 18%” set up for the years up to FY2024/2025.

NoB-= /—E_NBREE » ZMRKRB182%  CEINE-_FT-M —E_HHHEEMRE

Average age of the Board members during FY2023/2024 was 69 which has achieved the target of
“average age 67-70" set up for the years up to FY2024/2025.

REBZ= Z“ZHREE  EESRENTHYEREOR  CEIE-Z-N, —T_HE

BFEPREER] [FH67£70m ] 2BR -

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7



Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRSE

The R&N Committee has reviewed and targeted to maintain the
current level for female representation of “not less than 18%” of
the Board. However, the R&N Committee will continue reviewing
the targeted female representation over time as and whenever is
appropriate.

In considering the Board’s succession, the R&N Committee
has already adopted a roadmap for the succession plan up to
FY2029/2030. The R&N Committee would identify and select the
potential candidates for Directors in accordance with the Company’s
Directors Nomination Policy and may engage independent
professional search firm to identify potential candidates for
Independent Non-executive Directors.

Pursuant to Article 104 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Dr. the Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI, Mr. Jan P. S. ERLUND,
Mr. Anthony John Liddell NIGHTINGALE and Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI
will retire from office by rotation at the 2024 Annual General
Meeting. Dr. the Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI and Mr. Jan P.S.
ERLUND has informed the Board that they will not offer themselves
for re-election whereas the other two retiring Directors, Mr. Anthony
John Liddell NIGHTINGALE and Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI, being
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at the 2024 Annual
General Meeting.

In respect of the retirement of two Independent Non-executive
Directors at the 2024 Annual General Meeting, the R&N Committee
is selecting and considering suitable candidate(s) to fill the position in
accordance with the Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination
Policy. Further announcement will be made by the Company in due
course.

Workforce Diversity

The Company believes that workforce diversity creates a dynamic
environment which leads to higher performance and improved
quality. We are committed to upholding diversity of gender,
background, skills and experience across our workforce. The overall
gender diversity of the Company’s workforce (including Senior
Management) for FY2023/2024 is balanced, being approximately
48% female: 52% male. We continued to track the gender ratio by
business functions, regions, and levels of employment. We reviewed
the progress regularly to ensure visibility on gender equity, and
heads from functions and business operations were held accountable
for driving actions.

Further details on the gender ratio of the Group and initiatives taken
to improve gender diversity across Senior Management and the
wider workforce, together with relevant data, can be found in the
FY2023/2024 Sustainability Report, which will be published together
with this Annual Report.

FHREEEEE ORI LB RSN ES
B LI BT R DR 18% ) 2 BEAT o 57 -
FUMREEESHE IEL) FERN LA R
B -

HERESE 2 HER %ﬁ@ﬂ&?&%%%%a
Rt cBaE BE2-F=-/=
ZEMRFE- %@H&%m%%ﬁ%ﬂﬂﬁ?&$"
AESRABRKVERRBEES AR S8
ZRBVEXERNRNECBEBLFNITE
FEZAE-

RIBAQT2ERMAE 10415 ZHEB L -
Jan PS.ERLUND %t 4 - REE S A RERBEL
YHER_E_NFRREFASLWERME-
ZEHEE T KRJan P.S.ERLUND LB HHES
ERTEERET MBIMNUEETES
REEAAREBELENNTEAERTEIR
CENFREBFAGLEREMT

FMUBLFATESR T _NFRRBF
RELRAEMS  FHRESZESERESL
NEANESEZALRRERESREARE B

BEREZRBEEABRBEMZBA A2 FAERE
ERFRBITHRQSE -

EIZnik
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NEEETHAZTt (BESREEARE
Y (B1A48% L1 1 52% B ) - R E R
KR HWERMEKFIRYESHBENKE
BIEEHl - B EHEBERER  UEEMER
FENAURMY  ERNEEBEREKEEDM
BEATEHESHITHES -

EBRAKEMRLHE-SFBURR/RE
EREEAEBREZET MRS T mEREA
BiEREBERE  F2HSERAFR—H
HEN—2-= 2 NP RFEATFER
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Board Independence EEEEUM

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal in good ZAARFHEEEBEYMHHRFLEERRE
corporate governance and board effectiveness. The Board believes ZE2NEKZBEEE-BEELHE A2 7ER
that the Company has effective mechanisms in place to ensure MV EAXREE TERARXATDEMNESNELEHY
independent views and input from any director of the Company EBEEREHEETEESS  UEMARNES
are conveyed to the Board for enhancing an objective and effective =~ MHEMIE EELEBEHFMWRIEREES
decision making. The governance framework and mechanisms are TEHBEERERRES  UBERERY - #H
under regular review by the Board, through its R&N Committee, to BRIEZEZEESHR-Z-NENAMZEES
ensure their effectiveness. The R&N Committee had performed the  #E{TLL T #ET :

review of such mechanisms in June 2024 as follows:

Key Features or Mechanisms Implementation and Review of Effectiveness

EEISE S HE AT R ALK

Number of Independent Non-executive Directors Five out of the eleven directors are INEDs which is near to half
(INEDs) of the total Board members and also exceeds the Listing Rules
BAFHITESAY requirement for INEDs to make up at least one third of the Board.

+-2EEPETERBUFNTES BEESERBARY
—% HEBLHRNREB I RN TESEESEARRL=
BZ—WER

Nearly half of the Board members are INEDs which ensure that
independent views could be heard and be thoroughly considered
during the Board meetings and decision making by the Board.
TXHEEENERBUIHNITESE BREESSEERES
BREABRPHEAERR TS ZEBELER

Chairpersons of major Board Committees are INEDs.

TEESZERIFEYRBIFYTES -

The R&N Committee to assess and The R&N Committee assesses the independence of a candidate for

confirm independence of INEDs a new INED appointment and also the continued independence

FMRREEZEESTER of existing INEDs on an annual basis. All INEDs are required to

BRBUFHTESNE LM confirm in writing upon appointment and annually their compliance
of independence requirements as set out under Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

FHRREZESTEHEBLFATESREANE LML - K
REFFEREBELHANTESNFEB LM - BB L IFANT
EFAREZAASFEARIABT L mRAEIIMRAH
BB ERE o

Through the review by the R&N Committee and the self-
declaration of each INED, the Board could ensure the
independence of each INED.
BRFHRREZEEENERREBUKIHTESNERES
EZERRASBYUATESNBE LM -

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. #Eftt B EFREEE B R A A
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Key Features or Mechanisms Implementation and Review of Effectiveness

EESRS T BT RS AR R

Time commitment of INEDs The R&N Committee reviews annually the time commitment of

BIFEAITESAMRARNERS each Directors, including INEDs. All Directors (including INEDs)
would confirm in writing their time commitment to the Company
annually.

PR REEE ST ENENES (BEBYIIATES)F
RANERE 2RES (BEBIUFHTES) SFYSUER
EARIHEEARRARANHNER -

The R&N Committee would review and confirm that INEDs
allocate sufficient time to the Company to perform their duties
and responsibilities effectively. Directors’ attendance records for
meetings in FY2023/2024 are also disclosed in the Corporate
Governance Report.

FHRIREEES K ERILER ﬁiéF%ﬁL"E%E“EEE?@H?F?
FAARMUEBNBTEBREREFT -EEN_T_= =T
REFENSRERTHETIREEERBEPEE -

Long Serving INEDs (with tenure for more than In respect of the re-election of an INED who has served on
nine years) the Board for more than nine years, the Board and the R&N
HEZENBEIHFITES (FHBBAE) Committee would take account of additional factors and reasons

to justify why they consider the long serving directors are still
independent so as to ensure independent views and comments are
sought from long serving INEDs.

REEARESSANFNBUKATESNS  ESSHHTMH
RREZZESKZERTHIEAZREHBEEEBZENESNA
By MBERUTETSFNBELHATESNEUARZIRYGA

B o
Director Nomination Policy The Policy sets out the selection and nomination criteria and
EERAEEK procedures for appointment/re-appointment of Directors.

Independence is one of the factors to be considered for
appointment/re-appointment of Directors, in particular for INED.
PHERBEER S ENEAEENEERRERZEUREF - B
THREEZR EFZAES (RHERBUFHTES)NE
Ez—-

The R&N Committee would take account of the independence
factors in accordance with the Policy before making
recommendations to the Board for approval of the appointment/
re-appointment of INED.
FHRIREEE SN ESERMAERE EFNEEB LIS
TEESNERA BREZBREEBLIMERERE -
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Key Features or Mechanisms

EREBREHH

Implementation and Review of Effectiveness

AT RBET R

Directors Conflict of Interest Policy

ESNHEBFREE

Open Board Culture
FEBENESE XL

No equity-based remuneration with
performance-related elements to INEDs
BYFHTESARER THERBENEE
IR ERM S

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. #Eftt B EFREEE B R A A

The Company has policy and procedures in place to avoid any
potential conflict of interests and not to weaken the objectivity
and integrity of the Board for decisions making. Under the
Policy, any Director has to declare his/her directorships outside
the Company, interests in controlling company, public office
appointment and any other interests that might be considered
prejudicial to his/her independence and has to declare his/her
interests in any transaction in which he/she may have interest and
abstain from voting on such transaction.
ARFEHERERBEFURBZEMBEENRER  BEFSHISH
EEFRRNETEERBGH - REBZBER > A —NESHXA
RERRABUNMESRHE RERATFHESR - DBE
WRAMEMAUEERAEREB IMENFG  WEARBRERT
EEENENEAXZTHNRERZ  ITHRZRIBAERE -

INEDs in family businesses will generally play a more active role in
corporate governance area. Our Board culture under the leadership
of Executive Chairman, encourages questions and challenges from
directors in particular from INEDs who may hold different views
from the Executive Directors and Senior Management and their
comments and concerns will be closely followed up and addressed
by the Executive Directors and Senior Management.
RRCETNBYFBITEES-—RENCEERFTEREES
BBWER EHTEEEET  BANESTSULEBES (L
HEBVIITES) REMERERS  REUREPGTEER
SEEBAEREAAEY  MATESERSEEEAEEREY
IRERBHESHNERREE -

Director fees payable to Director, including INEDs, are fixed fees
without any discretionary element nor they are remunerated with
equity-based awards. Directors Fees are also determined by the
R&N Committee and the Board with reference to the roles and
responsibilities taken up by the Director and benchmarking against
peers.

EREE (BREBYFITES)NESHSLETHE  ©UE
FAMERZ M TREEURELAEENER EEWe
THFMEREREEESHETESREETMAENACGRKRRBE
URITHEEMETE °
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Key Features or Mechanisms Implementation and Review of Effectiveness

FESRSHE AT RS AR

Access to independent professional advice External independent professional advice is available to all

ESBUEEER Directors, including INEDs, whenever deemed necessary.
NEFRE FEES (BEBYFPITES) HUBSINESE L
HXER o

With prior consultation with the Chairman of the Board, Directors
would be reimbursed for any professional fees in relation to their
fulfilment of the roles and responsibilities.
HELHEZETREFEAR ESUREREABTRERSEESE
BN AEEER -

Evaluation of Director’s independence All Directors are encouraged to express freely their views and
mechanism constructive challenges during the Board/Board Committees
FFEEER B S meetings.
BMBEMEEESLESS ESZE588R LEHREHRE
RREERME2ESE -

Regular board evaluation is conducted by external professional
consultant or the Company Secretary alternatively on a
confidential basis, which will help assess the effectiveness of the
independence mechanism by identifying any potential vulnerable
weaknesses for further improvement.

HABEXERS AR UERBETHNERESSTERFH
BB IR - BB BE R R 2 R EE— S E -

The Board, through its R&N Committee, had reviewed and EESCEBEFMRIEZRZESHNERS
considered that the abovesaid key features or mechanisms are LT EHEHEH T ERNERESSTIEE
effective in ensuring that independent views are conveyedto M ER - EBEE TR EE2EBEIEHNTESY
the Board. The Board also considered that all INEDs meet the & EHRAIEIIIKMENBE LSS -
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance EERITHAEESTRE

The Company has arranged Directors’ and Officers’ Liability ZAATEALRATEERTHAERE-Z
Insurance for the Directors and Officers of the Company forthe Z—=f+A—BZ=—ZE-_MH&HLA=1+HLH
period from 1st October 2023 to 30th September 2024. BMESERITBRAEBERERE -
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Changes in Major Appointments and Other FEZREREMESREI 2 &5
Directorships
Changes in Directors’ Information during the year ended 31st March REZ-Z-_NE=ZA=+—-HLEFEEREZE
2024 and up to the date of this Annual Report are set out below: AERAMECEESEREBHIMT ¢

Changes in Major Appointments and Other Directorships

FREIREMESHE ZLE)

Mr. Anthony John Liddell NIGHTINGALE

REELE

- ceased to be director of Jardine Matheson Holdings Limited, Dairy Farm International Holdings Limited and
Hongkong Land Holdings Limited on 31st January 2024.
REZZE-NF—A=+—HBERNEZERERAT  FHBEKRERERAFREMERER AT ZES -

- appointed as a director of Matheson & Co., Limited on 1st January 2024.
MR- NF — B — B ¥ Z £ A Matheson & Co., Limited 2 £ o

Mr. Paul Jeremy BROUGH
Paul Jeremy BROUGH %4
- ceased to be director of Toshiba Corporation on 22nd December 2023.

REBZ=ZHF+ZA-t+tHRIKASHRZZES -

Dr. Roy Chi-ping CHUNG
EFEL

- awarded an Honorary Doctor of Business Administration by the City University of Hong Kong on 6th October
2023.
R-E-=F+ARAEREYTABERELEIFEEFH L -

- awarded a Doctor of Business Administration honoris causa by the Hong Kong Metropolitan University on 12th
December 2023.
R-BE-=F+ A+ HEEBNSAEEREEIHEEBL -

- ceased to be director of Techtronic Industries Company Limited on 10th May 2024.
R-E-_MERATHREANEBEEEARATZES -

Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO

EERELE

- ceased to be the chief executive officer of Café de Coral Holdings Limited on 1st April 2024.
REZBE-MFENA-HREARLEBERARZEEHITE ©

Ms. May LO

BEHXZt:

- appointed as the Deputy Chairman of the Board of the Company on 21st November 2023.
RZBZ=ZH+-B=+ - HEZERALRNESSZEEE -

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. #Eftt B EFREEE B R A A
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ERERME

Executive Chairman and Group Chief Executive HITEEREETHAR

Officer

The roles and responsibilities of Executive Chairman and Group H{TEEREBTHARz2ACGKRBECERE
Chief Executive Officer are clearly defined and separate witha HRERESD  REEREVHFERERE HBRHAE
very few overlapping of roles and responsibilities in the areas of M EMNENEE  URRELCEERTE
promoting sustainable development, ensuring effective stakeholder @FEERBEZFHzACRBELINESE -
communication, and promoting corporate culture and uphold of

integrity and honesty.

Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO
ERERE

Executive Chairman

BTER

Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI
BEESEE

Group Chief Executive Officer
SETHRAR

- provides leadership to the Board

BEEES

- ensures compliance with good corporate governance practices and procedures

BRETRECEERERARER

- sets strategic directions for the Group

RAEE B E R T )

- monitors Board effectiveness

ERESTEHN

- promotes a culture of openness and active contribution amongst directors

REEEH AR R ERSHE

- provides continuous guidance and mentoring to the Deputy Chairman and

Group CEO
BEEEWIEAREREREETHRASWIEEM

promote social responsibility goals and long term sustainability development
ESHEEREERRENFENERE

ensure effective stakeholder communication

BREFOENERER

promote corporate culture of accountability, integrity and honesty

REEBEY - EERBE2REL

- formulates the Group's strategic plans under the strategic directions of

the Executive Chairman

REFTER 2KEUEEE S QG EARKE 2 KEE

- implements the strategies and policies approved by the Board

EREEEMEIRBRBE

- leads day to day management of the Group

RAEAEEREEE

- promotes and develops the business and interests of the Group

RERBRASEXERFH

- provides monthly management updates to the Board

BANESERXEM2EEBRS
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CEEARE

Board Proceedings

The Board met five times in FY2023/2024 to discuss and approve
the Group’s long term strategic plan; to review and monitor the
financial and business performance of the Group and each of
its operating units; to consider and approve annual budget, the
financial reports; to review and approve sustainability report and
various corporate governance and sustainability related policies
and practices; and to monitor and review the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management performance.

The Board and its Committees are supplied with full and timely
information in relation to the Company, which enables them to
discharge their responsibilities. There are established procedures
for Directors to seek independent professional advice for them to
discharge their duties and responsibilities, where appropriate, at the
Company'’s expenses.

Directors have made active participation in the Board meetings,
Board Committees meetings and the Annual General Meeting
during the year. Below is the schedule of meetings held during
FY2023/2024:

EEEER

EEGR B == B -NHBRFENEH
AREH BENRRILESEE S RNRK
R BRRERAEERSEEEN MY
REBRR  EEREMFERERPBRE
BEHRMATHARBRRERECEEART
SEBRBRAMSERRERER YERRE
BAEBARERREAZ AN -

EXeRHZESSYERESAQARMAEHEE
EX UETRE AR CARERFHE
ESHEENBRT  RETHBEREEM
FBHABVEXER  BRBEARQNAX -

FR EFYRBLHEESSER EFEZEE
EERRRRAFRE - UTR=Z==/
—ECNMBFERTHNEREER

2023
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec
A aA <A +A NA hA +A +—H +=A8
BM BM ESG BM BM BM
RN AGM AC RN RN
AC AC AC
e Board Meeting e ESG Committee Meeting
ExagE R -HERERZESER
RN Remuneration and Nomination Committee Meeting AGM Annual General Meeting
FHRIREEEEEE RRBFRE
AC Audit Committee Meeting
EREEEEE
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TEERBRSE

Attendance records of the Directors at the Board Meetings, RIZZZ= "S- NHHRFE FEENE
Remuneration and Nomination Committee Meetings, Audit Z=22% FHRERZESSE BHRZEE
Committee Meetings, ESG Committee Meeting and Annual General EE€&% BE HENERZETEERRE

Meeting during FY2023/2024 are as follows: BEAREsEHFBRERINOT :
Meetings Attended/Held
HERY,/ FERY
Remuneration
and
Nomination ESG Annual Overall
Committee Audit Committee General Attendance
Board HH R Committee  JRIE - #HER Meeting Rate
Name #e EZE® REZEE® BRZEE EhRZEE RREFAE  BRUEER
Independent Non-executive Directors B EHTES
Dr. the Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI ZEEET 5/5 3/30 4/4 o %/)%\ 171 100%
JanP.S.ERLUND N/A 0
Mr. JanP. S. ERLUND i 5/5 3/3 4/4 TEE 11 100%
Mr. Anthony John Liddell e o
NIGHTINGALE REELE 5/5 3/3 4/4 11 171 100%
M. Paul Jeremy BROUGH Pa”!%eiremy 208 55 33 4/40 T\%/é 11 100%
- N/A N/A
5 ¥ (&) x s %
Dr. Roy Chi-ping CHUNG EEYEL 4/5¢ 3/3 R T 1n 89%
Non-executive Directors FHTES
. - N/A N/A
d % N g %
Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO BRRZL 5/5 3/3 R R 171 100%
. - N/A N/A 9
Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO BERLE 5/5 3/3 R R 171 100%
Ms. May LO BHELL i
vy Ghaiman) (FZE) 5/5 3/3 3/3 1”1 11 100%
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO ErEts " 0 0 o .
(Executive Chairman) (BH172) e 4 by 1" 7 0t
Mr. Roberto GUIDETT] EEERE 5/5 3/3 440 111 1/1 100%
N/A N/A
4 . . 9
Mr. Eugene LYE Rl k4 5/5 REf R 11 171 100%

Average Attendance of the Board Members

ESERATIHRER

Group Chief Financial Officer EEERRREE
Ms. lan-hong NG EEIHE 5/50 WNE/}%\ 414 T\%/é 119 T\%/ﬁ/;
Group Senior Director, Internal Audit BRI Bt KA
and Risk Management BEBSREE
Mr. Terence Chiu-kit CHOW ElfsE . e 414 _ - .
ETiE
Group Director, Sustainability Eijﬁ”ﬁﬁﬁ
Mr Simeon Sing-hymn CHENG ~ #§B 344 110 . L /19 e .
External Auditors SR
EEAST N/A N/A 0 N/A 0 N/A
KPMG i TR FER i TR . TR
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TEERRS
Notes
(a) Chairman of the Board
(b) Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee
(c) Chairman of the Audit Committee

(d) Chairman of the ESG Committee
(e) Chairman of the Annual General Meeting
(f) Attendance by invitation

(g) Was unable to attend one of the Board meetings due to ad hoc
commitment

The Company acknowledges General Meeting is one of the important
forums to engage our shareholders. In the 2023 Annual General
Meeting, all Directors, including Executive Chairman, the Chairman
of the Board Committees and the External Auditors attended the
meeting physically and answered shareholders’ questions.

During the year under review, the Executive Chairman communicated
with the Independent Non-executive Directors on various occasions
without the presence of other Directors and Senior Management.

Board Committees

The Board has established a Remuneration and Nomination
Committee (R&N Committee), an Audit Committee, an
Environmental, Social and Governance Committee (ESG Committee)
and an Executive Committee with specific terms of reference.

Terms of reference of these Committees have been published on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and/or the Company. All the
Committees are provided with sufficient resources, including the
advice of independent professional firms, if necessary, to fulfill their
roles and responsibilities.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

() HEHEEXRE

(b) HHWRERZESEZR

(00 BREEEIR

d BRRE -HERELRZEESIRE

(e) RBRREBFAREXRE

(fl EBHE
(e HEBEBMAEHEAT-—XESETER
ARRARPRRASRERRBEBNERRE

Z— RIZBZ=ZFRRAFAG 2RE=S
BREHTEIRE BRESZETIFERIMEEE
R ER S HERE W EERRRER -

REBEFE JTIFRBEHMEERSEE
BABTHESZBERT  RAESETRBY

FUTESETEE -

EER8T
ESERTCAIFHRREEZEE BLE
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SEBEZBAERE -
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A S 3
TEERRE

Remuneration and Nomination Committee HEMRZIERZEE T

Y Dr. the Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI '\
FEES

Chairman
£
(Independent Non-executive Director)
(BYHHITESE)
[ J [ J [ J ([ J ([ J [ J

Mr. Peter : Mr. Anthony Mr.JanP.S. i Mr.Paul Jeremy : Dr.Roy Chi-ping i Ms.Yvonne : Ms.MayLO
Tak-shing LO . John Liddell ERLUND : BROUGH : CHUNG : Mo-lingLO BHXLZ L

EER%E  © NIGHTINGALE b : b o EEFELE 0 BRRrLE

D RERES%E : : 3
(Non-executive (Independent (Independent (Independent (Independent (Non-executive (Non-executive
Director) : Non-executive Non-executive : Non-executive .  Non-executive Director) Director)

(FH77EE) E Director) : Director) E Director) E Director) E (FEHTESE) E (FEHHTESE)

- L (BUHHGTEE) [ (BUHHTES) | (BUHHTES) -

L (BUHBITEE)

Major responsibilities

FERE

to consider and approve the remuneration packages of Executive Directors
and Senior Management of the Group, including salaries, benefits in kind and
bonuses; bonus schemes and other long-term incentive schemes, including
share option, share award and other benefit plans;

EREAREHTEERSBEEBAEZHFHNEANGY  BFEFHE  EVFE
RIEAL; RALGHEIR EM R MBS SEBRE - RORBREMEFFTE

to recommend to the Board the remuneration of Non-executive Directors;

MESSERFATESZFH

to review the design of all employee share schemes and to administer all
aspects of the share schemes in accordance with the applicable rules and
requirements;

BAMEREROFENRAABRBEARURZREERBRDEE

to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including the skills,
knowledge, experience, gender and age) of the Board;

BENEEE2RE  RE Al RKEZ L ETBEERKEE A& 85 -
MRARFREFANSZ T

to review the effectiveness of Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination
Policy;
BRNBEEEHEZTILERRESRABE ZBA ;
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TEERBRSE
Major responsibilities ° to assess the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors and to
(continued) review the annual confirmation on their independence;
TEBRE (&) ERBYFHTES 2B UMRERNEBYI M ZFERR

° to review Director’s time commitment;

BRESMANENER

° to identify and determine the measurable objectives for achieving board
diversity and monitor any progress made in achieving such measurable
objectives;

NEREEERESENES T2t e E ERERERZENFERE
ZEE;

° to recommend to the Board on appointment or re-appointment of and
succession planning for Directors and Group Chief Executive Officer;

REEREETHRARCZARERRETHBANESTREES

° to review and assess the adequacy and appropriateness of corporate culture
statement; and

BARFEEECBARTEHNRE ' R

° to review the effectiveness and alignment of corporate culture with the
corporate governance compliance functions.

REPEXCZRUREETCBOLEREABERT —H -

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7
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TEERRE
Work done during and for ° reviewed, discussed and approved the remuneration package of Senior
FY2023/2024 Management including the Executive Directors and Senior Management of the
REARB-F=-=_"%F Group by reference to the individuals’ job responsibilities and performances,
A BEEREZIE industry benchmarks and prevailing market conditions;

BE - AREAESEEEAS (BRAKEYTESRSEEEAR) 2
RS EFESZRBALTZBERRR BAEAFRBETHERE

° reviewed and approved the discretionary bonuses and the grant of share
options and share awards, having given due consideration to both the Group'’s
financial performance and the individuals’ performances during the year in
accordance with the performance-based compensation policy recommended by
an independent consultant;

BEBYEBES UERRABEZFMBEEX  ExoZRAKE UM HE
BEREBATFRAZAARRE  RERMEBHBBRAURREBERE

RIRGEE ;

. reviewed and recommended to the Board and Shareholders for the
amendments to the 2022 Share Option Scheme and the 2021 Share Award
Scheme;

B EREE SRR S FEREA IR - —FROED
&
° reviewed and/or approved matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17

of the Listing Rules;
BRI EEELTRASETEtEETROFEZEBEEE

° reviewed and recommended to the Board for approval the re-appointment of
Directors at the 2023 Annual General Meeting;
ERRERESEN S ZFRREFASLMEEET 2 ERE;

° reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity, including the skills,
knowledge, professional qualification, experience, gender and age of the Board;
ERESECERE RE AREZRt BEEEHEEZTREEE - AE -
BEERK - KR MIRFRE

° reviewed and recommended to the Board for the appointment of Non-
executive Deputy Chairman;
ERRERESSZEFPTEERE

° reviewed the Board Succession Plan and its Road Map;

ERNESSHIABRERREQE
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A S 3
TEERRE

Work done during and for ° reviewed the measurable objectives for Board diversity;
FY2023/2024 (continued) EHNESENEZ WA ERR

REARKR-B=-= %
MM B ERR{E 2 T ()

° reviewed Director’s time commitment to perform his/her duties;

ERNESETAREMTHNER

° assessed and confirmed the independence of all Independent Non-executive
Directors;

AMEY BB UFATEST 2B

° made recommendation to the Board for Directors’ Fees for FY2023/2024; and
MESEEZ_T_= "T_NHREEZESEHES K

° reviewed various Corporate Governance related policies and mechanisms in
compliance with the CG Code and Listing Rules requirements.

BRZBCEECEEBRREHEENEEXERTAR ETRAZHRE -

The R&N Committee held three meetings during FY2023/2024. HMRIEZKZESER-ZE== /T -WHHK
Each member’s attendance record during the year is shown inthe FERZBIT=ZXAEZ ZERERFAHESE
previous section headed “Board Proceedings”. 2RI EBRA - ESEREF] -
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TEERBRSE

Audit Committee

Dr. the Hon. Sir
David Kwok-po LI
FEESHT

(Independent
Non-executive
Director)

(B HTESE)

BEREEE
Mr. Paul Jeremy BROUGH
&

Chairman
£
(Independent Non-executive Director)
(B HHITESE)
[ J [ J
Mr. Jan P.S. ERLUND Mr. Anthony John Liddell
KX : NIGHTINGALE
: REELE
(Independent (Independent
Non-executive Non-executive
Director) : Director)

(BUH#HTES) - (BT #HTES)

Major responsibilities

FERE

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the External Auditors and their audit fees;
MIEZBA2ET EFZEEIRER URBEZRBMHEESETEME
EERMEEER

to meet with the External Auditors to discuss the nature and scope of the audit;

BENERBAAESNRER T2 MEREER

to review the interim financial report and annual financial statements before
they are submitted to the Board;
ERXTFESEH BHPHMERSERSFUHBHRR

to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim review and final
audit, and any other matters the External Auditors may wish to discuss, and
review the External Auditors’ management letter and management’s response;
NWmBERTPHEARFEERBREMZRACRERSHZRERR  REM
HM N BRI 2 B H - LA&%E&?I\H—;?FZ%{EWZ%*Z%;‘R%%EE SCREN
BEEZEE ;
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EELIRE

E /B A/
Major responsibilities ° to review the internal audit programs and to ensure co-ordination between the
(continued) Internal and External Auditors, assess the effectiveness of the Company’s risk
FERE (&) management and internal control systems which cover all material financial,

operational and compliance controls, and ensure that the internal audit function
is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Group;
BRI EZG EALERAIFSTED R IEZBENE 2 15 T EERA TR
EMEEANE EERCREZIENEREERANEZRF 2N
URERADETBEERAER2IERERAEEARFEE 2 ;

° to conduct an annual review of the adequacy of staffing of the financial
reporting functions;

HEBERBESFE2ETERRTEAETFER ;

° to review the whistleblowing policy and system for employees and those
who deal with the Company to raise concerns, in confidence about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters; and to
ensure proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent investigation
of those matters and for appropriate follow up action;
BENEBERLAREETEREERTHHBERSE  ABEZEHEMEERZT
RAEETARLBEIMERNZERBERRAS  UREBREEEREHZ
EEEFEATFBUCAERFEIEE 2 RETH |

° to review the effectiveness of the policy and system that promote and support
anti-corruption laws and regulations;

B REREBERE T ZERER ZHERASHRY ;

° to act as the key representative body for overseeing the Company'’s relations
with the External Auditors;
ERERRATENMNEZEMBERZEERRK

° to oversee and review the adequacy and effectiveness of relevant financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management procedures that
have been in place;

ERRRIRANARNE £ERSAERRAREERFRERABI
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TEERRE

Major responsibilities ° to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
(continued) governance and making recommendations to the Board;
TEBRE (&) FIERBNADBAZEEERHERER TOESSREER

° to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of

Directors and Senior Management;

BENREREERSEEBEABZEIIRGESERR

° to review and monitor the Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements;

BAREERANDEEFEEREERTFTEACHRRER

o to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
applicable to Directors and employees; and

HE BAREZEANRESRESZTATAREAFM R

° to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

BEAATYLREATUZARERILRA L EERRERFIE2ZHE -

Work done during and for o reviewed the FY2023/2024 preliminary interim results announcement; interim
FY2023/2024 financial report; preliminary annual results announcement and annual financial
REARBE-T=-= "% statements with management and External Auditors, and recommended their
B BEEREZIE adoption by the Board;

HEEERMNEZEMEN = —E_NMHREEZNSHHREELS

THPBRE DT FEXERAEUARZFUBERR  TEBFESS TURM

° reviewed with the Internal Auditor the Company’s internal control systems and
the periodic audit reports prepared by the Internal Auditor and approved the
FY2023/2024 and FY2024/2025 audit plans;
HEABETASNAATZABERRAREFHABET M ERAER 2 ET
BeE UHA—T-= "ZT_NHBRFER_Z-N —ZT_AVHEE
ZERFE;
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TEERBRSE

Work done during and for ° reviewed the Group Risk Report prepared by the Internal Auditor;
FY2023/2024 (continued) EFHABETAER 2 EERRKRS
REARKR-B=-= %
— BB E P ME 2 T4F (48)
° met with the External Auditors to discuss the nature and scope of the audit and

reporting obligations prior to the commencement of the audit work;
REZTEBBRA  BAMEZHMBEESTRERIE2HERSEBEURER
B

° reviewed and considered the terms of engagement of the External Auditors;

EHRZEIINEZBEN 2 RIS

° reviewed and approved/pre-approved the audit and non-audit services
provided by the External Auditors, together with their respective fees;

EHAHE FTAEHENERBMRECERRFERRBEREETAKE ;

° reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the staff
of the Group’s accounting, financial reporting, risk management and internal
audit functions, and their training programs and budget; effectiveness of the
Group’s internal audit function and compliance with the CG Code;
%BQZK%WE“%% BEER EREERADEADEDBMIAIEZER
ETERRERESREN  UREZIREREERE  ~"EBRIMEFREE
2R R EE e/n—rEUA%EZT%L% ;

° reviewed the training and continuous professional development of Directors
and Senior Management;

EHNESRSEEEASZRIIREGEERRRE |

° reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

ERARAEEEREERESR2BHRRER
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A S 3
TEERRE

Work done during and for ° reviewed the code of conduct and compliance manual applicable to Directors
FY2023/2024 (continued) and employees;
REARKR-B=-= % EHNEARESEREEZTATAIRERFM

MM B ERR{E 2 T ()

° reviewed the status of compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the

Corporate Governance Report;

EREXERTFAUCERBERLNEEERREANTEIKE ;

° held private session with External Auditors in the absence of Executive
Directors and Senior Management;

EHTESRSEEBAETES2ERTEREMERHMEH

° reviewed and approved the amendments to the “Policy on Provision of Non-
assurance Services by External Auditor”;

ERRAEI BRI BN R M I ET MBI BER ] 2B

° reviewed and approved the amendments to the “Terms of Reference of the

Audit Committee”; and

ERRMEEREEGCHBEEE 2B ' R

° reviewed various Corporate Governance related policies and systems in
compliance with the CG Code and Listing Rules requirements.
BRZBCEEREEBRRERAGEAORECEEATRARETRAZRE

The Board has approved a Whistleblowing Policy in March 2012
which has been revised in March 2022. The main objective of the
Policy is to provide employees and external parties an open and
unified reporting channel and procedures to report any serious
misconduct or malpractice involving the Company and its employees
even on an anonymous basis. The Audit Committee has been
delegated with the overall responsibility for monitoring and reviewing
the implementation and effectiveness of the Whistleblowing Policy.

RIE——F=F EEE2CUEFRMKBVKEK
ROUWRZEBEZ_—_F=AFEHBIT BXz=x
EEERAEERIBALESR—EIARELE
—ZEBRRELEF EZEMEIEREM
BREAQNFAREEECZBELAERFTRTA
ERZEEED KA EERRBFTEBH
KB RAK -
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The Company has adopted a Group Business Ethics Policy in March
2020 to establish the general principles of business ethical standards
that all employees of the Company are expected to follow in daily
operation. Every employee is required to undertake to adhere
to this policy which includes provisions dealing with conflict of
interests, protection and proper use of company assets, bribery
and corruption, dishonesty and fraudulent act as well as reporting
procedures for potential illegality and misconduct. The Company
applies zero tolerance to any violation of this policy and shall not
tolerate any illegal or unethical acts. The Audit Committee has the
overall responsibility for reviewing the internal control system of
anti-corruption.

During the year, no incident involving serious fraud or misconduct
have been received from employees nor external parties which had
or would have a material impact on the Company’s financial position
and overall operations. No significant area of concern is noted on the
implementation and effectiveness of the Whistleblowing Policy and
Group Business Ethics Policy.

The Board has adopted a Corporate Governance Policy in August
2012 which has been updated in March 2024. The main objective
of the Policy is to provide a basic framework for developing the
Company'’s policies and practices to ensure alignment of interests
and expectations from our shareholders, the investing public and
other stakeholders. The Corporate Governance Policy has been
published on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee reviews regularly the corporate governance
structure and practices within the Company and monitors compliance
fulfillment on an ongoing basis.

The Audit Committee met four times in FY2023/2024. Each
member’s attendance record during the year is shown in the previous
section headed “Board Proceedings”.
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TEERRE
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) HEREREERE
Committee
¥ Mr. Anthony John Liddell NIGHTINGALE W%
REREKLE
Chairman
£33
(Independent Non-executive Director)
(BUHHITESE)
([ J [ ] ([ J [ J
Mr. Roberto Mr. Winston Ms. May LO Mr. Eugene LYE
GUIDETTI Yau-lai LO : EHXLL : B LkE
PEEISEE ERERE 5 5
(Executive Director and (Executive Chairman) (Non-executive Director) (Executive Director)
Group Chief Executive Officer)

(BT EEEEE
TTEARE)

(BITZEE) (FBITESE) (BTEE)

Major responsibilities

FEME

to provide guidance and report to the Board on Group-level sustainability goals,
strategies and priorities;

BREEEAHERRER KRRELEESHRAEETIRMEERER

to review international trends in ESG-related legislation and regulation
developments, including public debates as regards social, environmental and
ethical standards of corporate behaviour and recommend anticipatory measures
and plans for the Company;

EHRE HEREAMEBUEREIABRENERBE  BREALE - RE
RECETABEESENARER YRALNRERTARBRRETE

to advise the Board on environmental and social risks and opportunities of
material significance and provide anticipatory and mitigation plans;
MEBEAZREZECZRERMEEARIKENESSEFLERTIRHARRE
ﬁff-ﬁ-r_s“ ’

to review the Company’s sustainability performance against declared targets
under the Sustainability Framework;

RECBMAZITHERREREERVNA DA ZAFERRERR

to review material interests of the Company’s key stakeholders and provide
corresponding long-term strategic direction to the Company;

ERNARATEFOENERNR  YALXQAHEHEREHEK S @ ;
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ERERME

Major responsibilities
(continued)

FERE (F)

Work done during and for
FY2023/2024
REARKE=-F=-= "%
MBI REEMEZIE

to examine the relevance of sustainability indices and the desirability of
inclusion;

BRUHERRESEBMEURMAZEER 2B

to review and approve Group-level sustainability-related policies; and

EHRAEEEEEN T IFERRABEER S R

to review and approve the Company’s sustainability reports.

EHRAER DT IFEERRE

reviewed and approved the Group'’s FY2023/2024 Sustainability Report;
BRENRMERAEE-_Z-_= “Z-NHRFETHEERRS

provided strategic direction on climate change, identified the risks,
opportunities, and impacts associated with it, and drove the development of the
Company'’s decarbonisation efforts;

MREERHEEID AAEERR  BEREE  WHEBHARQTRRK
THENER;

reviewed key international landscape on sustainability frameworks and provided
direction on their adoption by the Company, including the sustainability
disclosure standard being developed by the ISSB (International Sustainability
Standards Board) and the Taskforce on Nature-related Financial Disclosures
(“TNFD”);

ERTHERREEANIEERERREHRRATRAMNES > EREE
ISSB(EIFR Al 5B A AR EE) U R HEB RERENEEET/HENE (TTNFDD)
Pl E 2 Al S i AR 2
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TEERRE

Work done during and for °
FY2023/2024 (continued)
REARKR-B=-= %

— BB E P ME 2 T4F (48)

examined key local and international sustainability-related policies and
regulations development, their implications to the Company, and provided
directions on corresponding actions for the Company, in particular, reviewed
and endorsed our first Modern Slavery Act Statement for our Australian
business in response to the Australian Modern Slavery Act;
ERNTEEMREFTHEZREEEARRRERZRUREHAAGZEE
WHARNBEFEEZBETERRESD > LEREHRMERMBIBEMES
BHEPNEACRRNBREERIER  UEECRNERIBSER)

° provided strategic direction on focus areas on the Company’s progress and
achievements in selected external ESG ratings; and
RARABERFENSRE HERERTRTEZERRRREEHEEIRE
HErRESm; &

° commenced a review of the set of potential external sustainability targets
under the Company’s Sustainability Framework for the next 5-year period to
FY2030/2031.

MR ERAQARAFERRERTAREFE-2=2 2= —WHEFE
Bz —RIBENBUFERRER

The Board-level ESG Committee continued to oversee our
sustainability topics, and to advise the Board on a range of strategy
ESG topics which present risks and opportunities for the Company.
The ESG Committee also provided strategic long-term guidance on
sustainability performance, goals and priorities. Please refer to our
FY2023/2024 Sustainability Report for more details of our efforts
on material ESG topics.

The ESG Committee held one meeting during FY2023/2024. The
other ESG Committee meeting for FY2023/2024 was moved
forward to hold in March 2023 because of scheduling conflict.
Accordingly, the objective in the Terms of Reference of ESG
Committee to meet twice a year by the ESG Committee members is
still met. Each member’s attendance record during the year is shown
in the previous section headed “Board Proceedings”.

EXERECRE HERERZESHERE
ERFANTFEBRRSZE IR —RIEERD
AMEEEREMZRBMERE HLERER
BENESEFHEZ -RE HERERZ
SEETRUKERRERER BERELARES
ERAXRHEERERESE - FEEAMAREXRR
B oHEgkEaBEcIFHE F2H=Z%
ZTE /RN REEUSERRRE

RE HERERZEEER-_Z2=-=/=-%
T BEFERETREE BRSEER
SEDZ/CENBREFEZE —BRE
HERERZEEERRIZE_T-=F=4
BT -Elt - RE HERELRZEESHES
ERERRE HEREARZEERESFER
MAERZEBRNBER - ERENRFAHE
ERZEBIENA - ESSRF] -
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Executive Committee HITEEE

Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO

Chairman
xE
(Executive Chairman)
(BITERE)
[ J [ J
Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI Ms. lan Hong NG
FEEEEE RENRZL
(Executive Director and (Group Chief Financial Officer)
Group Chief Executive Officer) (£E (3] 25 B RS 4G )
($17 EELEFTHABH) g
Major responsibilities ° to operate as a general management committee under the direct authority of
TERE the Board; and

NE-REEEESEF EERBESE R

° to consider and approve any contract, transaction and arrangement and
exercise of powers and functions as conferred by the Board in relation to day to
day management of the Company.

ZERERMERMEN XBRLHFURTHEHESTERALAABEETEMR
F 2N REBEE -
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Appointment, Re-Election and Removal of
Directors

The appointment of a new Director is made on the recommendation
by the R&N Committee of the Company or by shareholders in a
general meeting. Shareholders may propose a candidate for election
as Director in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company and the Director Nomination Policy. The nomination
procedures by shareholders have been published on the website
of the Company. Any Director who is appointed by the Board shall
retire at the next General Meeting.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association and Code
Provision B.2.2 of the CG Code, all Directors, including Non-
executive Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least
every three years and one-third (or the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) of Directors shall retire from office every year at
the Company’s Annual General Meeting.

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a Director Nomination Policy in March 2012
to set out the procedures and criteria for identifying and selecting
potential candidates for the appointment of new Director as well
as for considering the renewal of director appointment. The Board
has delegated to the R&N Committee the authority to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become board members and select or
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorship; assess the independence of independent
non-executive directors; and make recommendations to the Board to
the appointment or re-appointment of directors.

The Director Nomination Policy is intended to guide the R&N
Committee when recommending new director(s) and when deciding
whether to recommend that current Director(s) be re-elected.
The R&N Committee will carefully consider the qualifications,
skills, experience, independence, gender and age diversity, time
commitments and contributions of any currently sitting director
before making a re-election recommendation to the Company’s
shareholders. Any shareholder of the Company who is qualified to be
present and vote at the general meeting, may nominate one or more
persons for election as a director of the Company at any general
meeting if the shareholder complies with the director nomination
provisions, including without limitation the notice, information and
consent provisions under the Company’s Articles of Association or
the Listing Rules.

EEZET EERER

RRARANREARAFHREETZET 2ER
FEBRRASHRREZEHES - RRAR
BARARAERMANESRARRERREA
HEES -RERZERBFCEARRT ZHUH
LHH NESSRECEEYEARNT—RER
RAELEER-

REALDERMAI R EEERFAMEB22
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THIRZDZ-) ZESREARARREBF
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EERABER

EZECR T —FZARMNESREEX
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REBBERBAIESZEZRFRER - M
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MESSRHER -
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The R&N Committee reviews the Director Nomination Policy,
whenever appropriate, and recommend to the Board for approval
any amendments or updates to the Policy from time to time.

The Director Nomination Policy has been published on the
Company’s website.

Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

Induction programs are arranged for any newly appointed Directors
for provision of information which would assist him or her in
understanding his or her role as a Director as well as building an
understanding of the value of the Company, its business, products
and markets. On appointment, new Directors will also be given an
induction program kit outlining the responsibilities and duties as
Directors under various regulatory requirements. The induction kit
also contains the Board policies, including the Terms of Reference
of the Board Committees. Directors are provided with “A Guide on
Directors’ Duties” issued by the Companies Registry and “Guidelines
for Directors” issued by The Hong Kong Institute of Directors as
guidelines on the general principles of duties of directors and a “Code
of Conduct for Directors” to avoid conflicts of interest as far as
possible.

The Company also arranges continuous professional development
program to Directors at the expense of the Company. The Company
Secretary provides regularly to Directors information about the
enrollment of external training courses and seminars as well as legal
alerts and articles which are relevant for Directors to keep them
up-to-date on any legislative, regulatory and corporate governance
requirements and also professional practices in a dynamic business
world. The program would help refresh Directors’ knowledge and
skills in performing their roles, functions and duties of directors of a
listed company.

All Directors have provided to the Company Secretary their training
records for FY2023/2024 which have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee. The average training hours of the Directors during the
year was 75 hours.
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The following table summarizes topics of training program

participated by all Directors during FY2023/2024:

TRELZBESR-T-= “T-NHK
FESREIHBZEE

Areas
HE
Legal,
Director duties regulatory, Accounting,
Global Company and governance Innovation and governance finance, tax
business business ~ EEBER technology  %fl~ &R it 8-
Name na REEE  ADEER &R Rl R EiR W
Executive Chairman HTERE
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO BREXE v v v v v v
Independent Non-executive Directors BIEMTES
Dr. the Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI ZEEET v v v v v v
Mr. Jan P. S, ERLUND JanP. . ERLUND v v v v v v
%4
Mr. Anthony John Liddell
RE v v ve v v v
NIGHTINGALE RERjE
Paul Jeremy
Mr. Paul J BROUGH v v v v v v
Sty BROUGH %4
Dr. Roy Chi-ping CHUNG EEYEL v/ v/ v v/ v v/
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO BRRUL v/ v v v v v
Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO BERLE v/ v/ v/ v/ v v
Ms. May LO BHELT v/ v/ v v v v
Executive Directors HTESE
Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI EEELE v/ v/ v/ v/ v v
Mr. Eugene LYE Bl ks v v v v v v
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Directors’ Training Records

EE 2RI

Analysis of training attended by Directors in

FY2023/2024 by topic
BEER-EC-= /“TE_NGBREESMNZ

B3 — REEAH
7% 2%

E®» Company Business

8% x

12% 42%

29%

KATER

Global Business/Forum
BREK,wiE
Accounting/Finance/Tax
g5t MK B
Legal/Regulatory/Governance
BB EREA

Innovation and Technology

RIFTRHE

Director Duties and Governance

EERENESR

Analysis of training attended by Directors in

FY2023/2024 by type
EER=-Z==
Bl — mBR D

10%

16%
47%

27%

The Board also acknowledges the importance of continuous training
and development to Senior Management, which enables them to
boost their skills and knowledge to re-evaluate their roles with a
newly informed perspective and in this highly competitive consumer
product market. Senior Management is encouraged to participate
in various continuous professional development programs and
other training courses at the expense of the Company. The average
training hours of Senior Management during the year was 60 hours.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

®ES

—ECNMREES M2

Readings
FE

Plant/Market Visit
BE/ TiHEsE

In-house Training

R ER

External Courses/Seminars/
Workshops
SNERRE S TS

EXSTHAERBRUZEEERTS L
SERINBRESEEEABHEERE &
DRAEKER MG LAZHAEAR
EEHERAEESCRE AR ABBSEE
BAESHZREKESXURERER A MF
JRE BFBEARAXN SEEEAER
ANF R BF B 60 N o



Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRSE

it

Senior Management’s Training Records SEEEAS 2R

Analysis of training attended by Senior Management in
FY2023/2024 by topic
EEEBABR-EZ /“E_NHBFEESNZ
Bl — IREES
oy 2%
1 2 A E® Market/Business/Product/
Development

Wi EKKEmOBE

14% B» Company Business
379% AATFEH
(o]

Regulatory/Governance/
Substainability

ERER S TIRERE

Audit/Accounting/
Finance/Tax

= I Y

35%

Cyber Technology
R

Analysis of training attended by Senior Management in
FY2023/2024 by type
SEEEABR-E-Z “EB_NHBEESNZ
B — RER DM

25%

B External Courses/Seminars/
Workshops
SNERE ' TS

I® In-house Training

38% R ERIE A

Readings
B

37%
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Responsibilities of Directors

Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company. Directors are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company'’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The Annual Financial Statements for FY2023/2024 are
prepared on a going concern basis. All the new accounting standards
and policies adopted by the Company have been thoroughly
discussed and approved by the Audit Committee before adoption by
the Board.

The Group has adopted its own Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors (the “Own Code”) on terms no less exacting than
the required standards set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix
C3 of the Listing Rules. Specific enquiries were made of all Directors
and they have confirmed compliance with the required standard set
out in the Own Code for the year ended 31st March 2024. A similar
code has also been adopted by the Group for the specified group of
employees who may possess or have access to price sensitive/inside
information.

Confirmations have been received from all Directors that they have
provided sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company
during FY2023/2024. Directors have also disclosed to the Company
their interests as director and other office in other public companies
and organisation in a timely manner, and have regularly reported to
the Company Secretary on any subsequent changes.

Evaluation of the Board and the Executive
Chairman

The Board believes that the evaluation of the effectiveness of the
Board and its Executive Chairman is an essential requirement of
good corporate governance and has since FY2011/2012 adopted
the Recommended Best Practice under the CG Code of conducting
regular Board evaluation exercises.

The objective of the Board evaluation is to assist the Board in
identifying and addressing its strengths and weaknesses, and
highlighting the Board’s expectations for itself and areas for further
improvement. As part of this evaluation process, the Executive
Chairman is also subject to evaluation on whether he has adequately
and effectively performed his roles and fulfilled his responsibilities as
the Chairman of the Board. The Board is committed to reviewing its
own performance and effectiveness at a regular interval.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7
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A formal internal evaluation of the Board and the Executive
Chairman was conducted for FY2023/2024. During the evaluation
process, questionnaire with scoring was used for collecting scores as
well as opinions from all the Directors. The questionnaire included
28 statements for Board evaluation and 8 statements for Executive
Chairman evaluation. Completed evaluation forms were sent to the
Company Secretary on a confidential basis.

o) 2 Evaluation of the Board

Q EEEZIK

o Strategic direction, planning and oversight
REEFRM - REREEE

e Sustainability focus and drive
AFERREERED

e Board profile and composition
ESEfRRAER

e Board dynamics
Exgm

e Relationship with the management
BEEE 2R

e Board view on committees

EXEeHZEENEE

All Directors actively participated in the whole evaluation process.
Responses from the Board members were overall very positive.
Directors also identified certain areas for continuous enhancement.

R-ZBZZ/ZZ-_NHBEE  AQECEH
ESERITEFRETEXNRETM - REFMH
BREY FALARAESAESADNZRES
WEFIRBER  EFEEEAGESS 2
PRI 8IEFF (LN AT £ /F 2 Rt - IHZ 2 571
RIBURBRRNERTFRAMWE °

Personal attributes

BARE

Leadership

EE TR

Encouraging active participation
S AR

Relationship with Group CEO
BEEETHARNBR
Relationship with stakeholders
BRRHD & WBAR

Adherence to good CG practices
BIRFLEERER
Promotion of ESG

RERE  HERER
Succession planning

gaETTE

REFHRES REEFEBR - EFER
SHERNEFRER ESPRETRER
ERENHS -
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Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and has
been appointed by the Board. The Company Secretary is responsible
for facilitating the procedures/activities of the Board and the Board
Committees as well as good communication flow amongst the Board
members, shareholders and Senior Management.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject
to Board approval. The Company Secretary reports to both the
Executive Chairman and the Group Chief Executive Officer. The
Company Secretary is accountable to the Board for matters relating
to Directors’ duties, such as giving advice on corporate governance
developments and compliance and facilitating the professional
development programme and induction programme of Directors. All
members of the Board have access to the advice and service of the
Company Secretary.

During the year, the Company Secretary undertook over 15 hours
of external CPD training courses to keep abreast of latest regulatory
changes and corporate governance practices and to refresh her skills
and knowledge.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
The systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. To achieve this, the Board ensures that there is an effective
framework of risk governance and ongoing risk management process
to promote the long-term success of the Company.
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The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility on an ongoing
basis for ensuring that appropriate and effective risk management
and internal controls are maintained to provide reasonable assurance
against material misstatement of information. Main features of the
risk management and internal control systems are described in the
sections below:

Internal Control

The Company has had in place an internal control system, which is
developed based on the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO) components for internal controls,
to manage and mitigate rather than to eliminate business risks. The
key underlying components of effective internal control system are
illustrated as below:

ESE-HRZURRAEBBERERZER
ERERANEECEERE EMREHSER
FoUBRBEEN cERERRL - ARE
BERAMEERAG2EZRHHUT :

A &R B 1

KD FE R Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO)zmHMBEEZEIRAIFIERIPEEIZRAL - X
ERRBEMIERELRERE - BRZAEE
ERAGZTEZEMBERRRIIMOT ¢

. jvities
© Control Environment Control AE'CL it O
eeineszib BEiEE
mﬂ:: . Develop control activities
Set the tone at the : pnce to mitigate risks to the
regarding the importal K achievement of the
of internal control &ris objectives
management &2
> | ST EE PR IERE -
ﬁaﬁaﬁam:;a?%m Internal = PR
1= 7141 A
R Control System
3N BE e || B Independent reviews
|dentify, assess P B 12 el 2 S ofthe eﬁecﬁ"e“ess-o:(
and manage of risks g internal control &ris
R ﬁiﬁ%ﬂ”éﬂ@'m q,s management systems
i > @ & E'.::rt‘-ﬂ]
o™ YTy —’-géﬁq%ﬂm Be
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© Risk Assessment
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Assessing risks and reviewing the effectiveness of internal controls is
a continuing process in the Company. Our internal control system is
designed to give reasonable assurance that:

° Assets are prudently safeguarded;

° Business activities are conducted in an effective and efficient
manner;

° Financial reporting is accurate, timely and complete; and

° Laws and regulations relevant to the business are complied.

Under the Company’s internal control system, management is
charged with the responsibility to design and implement the internal
controls while the Board and the Audit Committee oversee the
effectiveness of the internal control system that has been put in
place.

Internal Audit

Group Internal Audit (a team under Group Internal Audit and Risk
Management Department) plays a critical role in monitoring the
internal governance of the Company.

The scope of services of the department is set out in the approved
Internal Audit Charter and includes:

° Unrestricted access to all the Company’s activities, personnel,
records, properties, and other information sources required to
carry out internal audits;

° Review the effectiveness of internal control over operational,
compliance and financial reporting as well as risk management
function; and

° Special reviews of areas of concern identified by management
or the Audit Committee.

Group Internal Audit, reporting to the Audit Committee, provides
independent assurance as to the existence and effectiveness of risk
management functions and controls in business operations.
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Risk Based Audit

Using risk assessment methodology and taking into account the
Company structure, management’s concern, nature and complexity
of operation, and operating environment, Group Internal Audit
prepares its annual audit plan which is reviewed and approved by
the Audit Committee. The risk assessment methodology assists
in identifying business risks and determining audit frequencies.
Based on the approved audit plan, Group Internal Audit schedules
its internal audit programs to conduct an independent review of
different financial, business and functional operations and activities
with resources focusing on areas with higher risk.

During the fiscal year of 2023/2024, Group Internal Audit issued
reports to Senior Management covering various operational and
financial units of the Company and its subsidiaries. Group Internal
Audit also conducted reviews of major projects and areas of concern
identified by management.

Ethics Policy and Whistleblowing System

The Company is committed to maintain high standards of business
ethics and corporate governance across all company’s activities and
operations. It is the responsibility of all directors and employees to
comply with these minimum requirement.

The Company has established Group Business Ethics Policy and Code
of Conduct, which outlines our commitment to integrity, and set
out business ethical standards that the directors and employees are
expected to follow. On top of that, the Code of Business Conduct
for Suppliers and Customers also set clear expectations on the
ethical conduct of our suppliers and customers, providing guidelines
on various aspects such as conflicts of interest, confidentiality, anti-
corruption and fraud. Group Internal Audit and Risk Management
Department also launched Vitasoy Global Integrity Portal where the
portal embedded with e-learning platform, policy and publication
library and online complaint channel, aims to enhance mutual
communication of Vitasoy's standards and expectation on ethics and
integrity with employees, key suppliers and distributors.

The Company has established a Whistleblowing Policy and system
for employees and other stakeholders to raise suspected misconduct,
malpractice, irregularities or concerns through a confidential
reporting channel. Procedures are in place for Group Internal Audit
to conduct independent investigation and follow up. Group Internal
Audit will report all the reporting received under the Whistleblowing
Policy and action taken in response to such reporting to the Audit
Committee on a regular basis.
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Risk Management

Risk management framework with effective governance structure
and management process are in place. Such framework enables the
Company to adopt a proactive and structured approach to identify
and manage risks across the Company with ongoing monitoring and
oversight.

oversight & &

e Enterprise Risk Management
Executive Committee
TERBREEHITEEY

e Entity CEOs
75 A RITIRAAR

e Group Risk Management
SEREREEE Anticipate

AR

3(\
=

Regulate

mIR
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Risk Governance Structure B ERERE

The risk governance structure consists of three layers of roles and EREARBEETI=ZAEEZ2ACRES
responsibilities as explained below:

Layer Roles and Responsibilities
=g HEE 7% % Bk B
Oversight Audit Committee, acting on behalf of the Board
EE ° Oversees the Company’s risk management and internal control on an ongoing
basis.
° Oversees those risks that warrant the Committee’s attention and supervise risk
management process as part of good corporate governance.
RRESEZEREEYE

. SEEEANAzEREERAIMEEE -
. EEZEEREIRCRSARYEERREERRF  URARIFEEES -

Group Internal Audit

° Conducts independent review on the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control system and provides reasonable assurance to Audit Committee.
EEREES
. HEAREERADEZRAZRRETELER  TOEXEERREHGE
REE ©
Risk Monitoring & Review Enterprise Risk Management Executive Committee & Entity CEOs
EMERERERN . Design, implement and monitor the risk management and internal control
system.
° Provide assurance to the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of risk

management and internal control system.
CEREBRERMTEEERMS QRTHRER
. Rt BRREEEMREERAIEZRL -
. MEZZESRHEARREERABEZRFE R B ZIRE °
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Layer Roles and Responsibilities
BmE A% R B
Group Risk Management, an independent team under Group Internal Audit and Risk
Management

° Supports the Board of Directors, Audit Committee and Enterprise Risk
Management Executive Committee.

° Develops and implements risk management frameworks, policies, tools and
methodologies with all subsidiaries.
° Monitors status of risk and communicate with the Executive Committee and

Audit Committee on an ongoing basis.
SERARERASEANNETRAREERMET 2B B
. XEEEE  ERZEERGXEAREEHITEES -
. HEMBARRLRMITREIMEEESRL BEX - TARFE-
. FEEREARBRR  YRPTEESRELKZESHERR -

Risk & Control Ownership Department Heads & Individual Employee
AR ZEHNEE o Ownership of managing risks, executing control activities and identifying new
risks in daily operation.
BHEERENET
. REELEEPSERRE  FTEETHREARFRER -

Risk Management Process B EEREF

Our risk management process is embedded in our daily operations, HKFfizEREEBREFCHNABELESHE &
financial activities, compliance, strategy development & business #&EE &1  FHRERFEEZKRE - RER
planning, investment decision and external factors. The processes ERIIAEE  BFWOT :

are as follows:

Anticipate: Potential risks and threats that are related to
different business processes and relevant to the Company’s
objectives will be anticipated and identified by all individual
staff. Risks are grouped into six clusters (including reputation,
strategy, market, liquidity, credit and operation) to facilitate
the assessment appropriately.

Rate: Each identified risk is evaluated on the basis of impact
and likelihood consistent with the risk appetite set by the
Board. The risk impact and likelihood will be rated according
to the historical records, statistical analyses and relevant
experiences, specialist and expert judgments by management.
Group Risk Management facilitates the evaluation process
including the summary discussion in the Enterprise Risk
Management Executive Committee and Audit Committee.
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Respond: A delegated management is assigned to each risk
as risk owner to fully respond on each risk. Risk management
strategies and corresponding control owners are identified by
risk owner to deploy appropriate control activities.

Regulate: We take a close monitoring on the current status of
risk, which is being monitored through key risk indicators with
defined thresholds, occurrence of related incidents, control
effectiveness and audit results. Any change in current status
of risk to a worsened level will trigger a react process through
creation of a mitigation plan.

React: When there is a change on the current status of risk,
the corresponding owner will coordinate mitigation plan with
action details, responsible person and timeline to address the
status.

Report: To support the oversight of the Board on the
effectiveness of Vitasoy’s risk management, risk reporting
requirement was approved by the Board of Directors under
risk management framework. Periodic risk report is provided
to the Enterprise Risk Management Executive Committee
summarizing the results of risk monitoring, mitigation
plans and the current risk management implementation
progress. Besides, since the launch of the Governance, Risk
and Compliance System (“GRC System”), Enterprise Risk
Management Executive Committee and risk owners are able
to obtain real-time risk status through the relevant system
dashboards.

Risk Management Activities

Upgraded risk management tools

The GRC system is one of the key tools to maintain an
effective management of risk. Specifically, it facilitates
the monitoring of risk status through key risk indicators,
the reporting of incidents and the annual risk assessment
processes. The GRC system has been upgraded to enhance
stability with more secure storage. Besides, the capacity
and extensibility of the system have been strengthened to
accommodate continuous innovation.

ZH: 2 EEARSENEEEEAS
BARBREEA UAREERER- &
b B E A B E Bk B R LR FE R B
BEEA BREEERES-

ER:ZMEVNEZARRR SRR
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BAREER  EERERBR -
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° Managing ESG risks with risk management framework

The effective management of ESG risks is a key focus of
Vitasoy risk management activities. Particularly, ESG risks have
been managed alongside with other relevant business and
operational risks under the risk management framework. With
the facilitation of the GRC system, timely and transparent
information will be provided for the status of ESG risks
continuously.

° Risk reviews for key purchases
In addition to the regular risk management process, Vitasoy
maintains the risk review process in making key purchasing
decisions. The review has ensured that critical purchasing risks
are adequately assessed and considered and hence improve
the quality of purchasing decisions.

° Risk management trainings
With the ever-changing business environment, Vitasoy
conducts risk management training for key associates to raise
risk awareness and improve preparedness to incidents and
crisis. These trainings are a core component in nurturing risk
management culture and encouraging risk-informed decisions
and operations.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Controls
Effectiveness

Group Internal Audit has conducted annual review of the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control system, including those of its operating companies. The
Audit Committee has reviewed the findings and impartial opinion
of Group Internal Audit on the effectiveness of the Company'’s risk
management and internal control system.

The Board, with confirmation from management, considered the risk
management and internal control system are effective and adequate
for the year ended 31st March 2024. No significant areas of concern
that might affect the financial, operational and compliance aspects
and risk management functions of the Company were identified.
The scope of this review also covered the adequacy of resources,
qualification and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting,
financial reporting and internal audit functions, as well as training
and relevant budget to them.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

J ZREMERERNEERE HER
EiRER
BEREERE HERERRREEMD
TREREEEDHNER -EEMHEREE
BEEREERR K RRE -HEK
EREBEIMARIRERERTETE
H-EBGRCEAR  BHARURKE
REBRE HEREBRABMRRT ZEHR -

o HERREETREER
MEEMNEREEREN i’ﬁ’@ﬁﬂﬁ’\%ﬁ
BEBZARBEDMNARMERAE
BRIBZHEBEREZITEREE
RAKBAREER -

° B EEEIN
HEmEBEE CEHRE - i’ﬁfﬁﬂﬂ)‘%f
EETHETRKBREERZILIESARKRE
Eﬁ&?&ﬁ@%ﬁ%ﬁ&&f‘%ﬂ@ﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬂ °
ZERIEREERREERXCNHEBE
Boi SN 175 SR 3R N 8 4B AR UL R EB 4D ©

WA E IR A BRI 2 AR

EERABEACHRAQAR (BFREELERA) A

MEBRAMBEZRGE ZRBCETEERT

EREZEECEHNEBRBESFHAQA AR

AIE&W*B??*%..JLEZ,«&ZEFJE s R TR M
DPRER -

KREBERID ESERAE - BHE-ZT-_@OHF
SA=E+-HBLFEZRBREERABEZR
SEENRRD  UEBRAEFERATZ
B EERGHREEURAREERECE
REDEEE - RAMT 2 BEBETRELR QTR
it MBBRERABEABESEZ2ER
ETERRRBRESEN URBEZEZIR
EERE -



Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRSE

Inside Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Company is aware of
the requirements under the applicable Listing Rules and Securities
and Futures Ordinance and the overriding principle that inside
information should be announced as soon as reasonably practicable
after such information comes to our attention unless it falls within
any of the safe harbours provisions under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance. The Company has had a system in place with established
policies and procedures for complying with the Inside Information
disclosure requirements under the regulatory regime. The Board
has adopted a Disclosure Compliance Policy on 27th November
2012 which has been further revised with a few housekeeping
amendments on 25th November 2021. The Policy has been
formulated by reference to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” issued by the Securities and Futures Commission.
The purpose of the Policy is to provide Directors and employees
with guidelines on assessing, reporting and disseminating inside
information, maintaining confidentiality and abiding shares dealing
restrictions. The Company has included in its code of conduct and
staff handbook a strict prohibition on the unauthorised disclosure or
use of confidential and inside information.

External Auditors

KPMG has been appointed as the External Auditors of the Company
by shareholders at the last Annual General Meeting. An amount of
HK$6.8 million (FY2022/2023: HK$6.7 million) was charged for
FY2023/2024 for statutory audits for the Company and subsidiaries.
The amount for the other audit-related services and other non-audit
services provided by KPMG for the Company and subsidiaries were
HK$0.3 million (FY2022/2023: HK$0.3 million) and HK$0.3 million
(FY2022/2023: HK$0.4 million) respectively. The non-audit services
mainly comprised tax advisory services.

The responsibilities of the External Auditors with respect to the
FY2023/2024 financial statements are set out in the section of
“Independent Auditor’s Report” in this Annual Report.
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Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted a Dividend Policy to provide guidance to
the Board and the management of the Company for distribution of
surplus funds to its shareholders.

In determining the level of dividend payment, the following criteria
and consideration must be taken:

- Sharing of success with shareholders

- Liquidity and capital requirement

- Historical trend of dividend payout

- Benchmarking with competitors within the industry
- Fulfilment of financial covenants

- Taxation impact

- Restrictions

- Other factors that may deem relevant

The Company intends to declare dividends to shareholders to align
with the fluctuation in profit attributable to shareholders net of one-
off event impact and may declare special dividends from time to time
in addition to interim or final dividends. The determination to pay
dividends and level of dividend to be distributed will be subject to
the discretion of the Board from time to time.

Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for Shareholders to convene General
Meeting

Pursuant to section 566 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies
Ordinance”), shareholders representing at least 5% of the total
voting rights of all the shareholders having a right to vote at general
meetings are entitled to send a request to the Company to convene
a general meeting. Such request must state the general nature of
the business to be dealt with at the meeting and may include the
text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to
be moved at the meeting. A request may be sent to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s registered office in hard copy form or in
electronic form to ir@vitasoy.com and must also be authenticated by
the person or persons making it.
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Procedures for Shareholders to request circulation of
statement at General Meeting

Pursuant to section 580 of the Companies Ordinance, shareholders
representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the
shareholders or at least 50 shareholders, who have a relevant
right to vote, can request the Company in writing to circulate to
the shareholders a statement of not more than 1,000 words with
respect to a matter mentioned in a proposed resolution to be dealt
with at that meeting or other business to be dealt with at that
meeting. A request may be sent to the Company Secretary at the
Company'’s registered office in hard copy form or in electronic form
to ir@vitasoy.com and must identify the statement to be circulated.
It must be authenticated by the person or persons making it and be
received by the Company at least 7 days before such meeting.

Procedures for proposing a Person for Election as a
Director at General Meeting

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, if a shareholder
wishes to propose a person other than a retiring Director for
election as a Director at a general meeting, the shareholder should
deposit a written notice of nomination which shall be given to the
Company within the 7-day period commencing the day after the
despatch of the notice of the meeting (or such other period as may
be determined and announced by the Directors from time to time)
and in no event ending no later than seven days prior to the date
appointed for such meeting. The procedures for shareholders to
propose a person for election as a Director have also been published
on the Company’s website.

Constitutional Document

At the Annual General Meeting held on 28th August 2023,
shareholders has approved the Company’s adoption of the Amended
and Restated Articles of Association (“Articles”) to (i) bring the
Articles in line with the current provisions of the Companies
Ordinance and Listing Rules, particularly the then Appendix 3 to the
Listing Rules concerning the core shareholder protection standards;
(ii) provide more flexibility to the Company in holding general
meetings as hybrid and virtual meetings in addition to physical
meetings; (iii) allow every document or instrument to which the
common seal is affixed shall be signed by two Directors or by one
Director and the secretary or by any two persons duly authorized by
the Board or a committee of the Board; (iv) modernise and update
the Articles; and (v) make other housekeeping amendments. A copy
of the latest consolidated version of the Articles has been published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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Communications With Shareholders and Investors

We believe accountability and transparency are indispensable for
ensuring good corporate governance and, in this regard, timely
communication with our shareholders is crucial.

The Board has adopted a formal Shareholders Communication
Policy to ensure that shareholders are provided with ready, equal
and timely access to the Company’s information. The Shareholders
Communication Policy has been updated on 22nd March 2022 and
posted on the Company’s website. We have established multiple
channels of communication to encourage effective participation by
the shareholders and also effective dialogue with shareholders under
the Shareholders Communication Policy. The Board reviewed the
Shareholders Communication Policy in June 2024 and considered
that the policy has been properly implemented and remains effective.
The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and enhancing
communication with the existing shareholders and potential
investors.

We maintain a corporate website (www.vitasoy.com) to keep our
shareholders and the investing public posted of our share price
information, latest business developments, final and interim results
announcements, financial reports, public announcements, corporate
governance policies and practices and other relevant shareholder
information.

The Company views its Annual General Meeting as one of the
important platforms to communicate with its shareholders. All
Directors make an effort to attend the Annual General Meeting.
At the 2023 Annual General Meeting, the Chairman of the Board
briefed shareholders the business review and the outlook of the
Group and answered questions raised by shareholders. The chairmen
of the R&N Committee, the Audit Committee and ESG Committee
were also present to answer questions raised by shareholders. The
Company’s External Auditors attended the 2023 Annual General
Meeting to address questions about the conduct of the audit, the
preparation and content of the auditors’ report, the accounting
policies and auditors’ independence.

Separate resolutions in respect of each substantial issue, including
the appointment and re-election of Directors were proposed by the
Chairman at the Annual General Meeting and were voted on by poll.
The detailed procedures of conducting a poll were explained by the
Chairman at the commencement of the Annual General Meeting
to ensure that shareholders were familiar with such procedures.
An independent scrutineer was appointed to count the votes and
the poll results were posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company on the same day following the Annual General
Meeting.
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The Company adheres to the Listing Rules and all regulatory
requirements set for listed companies in Hong Kong. The Company
is also committed to proactively provide its stakeholders with
sufficient, accurate and consistent information in a timely manner.
The commitment is evenly fulfilled irrespective of whether the
information is positive or negative for the company. All material
information is disclosed to recipients equally in terms of content and
timing.

The Board and Senior Management acknowledge their
responsibilities to represent the interests of all shareholders
and to maximise shareholder value. Active engagement with
our shareholders and accountability to our shareholders are of
high priorities of the Company. We would actively reach out our
shareholders by:

° one-on-one-meetings, conference calls, investor conferences,
and non-deal roadshows

° publication of the Company’s latest financial results,
announcements, ESG and business performance on its own
corporate website, including interim and annual financial
reports, sustainability reports, audio webcasts of analyst
presentations given at results announcements, presentation
slides played at investors conferences, announcements and
the Company’s business performance

° publication and distribution of interim and annual reports
° shareholders meeting
° set up of dedicated Investor Relations’ email address/hotline

to receive enquires from the shareholders and investing public
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Directors and Senior Management
EENEEEEAE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Chairman

Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO (SBS, BSc, MSc), aged 83, is the
Executive Chairman of the Group. Mr. Lo was appointed
a Director of the Company in 1972. Mr. Lo is a member
of the Environmental, Social and Governance Committee
of the Company. Mr. Lo graduated from the University
of lllinois with a Bachelor of Science degree in Food
Science and gained his Master of Science degree in Food
Science from Cornell University. Mr. Lo is an Honorary
Court Member of the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology and life member of Cornell University
Council. Mr. Lo is a director of Ping Ping Investment
Company Limited. He is also a director of The Bank of East
Asia, Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. He was a member of The National Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.
Save as disclosed, he has not held any directorship in
other listed public companies in the last three years. He
is the father of Ms. May Lo (a Non-executive Director
of the Company) and Ms. Joy Lo Cheung (a substantial
shareholder of the Company), the brother of Ms. Yvonne
Mo-ling Lo (a Non-executive Director of the Company)
and Ms. Irene Chan (the substantial shareholder of the
Company) and the relative of Mr. Peter Tak-shing Lo (a
Non-executive Director of the Company), Mr. Eugene Lye
(an Executive Director of the Company), Mr. Christopher
Lye, Dr. Keiko Aun Fukuda and Ms. Alexandra Chan (the
substantial shareholders of the Company).
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. the Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI (GBM, GBS, OBE,
JP, MA Cantab. (Economics & Law), Hon. LLD (Cantab),
Hon. DSc. (Imperial), Hon. LLD (Warwick), Hon. DBA
(Edinburgh Napier), Hon. D.Hum.Litt. (Trinity, USA), Hon.
LLD (Hong Kong), Hon. DSocSc (Lingnan), Hon. DLitt
(Macquarie), Hon. DSocSc (CUHK), FCA, FCPA, FCPA
(Aust.), FCIB, FHKIB, FBCS, CITP, Officier de I'Ordre de
la Couronne, Grand Officer of the Order of the Star of
Italian Solidarity, The Order of the Rising Sun, Gold Rays
with Neck Ribbon, Commandeur dans I'Ordre National de
la Légion d’Honneur), aged 85, was appointed a Director
of the Company in 1994. Sir David is the chairman of the
Remuneration and Nomination Committee and a member
of the Audit Committee of the Company. Sir David is the
executive chairman of The Bank of East Asia, Limited,
a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
He is a member of the Council of the Treasury Markets
Association. He is also an independent non-executive
director of The Hong Kong and China Gas Company
Limited, The Hongkong and Shanghai Hotels, Limited
and San Miguel Brewery Hong Kong Limited, all being
companies listed in Hong Kong. Sir David is founding
chairman of The Friends of Cambridge University in Hong
Kong Limited, chairman of the Advisory Board of The
Salvation Army Hong Kong and Macau Territory, chairman
of the Executive Committee of St. James’ Settlement and
a fellow of the Hong Kong Academy of Finance. He was
a member of the Executive Council of Hong Kong from
2005 to 2008 and the Legislative Council of Hong Kong
from 1985 to 2012. He was an independent non-executive
director of Guangdong Investment Limited. Save as
disclosed, he has not held any directorship in other listed
public companies in the last three years.
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Mr. Jan P. S. ERLUND, aged 85, was appointed a Director
of the Company in 2006. Mr. Erlund is a member of the
Remuneration and Nomination Committee and a member
of the Audit Committee of the Company. He graduated
with a Master degree in Law from the University of
Aarhus and studied at the Nordic Institute for Maritime
Law, the University of Oslo. Mr. Erlund was admitted to
the Danish Bar in 1968 and was admitted to the Supreme
Court in 1976. Mr. Erlund is now a partner in Copenhagen
Chambers focusing on Danish and international arbitration.
He was a partner of Gorrissen Federspiel Kierkegaard, a
law firm in Copenhagen, Denmark. He was the president
of the Danish Bar and Law Association, president of the
Danish Maritime Law Association and chairman of the
Maritime and Transport Committee of the International
Bar Association. Mr. Erlund was the chairman of the
board of directors of The East Asiatic Company Ltd. A/S
and Dansk Skovselskab A/S, deputy chairman of ERRIA
A/S and a member of the board of directors of PSA
International Pte. Ltd., all being companies listed overseas.
Save as disclosed, he has not held any directorship in other
listed public companies in the last three years.
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Mr. Anthony John Liddell NIGHTINGALE (CMG,
SBS, JP), aged 76, was appointed a Director of the
Company in 2015. Mr. Nightingale is the chairman of
the Environmental, Social and Governance Committee, a
member of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee of the Company.
Mr. Nightingale graduated from Peterhouse College,
University of Cambridge with a degree in Classics.
Mr. Nightingale was Managing Director of the Jardine
Matheson Group (“Jardine Group”) from 2006 to 2012.
He joined Jardine Group in 1969 and was appointed a
director in 1994. Mr. Nightingale has stepped down as
a non-executive director of Jardine Matheson Holdings
Limited and of other Jardine Group companies since 31st
January 2024. These include Dairy Farm and Hongkong
Land. Jardine Matheson Holdings Limited has a standard
listing on the London Stock Exchange as its primary
listing, with secondary listings in Bermuda and Singapore.
Mr. Nightingale is a director of Matheson & Co. Limited
and also the independent non-executive director of Shui
On Land Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong.
Mr. Nightingale is a commissioner of PT Astra International
Tbk. He is the chairperson of The Sailors Home and
Missions to Seafarers in Hong Kong. Mr. Nightingale is
the former chairman of the Hong Kong General Chamber
of Commerce and was appointed as a Hong Kong, China’s
representative to the Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation
(“APEC”") Business Advisory Council from 2005 to 2017
and a Hong Kong representative to the APEC Vision
Group from 2018 to 2019. He was a member of The
Chief Executive’s Council of Advisors on Innovation and
Strategic Development and was a member of the HKUST
Business School Advisory Council. He was a non-executive
director of Schindler Holding Limited, Jardine Strategic
Holdings Limited, Mandarin Oriental, Prudential plc and
Jardine Cycle & Carriage Limited. Save as disclosed, he has
not held any directorship in other listed public companies
in the last three years.
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Mr. Paul Jeremy BROUGH, aged 67, was appointed a
Director of the Company in 2016. Mr. Brough is the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
the Remuneration and Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Brough graduated from Nottingham Trent
Business School with a Bachelor’'s degree (Honours)
in Business Studies. Mr. Brough is an associate of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
and an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Brough is an independent non-
executive director of Guoco Group Limited, a company
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, an independent
non-executive director of The Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited, an independent non-
executive director of The Executive Centre Limited, an
independent non-executive director of Eagle Investments
HoldCo and an independent non-executive director of
Pacific Primary Health Care Holdings Limited. Mr. Brough
joined KPMG Hong Kong in 1983 and held appointments
as its Head of Consulting in 1995 and as Head of Financial
Advisory Services in 1997. In 1999, he was appointed
the Asia Pacific Head of KPMG's Financial Advisory
Services business and a member of its global advisory
steering group. He held the position of Regional Senior
Partner of KPMG Hong Kong from April 2009 before
retiring in March 2012. Mr. Brough is a director of Run
Hong Kong Limited, a not-for-profit entity. Mr. Brough
is also a director of Blue Willow Limited. Mr. Brough
was the executive chairman of Noble Group Limited, a
company listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange, and
its successor company, Noble Group Holdings Limited
from 8th May 2017 to 1st October 2019. He was an
independent non-executive director of Habib Bank Zurich
(Hong Kong) Limited, a Hong Kong restricted licence bank
until 28th February 2023, the chairman of the General
Committee of The Hong Kong Club until 11th May 2023
and the independent non-executive director of Toshiba
Corporation until 22nd December 2023. Save as disclosed,
he has not held any directorship in other listed public
companies in the last three years.
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Dr. Roy Chi-ping CHUNG (GBS, BBS, JP), aged 71, was
appointed a Director of the Company in June 2017.
Dr. Chung is a member of the Remuneration and
Nomination Committee of the Company. Dr. Chung
holds a Doctor of Engineering Degree from the
University of Warwick, United Kingdom and Doctor of
Business Administration Degree from City University of
Macau. He was re-appointed as an Industrial Professor
by the University of Warwick, United Kingdom in
December 2023. He was awarded a Doctor of Business
Administration honoris causa by the Hong Kong
Metropolitan University in 2023, an Honorary Doctor
of Business Administration by the City University of
Hong Kong in 2023, a Doctor of Business Administration
honoris causa by The University of Macau in 2019,
an Honorary Doctor of Science by The University of
Warwick, United Kingdom in 2019, an Honorary Doctor
of Business Administration by the Lingnan University in
2015, an Honorary Doctor of Business Administration
by the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2007, and
an Honorary Doctorate Degree by the University of
Newcastle, New South Wales, Australia in 2006. He was
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) and Gold Bauhinia
Star (GBS) by the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region Government on 1st July 2011 and 1st July 2017
respectively. He was also appointed as Justice of Peace by
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government
on 1st July 2005 and won the Hong Kong Young
Industrialists Award in 1997. In November 2014, he was
further awarded the Industrialist of the Year. Dr. Chung
is a Board Member of the West Kowloon Cultural District
Authority. He was appointed as the Chairman of the
Federation of Hong Kong Industries from July 2011 to July
2013 and now its Honorary President. He was appointed
as the chairman of Vocational Training Council from
January 2018 to December 2019. He is also the founder
and chairman of Bright Future Charitable Foundation.
Dr. Chung is a co-founder of Techtronic Industries
Company Limited, and retired as its non-executive
director effective from 10 May 2024. Dr. Chung is also
an independent non-executive director of TK Group
(Holdings) Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong. Dr.
Chung retired as independent non-executive director of
Kin Yat Holdings Limited, KFM Kingdom Holdings Limited
and Fujikon Industrial Holdings Limited effective from
25th August 2014, 27th August 2015 and 23rd June
2021 respectively. Save as disclosed, he has not held any
directorship in other listed public companies in the last
three years.
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Non-executive Directors

Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO, aged 76, was appointed a
Director of the Company in 1993. Ms. Lo is a member
of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee of the
Company. Ms. Lo received a Bachelor of Arts degree from
Oberlin College, Ohio in the United States and undertook
graduate studies in Urban and Regional Planning at the
University of Toronto in Canada. Ms. Lo joined the Group
in 1980 and was the President of Vitasoy USA until 2001.
Ms. Lo was the president of the Soyfoods Association of
North America which represents more than 30 soyfoods
companies covering the US and Canada. She does not
hold/has not held any directorship in other listed public
companies currently and in the past three years. She is the
mother of Dr. Keiko Aun Fukuda (a substantial shareholder
of the Company), the sister of Mr. Winston Yau-lai Lo
(the Executive Chairman of the Company) and Ms. Irene
Chan (the substantial shareholder of the Company) and
the relative of Mr. Peter Tak-shing Lo (a Non-executive
Director of the Company), Ms. May Lo (a Non-executive
Directors of the Company), Mr. Eugene Lye (an Executive
Director of the Company), Ms. Joy Lo Cheung,
Mr. Christopher Lye and Ms. Alexandra Chan (the
substantial shareholders of the Company).

Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO, aged 62, was appointed a
Director of the Company in June 2017. Mr. Lo is a member
of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Lo holds a Bachelor's Degree in Electronic
Engineering & Physics from the Loughborough University
of Technology, a Master’s Degree in Medical Physics from
the University of Surrey, a Doctorate’s Degree in Medical
Physics from the University of London and an Honorary
Fellow from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Lo is an executive director of Café de Coral Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. Mr. Lo is the chairman and a trustee of Lo Kwee
Seong Foundation (a charitable trust) being a substantial
shareholder of the Company within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO. Save as disclosed, he has not held any
directorship in other listed public companies in the last
three years. Mr. Lo is the relative of Mr. Winston Yau-lai
Lo (the Executive Chairman of the Company), Ms. Yvonne
Mo-ling Lo (a Non-executive Director of the Company),
Ms. May Lo (a Non-executive Director of the Company),
Mr. Eugene Lye (an Executive Director of the Company),
Ms. Irene Chan, Ms. Joy Lo Cheung, Mr. Christopher
Lye, Dr. Keiko Aun Fukuda and Ms. Alexandra Chan (the
substantial shareholders of the Company).
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Ms. May LO, aged 49, was appointed a Director of the
Company in June 2017. Ms. Lo is currently the Deputy
Chairman of the Board, a member of the Remuneration
and Nomination Committee and a member of the
Environmental, Social and Governance Committee of the
Company. Ms. Lo holds a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from MIT Sloan School of Management
and a Bachelor of Science degree from Cornell University.
She has worked in finance in various roles, including, as a
fund manager for a global asset management company and
has had experience investing in publicly listed companies.
She does not hold/has not held any directorship in other
listed public companies currently and in the past three
years. Ms. Lo is the daughter of Mr. Winston Yau-lai Lo (the
Executive Chairman of the Company), the sister of Ms. Joy
Lo Cheung (a substantial shareholder of the Company),
the relative of Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling Lo (a Non-executive
Director of the Company), Mr. Peter Tak-shing Lo
(a Non-executive Director of the Company), Mr. Eugene
Lye (an Executive Director of the Company), Ms. Irene
Chan, Mr. Christopher Lye, Dr. Keiko Aun Fukuda and
Ms. Alexandra Chan (the substantial shareholders of the
Company).
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Executive Directors

Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI, aged 61, was appointed as the
Executive Director of the Company on 1st April 2014.
Mr. Guidetti is a member of the Environmental, Social and
Governance Committee of the Company. Mr. Guidetti is
currently the Group Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Guidetti
graduated with a Bachelor's Degree in Economics at the
Bologna University in Bologna, Italy in 1987 and further
obtained a Master’s Degree in Business Administration
at Centro Universitario di Organizzazione Aziendale in
Altavilla Vicentina, Italy in 1988. Mr. Guidetti completed a
Harvard Business School Executive Education programme
in July 2017. Mr. Guidetti is responsible for the overall
strategic planning, business development and general
management of all the Group’s operations. Mr. Guidetti
joined the Group as the Group Chief Executive Officer
on 1st April 2013 and has fully assumed the roles and
responsibilities of the former Group Chief Executive
Officer on 1st August 2013. He has 35 years of proven
track record in general management, strategic/business
planning, marketing/commercial leadership, product
innovation and new business development. He has
matured his professional expertise in two of the largest
global fast moving consumer goods organisations and
across local, regional and global roles in Europe and Asia.
He has spent the last 24 years in this field in Mainland
China, and regions including the Hong Kong SAR and
Taiwan. Mr. Guidetti is a non-executive director of Ariston
Group (listed company in Italy) and Givaudan (listed
company in Switzerland). Saved as disclosed, he has not
held any directorship in other listed public companies
currently and in the last three years.
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Mr. Eugene LYE, aged 54, was appointed a Director of
the Company in October 2017. Mr. Eugene is a member
of the Environmental, Social and Governance Committee
of the Company. Mr. Lye is currently the President and
Chief Executive Officer of Vitasoy USA Inc. and Vitasoy
North America Inc., the subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Lye holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics from
the University of Toronto and a MBA from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Lye is responsible for the
general management and development of the Group'’s
import business of the Group’s products for sales in
North America. He joined the Group in 2002 and has
been closely involved in all aspects of the North American
business for over 20 years. During his time at Vitasoy
USA Inc., Mr. Lye has held management positions in
sales and marketing in the Mainstream Channel, and has
had oversight responsibilities for both the research &
development and quality control departments as well as
serving as the Senior Vice President of the Asian Channel.
He does not hold/has not held any directorship in other
listed public companies currently and in the past three
years. Mr. Lye is the brother of Mr. Christopher Lye
(a substantial shareholder of the Company), the relative
of Mr. Winston Yau-lai Lo (the Executive Chairman of the
Company), Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling Lo, Mr. Peter Tak-shing
Lo and Ms. May Lo (the Non-executive Directors of the
Company), Ms. Irene Chan, Ms. Joy Lo Cheung, Dr. Keiko
Aun Fukuda and Ms. Alexandra Chan (the substantial
shareholders of the Company).
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Directors and Senior Management
EENEEEEAE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

GROUP CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Ms. lan Hong NG, aged 53, Group Chief Financial Officer. Ms. Ng
is responsible for the strategic planning, financial management
and control, accounting, corporate finance, investor relations
and corporate services of the Group. Ms. Ng joined the Group in
2021 and has solid finance management experience gained with
multinational companies. She also brings a wealth of experience to
this role with leading start-up commercial operation, acquisitions,
post-merger integration, finance and digital transformation projects
in fast moving consumer goods (FMCG) industry. Ms. Ng is a US
Certified Public Accountant, member of HKICPA, and holds a
Master’s Degree in Business Administration at the University of
Southern California Marshall School of Business.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES
Mainland China

Mr. David Dong WANG, aged 56, Chief Executive Officer, Mainland
China Operation. Mr. Wang joined the Group in April 2024.
Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor of Science from Sun Yat Sen University
and an EMBA from University of Minnesota. Prior to his appointment
at the Group, he held the position of President at Tupperware China,
and has previously occupied a number of senior roles within P&G,
as well as PepsiCo’s Food and Beverage units. Mr. Wang has over
30 years’ experience in senior general management and commercial
roles within the fast moving consumer goods (FMCG) sector.

Hong Kong Operation (Hong Kong SAR, Macau SAR and
Exports)

Mr. Anthony Kai-yip CHAN, aged 55, Chief Executive Officer,
Hong Kong Operation. He joined the Group in 2007 and has been
promoted to the Chief Executive Officer of the Group’s Hong Kong
Operation in April 2023. He was appointed the Sales Director of
the Hong Kong Operation in 2009 with wealth of experience in
general management particularly for the sales and marketing areas.
Mr. Chan is currently responsible for the general management and
development of the Group’s operations in the Hong Kong SAR,
the Macau SAR and global export markets. Mr. Chan has solid and
extensive working experience in different leading multinational
companies including fast moving consumer goods (FMCG) and
consumer healthcare categories prior to joining the Company.
Mr. Chan received his education in the Hong Kong SAR and earned
his Master degree in Business Administration and Bachelor of Laws
(LLB) in 1998 and 2002 respectively.
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Directors and Senior Management
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Australia and New Zealand

Ms. Sangeerni Mahalinga IYER, aged 38, Managing Director of
Vitasoy Australia Products Pty. Ltd.. Ms. lyer is responsible for
general management and development of the Group’s operation
in Australia and New Zealand. She joined the Group in June 2020
as the Commercial Director of Vitasoy Australia and New Zealand
prior to being promoted to the Managing Director role. Ms. lyer has
extensive experience across Asia Pacific and Europe in fast moving
consumer goods (FMCG), Agribusiness and Investment banking
having held senior finance executive roles. She holds master’s
degree in business from University of Queensland and Master in
Econometrics from London School of Economics in addition to being
a Certified Practicing Accountant.

Singapore

Mr. Christopher Lloyd MARCHANT, aged 45, Chief Executive
Officer of Vitasoy International Singapore Pte. Ltd., the Group’s
tofu manufacturing company in Singapore. Mr. Marchant is
responsible for the general management and development of the
Group's operation in Singapore. He joined the Singapore operation
in September 2016 after spending 4 years heading up the Vitasoy
Australia and New Zealand Sales team. Mr. Marchant has extensive
experience across the fast moving consumer goods (FMCG) industry
in Asia Pacific, and is very familiar with the Singapore market having
spent 14 years in the city state, where he both started his career and
completed his secondary education.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER IN JOINT VENTURE

The Philippines

Mr. Carlo Angelo M. LICUANAN, aged 43, General Manager
of Vitasoy-URC Inc., the Group’s joint venture company in the
Philippines. Mr. Licuanan is responsible for the general management
and development of the Group’s business in the Philippines. He
joined the joint venture company in April 2021. Mr. Licuanan has
extensive experience spanning more than two decades across Asia
Pacific which includes General Management and Chief Marketing
Officer roles, among others. He has delivered solid business building
results and brings with him a wealth of experience managing multiple
countries especially in Southeast Asia. His career has been mostly
spent in key fast moving consumer goods (FMCG) roles in Fortune
500 multinational companies. After being expatriated to Singapore
to handle a regional role, he came back to the Philippines where
he originally comes from. He has double degrees in Economics
and Accountancy, graduating Magna Cum Laude, and was even
among the top passers in the Certified Public Accountancy board
examination. He was awarded by the President of the country as one
of the Ten Outstanding Students of the Philippines.
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Report of the Directors
ESERE

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their Annual Report
together with the audited financial statements for the year ended
31st March 2024.

Principal Place of Business

Vitasoy International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a company
incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong SAR and has its registered
office and principal place of business at No. 1 Kin Wong Street, Tuen
Mun, New Territories, Hong Kong SAR.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Company are the manufacture and sale
of food and beverages. The principal activities and other particulars
of the subsidiaries are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The segment analysis of the operations of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) during the financial year is set out in note
3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business, can be found in the Group Chief Executive Officer’s
Report/Business Review set out on pages 10 to 24 of this Annual
Report. The environmental, employees, customers and suppliers
matters that have a significant impact on the Group, are provided
in the FY2023/2024 Sustainability Report to be posted on the
Company’s corporate website at www.vitasoy.com together with
this Annual Report. These discussions form part of this Report of the
Directors.

We attached great importance to the Group’s compliance with
all applicable laws, regulations and regulatory requirements, in
adhering us to the best industry practices. During the year, there
was no material breach of or non-compliance by the Group with the
applicable laws and regulations that have significant impacts on the
Group's operations.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

For the year ended 31st March 2024, the percentage of sales
attributable to the Group'’s five largest customers was less than 30%.

The information in respect of the Group’s purchases attributable to
major suppliers during the financial year is as follows:

EREFREER
RBE-S-ME=A=t+-ALFE %

BHAAEFIEAEE 2 EXBEDLRN30%

UTHREATMRFEEIEREBEASEER
BEZEH

Percentage of the Group’s total purchases

EAREEFEBEET S
The largest supplier
19%
BRAMER
Five largest suppliers in aggregate
30%

B AHEES

At no time during the year have the Directors, their close associates
or any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) held
any interest in these major suppliers.

Recommended Dividend

An interim dividend of HK1.4 cents per ordinary share (2023:
HK1.3 cents) was paid on 20th December 2023. The Directors
recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK6.3 cents per
ordinary share (2023: HK1.4 cents) in respect of the year ended 31st
March 2024.

Donations

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to HK$3,497,000 (2023: HK$1,799,000).

Bank Loans

Particulars of bank loans of the Group, as at 31st March 2024 are set
out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 25(c) to the consolidated financial
statements. Shares were issued during the year on the exercise of
share options and vesting of share awards.
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Report of the Directors
EEEWRE

Directors

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this
Annual Report are set out on page 2.

Pursuant to Article 104 of the Company's Articles of Association,
Dr. the Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI, Mr. Jan P.S. ERLUND,
Mr. Anthony John Liddell NIGHTINGALE and Mr. Roberto
GUIDETTI will retire from the Board by rotation at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting. Dr. the Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI and
Mr. Jan P.S. ERLUND have informed the Board that they will not
offer themselves for re-election whereas the other two retiring
Directors, Mr. Anthony John Liddell NIGHTINGALE and Mr. Roberto
GUIDETTI, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting has a service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

Directors of Subsidiaries

A full list of the names of the Directors of the Group’s subsidiaries
during the financial year and up to the date of this Annual Report can
be found in the Company’s website at www.vitasoy.com under “For
Investors/Governance/Board of Directors/Directors of Subsidiaries”.
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Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures
The Directors of the Company who held office at 31st March 2024
had the following interests in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company and subsidiaries (within the meaning of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) at that date as recorded in the Register
of Directors’ Interests and Short Positions (“Register”) required to be

kept under Section 352 of the SFO:

(1) Interests in issued shares

EERRG - HEARG R EEE 2
EER%A
R(BSROEHI)EI2BRERE2ES

cfft (=) s W=

@ RARES

ENF=ZA=ZT-HEBZALAESZNE
AEEARARMEAR (EER(BEHERBE
1RPD) 2B RARBERDESWT :

(1) REBITRHOz2EDS

Number of ordinary shares

EERYE
Trusts and *% of total
similar Total issued shares
Personal Family interests Equity numberof  *{HE AT
Name Note interests interests f£5%  derivatives  sharesheld PR
®E Btk B AR i FEER RATEIR FBERMER 2B
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO
o inston faual ()(v) 68540659 28702500 72678300 776914 170,698,373 1591%
BREEE
Dr. the Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI
10,000,000 = = = 10,000,000 0.93%
ZEHBERL
Mr. Jan P.S. ERLUND
1 - - - 1 .02%
Jan P.S. ERLUND 4% 80,000 80,000 0.02%
Mr. Anthony John Liddell
NIGHTINGALE 200,000 - - - 200,000 0.02%
REREE
Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO . .
BEB L+ (i), (iv) - - 92,084,750 - 92,084,750 8.58%
Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO
) iii),(iv 9,198,000 - 121,657,000 - 130,855,000 12.20%
BERAL v :
Ms. May LO .
BHEL+ 2,100,000 - - - 2,100,000 0.20%
Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI
- 5,626,568 100,000 - 755,655 6,482,223 0.60%
EEERE 2 ;
Mr. Eugene LYE
442313 - - - 442313 0.04%
Bl k4

*

The percentage has been compiled based on the total number of shares of

the Company in issue (i.e. 1,072,814,812 ordinary shares) as at 31st March

2024.
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Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures (continued)

(1) Interests in issued shares (continued)

Notes:

(i) Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO is deemed to be interested in 28,702,500 shares
through interests of his wife. The 776,914 equity derivatives represented
interests in unvested shares granted under the Company’s 2021 Share
Award Scheme.

(ii) Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO is interested in 2,078,300 shares held by Yvonne
Lo Charitable Remainder Unitrust, 2,560,150 shares held by Yvonne Lo
Separate Property Trust and 14,768,000 shares held by Lo/Higashida Joint
Trust. Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO is a beneficiary of such three trusts and is
therefore deemed to be interested in such shares.

(iii) Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO is interested in 48,978,700 shares held by two
discretionary family trusts. Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO is a beneficiary of such
two trusts and is therefore deemed to be interested in such shares.

(iv) Each of Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO, Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO and Mr. Peter
Tak-shing LO is interested in 72,678,300 shares held by The Bank of East
Asia (Nominees) Limited which holds such shares as a nominee for the
Lo Kwee Seong Foundation, a charitable trust. Each of them is a trustee of
the Lo Kwee Seong Foundation and is therefore deemed to be interested
in such shares.

(v) Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI and his wife jointly hold family interests of 100,000
shares. The 755,655 equity derivatives represented interests in unvested
shares granted under the Company’s 2021 Share Award Scheme.

(2) Interests in underlying shares

Certain Directors of the Company have been granted options and
share awards under the Company’s share option scheme and share
award scheme, details of which are set out in the sections “Share
Option Scheme” and “Share Award Scheme” respectively.

All interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company are
long positions.

Apart from the foregoing, none of the Directors of the Company
or any of their spouses or children under eighteen years of age
holds an interest or a short position in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or other
associated corporations, as recorded in the Register or as otherwise
notified to the Company pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.
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Equity-linked Agreements

The Company has two existing share schemes, namely the 2022
Share Option Scheme and the 2021 Share Award Scheme. The
shareholders of the Company have approved at the 2023 Annual
General Meeting the amendments to the 2022 Share Option Scheme
and the 2021 Share Award Scheme (together, the “Amended
Schemes”) to bring the terms of the Amended Schemes in line with
the amended Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The Stock Exchange
has granted an approval for the listing of new shares of the Company
to be issued under the Amended Schemes pursuant to Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”). Accordingly, as at
31st March 2024, the share options/share awards available for grant
under the Amended Schemes and any other share schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 107,281,481, representing 10% of the
shares in issue of the Company as at 31st March 2024 and the date
of this annual report pursuant to the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The 2012 Share Option Scheme had expired on the tenth anniversary
of its adoption date, any share options that are outstanding under
the 2012 Share Option Scheme shall remain in force according to the
terms the scheme.

Further details of the Company’s share option schemes and share
award scheme are set out below.

Share option scheme
(1)  Share option scheme approved on 28th August 2012

On 28th August 2012, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “2012 Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of the 2012 Share
Option Scheme is to recognise and acknowledge the contributions
which the Directors, executives and employees of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries (“Eligible Participants”) have made or will make
to the Group. It provides Eligible Participants with the opportunity to
own a personal stake in the Company with a view to motivating the
Eligible Participants to excel in their performance and efficiency for
the benefit of the Group; and attracting and retaining or otherwise
maintaining an ongoing relationship with the Eligible Participants
whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the long term growth
of the Group. The Board may at its discretion grant options to any
Director, executive or employee of the Company or its subsidiaries.
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Equity-linked Agreements (continued) B R B0 15 5% ()
Share option scheme (continued) IE IR RET &l (@)
(1)  Share option scheme approved on 28th August 2012 (1) R-E——FNA=-+/HAHEZLE
(continued) BREE (E)
The principal terms of the 2012 Share Option Scheme were as Z—Z——FBEREFEAZTERTOT :

follows:

- The exercise price of the options is the higher of (a) the
closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange on the date
of grant, which must be a business day; and (b) the average of
the closing prices of the shares on the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant.

- The period within which the options must be exercised would
be specified by the Company at the time of grant. This period
must expire no later than 10 years from the relevant date of
grant.

- There was no minimum period for which an option must be
held nor a performance target which must be achieved before
it could be exercised during the vesting period, but the Board
may determine at its sole discretion any such terms on the
grant of an option.

- An offer of the grant of an option remains open for
acceptance by an Eligible Participant for a period of 28 days
from the date of offer or such longer or shorter period as
the Directors might in their discretion determine. An Eligible
Participant had to pay HK$10 on acceptance of the option as
a consideration.

- Unless approved by shareholders of the Company in a general
meeting, the total number of shares issued and which may fall
to be issued upon exercise of the options granted (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) to any one
Eligible Participant in any 12-month period up to the date of
grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the date
of grant.
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Equity-linked Agreements (continued)

Share option scheme (continued)

(1)  Share option scheme approved on 28th August 2012
(continued)

The 2012 Share Option Scheme was terminated on 27th August
2022 following which no further option was granted under the 2012
Share Option Scheme.

Outstanding share options granted under the 2012 Share Option
Scheme prior to such termination shall continue to be valid and,
subject to the vesting schedule, exercisable in accordance with the
2012 Share Option Scheme. There were 15,810,500 outstanding
options that may be issued upon exercise of the right attaching
thereto, representing approximately 1.47% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of this annual report, under the
2012 Share Option Scheme.

(2)  Share option scheme approved on 30th August 2022

On 30th August 2022, the Company adopted a new share option
scheme (the “2022 Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of the
2022 Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain management
and key employees, to align Eligible Participants’ interests with the
long-term success of the Company, to provide fair and competitive
compensation to management and key employees and to drive the
achievement of strategic objectives of the Company. It provides
Eligible Participants with an opportunity to own a personal stake in
the Company with a view to motivating the Eligible Participants to
utilise their performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and attracting and retaining or otherwise maintaining an ongoing
relationship with the Eligible Participants whose contributions are or
will be beneficial to the long term growth of the Group. The Board
may at its discretion grant options to any Director, executive or
employee of the Company or its subsidiaries.
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Report of the Directors
EEEWRE

Equity-linked Agreements (continued)

Share option scheme (continued)

(2)  Share option scheme approved on 30th August 2022
(continued)

The principal terms of the 2022 Share Option Scheme were as
follows:

- The exercise price of the options is the higher of (a) the
closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange on the date
of grant, which must be a business day; and (b) the average of
the closing prices of the shares on the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant.

- The period within which the options must be exercised would
be specified by the Company at the time of grant. This period
must expire no later than 10 years from the relevant date of
grant.

- The minimum period for which an option must be held before
such an option can be exercised shall not be less than 12
months (or such other period as may be prescribed by the
Listing Rules). The Board and/or the Company may, at its
absolute discretion, determine that a shorter vesting period
shall apply than the prescribed minimum period.

- The 2022 Share Option Scheme does not specify a
performance metric which must be achieved before an option
can be exercised. The Company may specify such performance
target and the terms of the 2022 Share Option Scheme
provided that the Board may determine, at its sole discretion,
such term(s) on the grant of an option.

- An offer of the grant of an option remains open for acceptance
by an Eligible Participant for a period of 28 days from the date
of offer or such longer or shorter period as the Directors might
in their discretion determine.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Equity-linked Agreements (continued)

Share option scheme (continued)

(2)  Share option scheme approved on 30th August 2022
(continued)

- Unless approved by shareholders of the Company in a general
meeting, the total number of shares issued and which may
fall to be issued upon exercise of the options under all share
option schemes, or vested and to be vested under other share
award schemes already granted or to be granted (excluding
any options and/or awards lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the 2022 Share Option Scheme or other share award
schemes) to any one Eligible Participant in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant shall not in
aggregate over 1% of the shares in issue as at the date of
grant.

During the year, 3,164,000 options were granted under the 2022
Share Option Scheme.

As at 31st March 2024, there were 3,040,000 outstanding options
that may be issued upon exercise of the right attaching thereto,
representing approximately 0.28% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report, under the 2022 Share
Option Scheme.

The number of options available for grant under the 2022 Share
Option Scheme under the then scheme mandate limit at 1st April
2023 was 107,080,103.

The 2022 Share Option Scheme will end on 29th August 2032.

At 31st March 2024, the Directors and employees of the Company
had the following interests in options to subscribe for ordinary
shares of the Company (market value per ordinary share at 31st
March 2024 was HK$6.71) in consideration of HK$10 for each
grant under the 2012 Share Option Scheme and nil consideration
under the 2022 Share Option Scheme of the Company. As at 31st
March 2024, the total grant date fair value of unexercised vested
options and unvested options, measured in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 1(q) (iii) to the consolidated financial
statements, amounted to HK$55,002,000 and HK$27,836,000
respectively. The options are unlisted. Once vested, each option
gives the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of
the Company. Assuming that all the options outstanding as at 31st
March 2024 were exercised, the Company would receive proceeds
of HK$349,057,000.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. ZEfb B FREE AR D T

ie ZE e 10 e ()

RS S (|

(2) R-ZE-——FNA=1+HHEZER
52 (E)

- BREAATREABREAG LHEN
REEREEELEHLEZEFF+=@
AR BEA—ESEKRSEER
BRI REST BT EERERRED
EEFREEEF2EMRGEBTS
RERETEE (FaEfE-—2==
ERESTINEMROEBSEE AN
EABRER REB) MEBRTRA
FRAZROEH FEBRBRELH
B BRITR 1% o

RER BE-ZE-_FEREFEHCER
3,164,000 17 BB AR #E

AZEBE-_ME=A=+—H RE=-Z===
BE IR AT &) » 3,040,000 17 &) K 17 5 =2 BE AR A T
RITEEMSERESRT  GADARKNER
HEI 2 BT A#0.28% °

BRI BIRERE  RE-Z2-"FBR
EFAER-ZE_=FHA-HAFREZER
% B 5 107,080,103 17 ©

SECCEBREHEEN-F=FNA
=tABEL -

RZE_ME=A=+—H A2AESBKE
EERBEARAQNA T _FERETIERT
UEHBREREERIOTRRE=-Z2-_=

BREFIASREIBAQ2IAZER (R
E_ME=RF=+—HzERMEHREK671
T ZEREFEETI#RZE R-E-_WEFE=
B=+—8  RE4&E 8RR ME Uaq)iii) AT
B HE RTFEZCEBERERKRE
EREREUBHBHARENE  BES A
7 % 55,002,000 7t & & #£ 27,836,000 T ° &% &
BRESAF LT - —BERER SHBRE
ERFHEEARBERAQAT —REBRZER -
BEMER-_E-_WNF=A=1+—HEKRTHE
ZIEBREETE AR TN RIERY
349,057,000 7T °



Report of the Directors
EEEWRE

Equity-linked Agreements (continued) B R B0 15 5% ()
Share option scheme (continued) IE IR RET &l (@)

Particulars of share options outstanding during the year and at the FRARNRFER  MRTEBREFBOT :
end of the year are as follows:

Number Number ~ *Market
Period during of options ofoptions  valueper  *Market
whichoptions ~ Priceper  outstanding Number Number Number ~ outstanding shareat  valueper
are exercisable shareon atthe  ofoptions  ofoptions  of options atthe date of shareon
(dd/mm/yyyy-  exerciseof  beginning granted  exercised  forfeited  endofthe grantof  exercise of
Date of grant dd/mm/yyyy) options  oftheyear  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe year options options
(dd/mm/yyyy) BRETER THEERE EA% year year year iR B HriE
Participants BHAMY (A/B/%- WE#z HETE2 ShRtz FhTEz EhEkz EATEz BREZR BRES:
8% (B/RB/%) A/B/%) SRER BREYE BRENE BRESE BRESE BERERE 28RTE SETE
HKS HK$ HK$
A ik ik
Directors
gz
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO 09/09/2013  09/09/2014 - 08/09/2023 9370 1,704,000 - (1,704,000) - - 9.950 13433
(TJSOESTdbSt)a”“a' 10009/2014 10/09/2015-09/09/2024 10080 1792000 - - 179000 9890 -
shareholder
ERhE 14/09/2015  14/09/2016 - 13/09/2025 13600 1,588,000 - - - 1,588,000 11520 -
(FATERR) 06/09/2016  06/09/2017 - 05/09/2026 14792 1420000 - - - 1420000 15280 -
Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI 26/06/2017  26/06/2018 - 25/06/2027 16296 1,254,000 - - - 1254000 16200 -
B
ERRAL 19/06/2018  19/06/2019 - 18/06/2028 25100 1,288,000 - - - 1288000 24,000 -
21/06/2019  21/06/2020 - 20/06/2029 44810 866,000 - - - 866,000 42.550 -
22/06/2020  22/06/2021 - 21/06/2030 30200 1,032,000 - - - 1,032,000 29.550 -
#24/08/2021  18/06/2022 - 23/08/2031 19500 814,000 - - - 814,000 18920 -
04/07/2022  04/07/2023 - 03/07/2032 14140 998,000 - - - 998,000 13720 -
26/06/2023  26/06/2024 - 25/06/2033 12216 - 1,022,000 - - 1,022,000 10.160 -
Five highest paid ©€28/01/2019  28/01/2020 - 27/01/2029 30350 320,000 - - - 320,000 30.000 -
ef'“'“f"w“s: 20062019 21/06/2020-20/06/2029 44810 28,000 - - - B0 42550 -
IEGREHAERER"
22/06/2020  22/06/2021 - 21/06/2030 30.200 194,000 - - - 194,000 29.550 -
#24/08/2021  18/06/2022 - 23/08/2031 19500 356,000 - - - 356,000 18920 -
04/07/2022  04/07/2023 - 03/07/2032 14140 402,000 - - - 402000 13720 -
26/06/2023  26/06/2024 - 25/06/2033 12216 - 406,000 - - 406,000 10.160 -
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Equity-linked Agreements (continued)

B = B0 155 (@

Share option scheme (continued) IE IR RET &l (@)
Number Number ~ *Market

Period during of options ofoptions  valueper  *Market

whichoptions  Priceper  outstanding Number Number Number ~ outstanding shareat  valueper

are exercisable shareon atthe  ofoptions  ofoptions  of options atthe dateof  shareon

(dd/mm/yyyy-  exerciseof  beginning granted  exercised  forfeited  endofthe grantof  exercise of

Date of grant dd/mm/yyyy) options  oftheyear  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe year options options

(dd/mm/yyyy) BRETER THEERE EA% year year year &R B M

Participants BHAHY (B/B/%- WARz wWiTEZ FARHz FhGE2 Fhkkz HiGEz BREZR BREN:

8% (B/B/%) A/B/%) ShER BREYE BREYE BRESE BRESE BRERE 28RTE SRR

HK$ HK$ HKS

il ik il

Other eligible 26/06/2015  26/06/2016 - 25/06/2025 13600 18,000 - - - 18,000 13620 -

employeesworking oy 0601 24/06207-23/06/2026 14792 198000 - - - 198000 13960 :
under employment

o 26/06/2017  26/06/2018 - 25/06/2027 16296 294000 - - (160000 278,000 16200 -

REEEAHTIHE, 19/06/2018  19/06/2019 - 18/06/2028 25100 330,000 - - (220000 308,000 24,000 -

A =]

RieaRiERS 21/06/2019  21/06/2020 - 20/06/2029 44810 282,000 - - (500000 232,000 42.550 -

22/06/2020  22/06/2021 - 21/06/2030 30200 354,000 - - (765000 277,500 29.550 -

#24/08/2021  18/06/2022 - 23/08/2031 19500 1,084,000 - - (242000) 842,000 18920 -

04/07/2022  04/07/2023 - 03/07/2032 14140 1,886,000 - - (581,000)  12305,000 13720 -

26/06/2023  26/06/2024 - 25/06/2033 12216 - 1736000 - (124000) 1,612,000 10.160 -

18502000 3164000  (1,704000) (1,111,500) 18,850,500

BIEESMBERMURAESEEAZES
ZEBBR -

The options granted to each Director are registered under the names
of the Directors who are also the beneficial owners.

being the closing price or the weighted average closing price of the
Company’s ordinary shares immediately before the dates on which the
options were granted or exercised, as applicable.

for the options granted on 28th January 2019, 50% of options will be
vested after the first anniversary from the date of grant and 50% of
options will be vested after the second anniversary from the date of
grant.

for the options granted on 24th August 2021, options are subject to
a vesting scale in tranches of 25% each per annum starting from 18th
June 2022 and are fully vested on 18th June 2025.

of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two are Directors
whose emoluments are disclosed separately.
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Report of the Directors
EEEWRE

Equity-linked Agreements (continued)

Share option scheme (continued)

All options, except for options granted on 28th January 2019 and
24th August 2021, are exercisable progressively and the maximum
percentage of the options which may be exercised is determined in
stages as follows:

ie ZE e 10 e ()

RS S (|
AFAECHMEERESE (BR=-E—h&E
— B+ N NBR=ZZE-Z—-FN\AZ+HAKRHE
ZHERESN) B SN W& R TT R
BEILERET

Percentage of options granted

EEREREZESL

On or after 1st year anniversary of the date of grant
R BB —BFHHE
On or after 2nd year anniversary of the date of grant
R BB mBEFHHR
On or after 3rd year anniversary of the date of grant
REBABEF=BFHE
On or after 4th year anniversary of the date of grant

R Bt mBERHER

Information on the accounting policy for share options granted and
the value per option is provided in note 1(q) (i) and note 23(a) to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

25%

another 5 25%

another 5 25%

another 5 25%

FHEREERECETRERENIBEREER
ZER D B ERERE B %8R 3R M5 1(q)ii) & B
5 23(a) °
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Equity-linked Agreements (continued)

Share award scheme

The Company adopted a share award scheme on 22nd March 2021
(the “2021 Share Award Scheme”) under which the Directors may, at
their discretion, select any eligible participant (being either a Director,
executive or employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries) to
participate in the 2021 Share Award Scheme as an award holder,
and such award holder may be granted an award of restricted shares,
performance shares, restricted share units or performance share
units. The purpose of the 2021 Share Award Scheme is to attract and
retain management and key employees, to align eligible participants’
interests with the long-term success of the Company, to provide fair
and competitive compensation to management and key employees
and to drive the achievement of the Company’s strategic objectives.

The principal terms of the 2021 Share Award Scheme were as
follows:

- The 2021 Share Award Scheme is valid and effective for a
term of 10 years from 1st July 2021 unless terminated earlier
by the Board and is administered by the Board and the trustee
of the 2021 Share Award Scheme.

- The minimum period for which an award must be held before
vesting shall not be less than 12 months (or such other period
as may be prescribed by the Listing Rules from time to time).
The Board and/or the Company may at its absolute discretion,
determine that a shorter vesting period shall apply than the
prescribed minimum period.

- Unless approved by shareholders of the Company in a general
meeting, the total number of shares issued and which may fall
to be issued upon exercise of all options under all share option
schemes, or vested and to be vested under all share award
schemes already granted or to be granted to such eligible
participant (excluding any options and/or awards lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the 2021 Share Award Scheme
or other share award schemes) in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of grant shall not in aggregate over 1%
of the shares in issue as at the date of grant.

During the year, 1,643,183 awards were granted under the 2021
Share Award Scheme which may be vested to the awardees,
representing approximately 0.15% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors
EEEWRE

Equity-linked Agreements (continued) B R B0 15 5% ()
Share award scheme (continued) B% 10 SE Bt &) (@)

The number of share awards available for grant under the 2021 R Z AW ERERE  BRBE-_S=—FRH
Share Award Scheme under the then scheme mandate limit at 1st EEFZNR=-S==FNE—RBAFEH2ZR
April 2023 was 50,908,710. 7 EEBE B 5 50,908,71017 °

Particulars of share awards outstanding during the year and at the ~ FRRNELER - SAREE 2 EBRMOEBNT
end of the year are as follows:

Number of
awards
forfeited on
termination of
Number employment
of awards ofeligihle ~ Numberof *Market value
outstanding ~ Numberof ~ Numberof participants awards pershare  Market value
Vesting period atthe awards awards during outstanding at atdateof  pershareat
(dd/mm/yyyy-  beginning granted vested theyear ~ theend of grant of dateof
Date of grant dd/mmiyyyy)  oftheyear  duringthe  duringthe REREA the year awards  vestingof
(del/mm/yyyy) BEY  EIRBHK year yer ERSHE FREHEX RUERD awards
Participant EHEH (B/R/%- BBzER EhEtz FhB8Ez BRORK BE2RD 2Bz BEEEZA
sa% (B/B/%) B/B/%) $B RBEE RRBE <REHE $8 SRDE 28RWE
HKS HKS
Directors
EZ
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO #01/02/2022  01/02/2022 - 18/06/2025 168,875 - (56,291) - 112,584 15.200 13.120**
o substanil 0407/2022 04072022 04/07/2026 313109 - ) S B0 90
shareholder)
BREAE(FEIERE)  26/06/2023 260062003 - 26/06/2027 - 448 - - A9 10160 -
Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI #24/08/2021  24/08/2021 - 18/06/2025 168,905 - (56,301) - 112,604 18.920 13.120**
ERRLE 040N OOTI002- 40T 335865 - a98) Sy B0 90
26/06/2023  26/06/2023 - 26/06/2027 - 391,152 - - 391,152 10.160 -
Five highest paid eligible #24/08/2021  24/08/2021 - 18/06/2025 73899 - (24,633) - 49,266 18.920 13.120%
enployees” 04/07/2022  04/07/2022 - 04/07/2026 135485 - e - 064 BTN 99%0¢
IEEREAERES"
26/06/2023  26/06/2023 - 26/06/2027 - 155,710 - - 155,710 10.160 -
Other eligible employees #24/08/2021  24/08/2021 - 18/06/2025 224725 = (61,734) (51,354) 111,637 18.920 13.120%
W°rt'""gt”"de’°"‘p'°y"‘e"t 0N AU -2 93853 - ) - 15 .
contracts
REEBSHTEEM 04/07/2022  04/07/2022 - 04/07/2026 635372 - (140,737) (170,259) 324376 13.720 9.990%
AERES 26/06/2023  26/06/2023 - 26/06/2027 - 666,823 - (47.770) 619,053 10.160 -

2150088 1,643,183 (535810 (363236) 2,894,225
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Equity-linked Agreements (continued)

Share award scheme (continued) B% 10 SE Bt &) (@)
The awards granted to each Director are registered under the name RBFEESCEBNUESE HFZERL  MH
of the Director who is also the beneficial owner. TAEBREEA -

ok

##

being the closing price or the weighted average closing price of the
Company’s ordinary shares immediately before the dates on which the
awards were granted, as applicable.

for the grant dated 24th August 2021 and 1st February 2022, awards
are subject to a vesting scale in tranches of 25% each per annum
starting from 18th June 2022 and are fully vested on 18th June 2025.

for the grant dated 20th December 2021, 50% of awards are vested
after the first anniversary from the date of grant and 50% of awards
are vested after the second anniversary from the date of grant.

of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two are Directors
whose emoluments are disclosed separately.

being the closing price or the weighted average closing price of the
Company’s ordinary shares immediately before 18th June 2023 on
which the vesting period for applicable tranche ended.

being the closing price or the weighted average closing price of the
Company’s ordinary shares immediately before 4th July 2023 on
which the vesting period for applicable tranche ended.

All awards, except for awards granted on 24th August 2021, 20th
December 2021 and 1st February 2022, are subject to a vesting

*ok

##

BR R

MANBEBRNBEERBREABI—RE
AzWmESmEF IR HE -

R-E-FENATHNER-ZE=-_f£"A
—HzREMS RBE_Z=_FxA+tN
ARUESEB%ILEAMEE AR -F
ZEFERATNBEHERS -

REBZ-—F+ZAZ+HZEHMS - 50%
ZRBEERHASEN - BERERER
50% 2 RES BRE EME MAFEERE -

EEEBEMEALH WERES HMe
BERWE -

MAAREBRREREABRE-—Z-=F
NATNEEBHERA— B2 W mERNE
FHRHE -

AR AEBRNBEEERABRE-ZT-=F
T ANBEBBHAERA— B 2R HERMEF
R E o

—E--E\B=-+WBE -ZE=—F

+ZAZt+HERZEZZF-_A—HELHZHE

BN zRERBMS  BRHAPESER
FUBSF2% 2RI RERB  LHREH A
HEFNERAF2HEE -

scale in tranches of 25% each per annum starting from the first
anniversary from the date of grant and will be fully vested on the
fourth anniversary of the date of grant.

ARRERODEBNETBRREORBNE
B E R 2D BB R AR S B35 3R 3R M = 1a) i) )2
M 5 23(b) o

Information on the accounting policy for share awards granted and
the value per award is provided in note 1(q)(iii) and note 23(b) to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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Equity-linked Agreements (continued)

Share award scheme (continued)

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors of the Company or any of their spouses or
children under eighteen years of age to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.

Other than the Company’s Share Option Schemes and Share Award
Scheme as disclosed above and in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were entered into
by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31st March 2024, the interest of the following person, other
than the Directors of the Company, in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company, being 5% or more of the Company’s issued
share capital, as recorded in the register of interest required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO are as follows:

ie ZE e 10 e ()

B% 10 SE Bt &) (@)

BEXFBEESN  RARRETAMBED T
BERAE NI AESEEAREE UEAA
DEERHEAARBR T N\RUATHF L AE
BARQTREAEMA TR EEZT
fE% o

BREXRAGRE M BEHMRMT 2 MENARQE
BRESERKROERTEIN NR2AREFR
W] T H R FRFENREH B o

FERRMARIDREEERID 2SS
RRE

RIZEZOEFE=ZA=+—H RE(ESRBE
1&BI) S 336 KA A AT EE 2 HEZE M
BRAQRAEZEENINZALEEERQAASBITR
AE%BULEZARDNFROEEBBERG 2D
HHWT :

Number of ordinary shares

LERHE

*% of total

Trusts and issued

similar Total shares

Personal Family ~ Corporate interests  numberof  *{GE T

Substantial Shareholders Note interests interests interests 55K  sharesheld RRi3E%

FERR Wik EARES RIGHER DE)ER RE#ER FiERAEE 2B
Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group, Inc. .

e = - - 193,085,369 - 193,085,369 18.00%
CEABLREE 8 ;
Ms. Irene CHAN

. ii 23,514,700 - - 72,678,300 96,193,000 8.97%
RERELT i
Ms. Joy Lo CHEUNG . .
EEL Gy (i) 2,766,250 72,678,300 75,444,550 7.03%
Dr. Keiko Aun FUKUDA
_f- ReO A i 2,400,000 - - 72678300 75,078,300 7.00%
BRLT
Mr. Christopher LYE .
750,000 - - 72,678,300 73,428,300 6.84%
RA %L U
Ms. Alexandra CHAN
ii dl - - 72,67 73,2 .83%
BEML (i} 610,000 678,300 73,288,300 6.83%
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares (continued)

This percentage has been compiled based on the total number of
shares of the Company in issue (i.e. 1,072,814,812 ordinary shares) as
at 31st March 2024.

(i) These interests are held by Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group, Inc.
through its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

(ii) Each of Ms. Irene CHAN, Ms. Joy Lo CHEUNG, Dr. Keiko Aun
FUKUDA, Mr. Christopher LYE and Ms. Alexandra CHAN is interested
in 72,678,300 shares held by The Bank of East Asia (Nominees)
Limited which holds such shares as a nominee for the Lo Kwee Seong
Foundation, a charitable trust. Each of them is a trustee of the
Lo Kwee Seong Foundation and is therefore deemed to be interested
in such shares.

All interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company are
long positions.

Apart from the foregoing, no person, other than the Directors whose
interests are set out in the section headed “Directors’ Interests
and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures”
above, has registered an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register of
interests kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

Contract of Significance

No contract of significance has been entered into between the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31st March 2024.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements
or Contracts of Significance

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director of the Company or his/her connected entity had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

Management Contracts

During the year ended 31st March 2024, no contracts concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Group were entered into or existed.
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Remuneration for Senior Management

The emoluments of the Senior Management, excluding Directors, by
bands are as follows:

EEEBRASZME
REBMHCBEERAL (FEEES) 25
SWT :

Number of individuals

AE
Below HK$2,000,000 1
7&#£ 2,000,000 ST AT
HK$2,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 .
78 % 2,000,001 T £ 78 ¥ 4,000,000 7T
HK$4,000,001 to HK$6,000,000 .
7B 4,000,001 7T = % # 6,000,000 7T
HK$6,000,001 to HK$8,000,000 1

7 6,000,001 T 2 % #5 8,000,000 7T

Employees and Human Resources Policy

Details of the number and remuneration of employees, human
resources policy, development and learning of the Group'’s
employees are set out in the FY2023/2024 Sustainability Report to
be posted on the Company’s corporate website at www.vitasoy.com
together with this Annual Report.

Indemnity of Directors

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in Section 469 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors
of the Company is currently in force and was in force throughout the
year.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance was maintained during the
year.

Related Party Transactions

Details of material related party transactions entered into by
the Company in the normal course of business during the year
ended 31st March 2024 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements. In respect of each related party transaction
disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Company confirms that it has reviewed the transactions which are in
compliance with the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules (if
applicable).

BEERAHDERBR
AEBMCEEHERFHN AHERBEKRURK
EERREENIzH#BHN=-ZE== =%
B REETSERRRES  ZHRESER
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Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors of the Company as at
the date of this Annual Report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

Employee Retirement Benefits

Particulars of employee retirement benefits of the Group are set out
in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Five Year Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 255 and
256 of this Annual Report.

Purchase, Sales or Redemption of the Company’s
Listed Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year,
except that the trustee of the Company’s 2021 Share Award Scheme
purchased on the Stock Exchange a total of 600,000 shares of the
Company at a total consideration of approximately HK$6 million to
satisfy the award of shares to selected participants pursuant to the
terms of the rules and trust deed of the 2021 Share Award Scheme.

Auditors

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting.

By Order of the Board
Winston Yau-lai LO
Executive Chairman

Hong Kong, 20th June 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BAZBEMERE

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Vitasoy International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Vitasoy
International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
(“the Group”) set out on pages 120 to 254, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st March
2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31st March 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”)
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters FARETSE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FBIREFSEERBERMNELHE  THY
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated ~AHI4G M EHREANBHIBZAEENSE &
financial statements of the current period. These matters were EEEEERMEERERAHERRELEE
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial ERBFETEREN RIS HELEEIEMR
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we EBNER -

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Revenue recognition from sales to distributors and retailers

EAREIPHBNFEFHENWA

Refer to note 3 and the accounting policies in note 1(u) to the consolidated financial statements.

F2HAGREUBRRMEIRMFELNEEBER -

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
FARETSE RPN FNAREZEE

The Group's revenue is principally generated from sales Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue
of food and beverages to a large number of distributors from sales to distributors and retailers included the

and retailers. following:
EEENBAZZERARRZOHERNZERHER BMARTREERIARBIHEENZERTHENEADN
mRME e B RRFEEUNTSE
Revenue from sales to distributors and retailers is o assessing the design, implementation and operating
recognised when the customer takes possession of and effectiveness of management’s key internal controls
accepts the Group’s food and beverage products, which over revenue recognition;
generally occurs when the products are delivered to the FHEEBERWAERWERAIBIZ B RS
location designated by the customers. BRETEMRM
RESPHENZERHENKAEEFEERE
T BEEENEREEREREER  E—MRETEM e inspecting sales contracts with distributors and
FREZTEFIEEMBERAE - retailers, on a sample basis, to understand the
trade terms agreed with individual customers and
There are a large number of individual sales transactions assessing the Group’s revenue recognition policies
each year which increase the risk of errors arising in the with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
recognition of revenue. accounting standards;
EXESFRERENEARNEERS  BEEMTIHMA REAEEREHSHANSERRITNHEESR
BREEERNER o Dt 7THEENEFAENRZGRR > XSEZRT

S ERNRETME BEERENWAERBCR

° comparing, on a sample basis, sales transactions
recorded during the financial reporting period with
the corresponding goods delivery notes, which
contained evidence of acknowledgement of the
customers’ receipt of the goods, and assessing if
the related revenue was properly recognised in
accordance with the trade terms set out in the
respective sales contracts;
BREREENRUBEBREHABACENEER S HE
HENREE #EBEEFEEFEIARIEYHN
FH FEERRARSEREBEEENEESEFP
&R B IRFRFERD
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Key audit matters (continued) FARETSZE @

Revenue recognition from sales to distributors and retailers

ERRASHENTEFHENRA

Refer to note 3 and the accounting policies in note 1(u) to the consolidated financial statements.

H2HRE B MRMEIRMEE L) EEER -

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

FAREEIE RPN FNAEREZEE

We identified the recognition of revenue from sales e assessing, on a sample basis, whether specific
to distributors and retailers as a key audit matter revenue transactions recorded around the end of the
because the revenue generated therefrom accounts financial reporting period had been recognised in the
for the majority of the Group’s revenue and involves appropriate financial period by inspecting the trade
large number of individual sales contracts and because terms agreed with the individual customers and the
revenue is one of the key performance indicators of delivery status of the relevant products;

the Group which increases the risk of misstatement BREABREFARESHBENETEFMHEZRZHER
of the timing and amount of revenue recognised by URBBEERORMTRE S EEMBREPE
management to achieve specific performance targets or AETHNBEERARZEGEEBEENMKE™E
expectations. AR

EMEEIREBIEENZEFHENRAT RERE
BIBE DAHEANWRAL SEBWRANELRI o  identifying credit notes issued and sales returns from

PESRREMEBBEESE  BRFEEARAZ &5 the sales ledger subsequent to the financial reporting
EREF—EEREREE SEMNTEERBRAER period which met specific risk-based criteria and
S EEE R R TEMERER A S S BRI RS o by making enquiries of management and inspecting

relevant underlying documentation to assess if
the related revenue had been accounted for in the
appropriate financial period in accordance with the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards;
and

B BEREHENSR ERAREENHERAERC
HACECENEERE WEBHABNEEERR
EHEBAXBFEXGUTEEHBRARSCRBRTSE
SEANREREENMEABER R

° inspecting manual adjustments to revenue during
the reporting period which met specific risk-based
criteria, enquiring of management about the reasons
for such adjustments and comparing details of the
adjustments with relevant underlying documentation.
REMBREHRTSISERBRZEL WA FIEN
FHRAE NEEESHEBRAZRNEHRFAEME
BN EBFES -

Annual Report 2023/2024 £ E# & @



Independent Auditor’s Report
B3 % B IR

Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and auditor’s report thereon

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the Directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group'’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yip Ka Ming, Alice.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

20th June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
e é% BABAR

For the year ended 31st March 2024 BZ=—ZE-NFE=A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L8#5HE)

2024 2023
Note —EmEF —E-=F
Mt s $'000 F It $'000 F 7t
Revenue
3 6,217,123 6,340,559
PN
Cost of sales
. (3,105,686) 3,328,763
SHER A& ( !
Gross profit
3,111,437 3,011,796
EF
Other income
4 84,243 113,846
Hipug A

Marketing, selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

(1,976,349) (2,024,430)

SHRER (700,989) (671,978)
g e 5(0) (332910) (325,641)
g;:;;jm operations 185432 103,593
;EEZEOSB 5a) (30,028) (32,547)
;;;i;ﬁ b;;;;e taxation . e 48793
ot 6a) (13,880) (27,736)

Profit for the year
117,788 21,057

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. #Eftt B EFREEE B R A A



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
mEBER

For the year ended 31st March 2024 BZ=—ZE-NFE=A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L8#E5HE)

2024 2023
Note —EME —E-=F
M=t $'000 F T $'000 F 7t
Attributable to:
THALEL:
Equity shareholders of the Company
116,367 45,721
AATREFEA
Non-controlling interests
- 1,421 24,664
T (24.664)

Profit for the year
117,788 21,057

Earnings per share

BREHN

Basic

B-¥N

Dil
%;ged 10.8 Cents il 4.3 Centsll

The notes on pages 129 to 254 form part of these financial 58129 2 254 8B 2 MisE I AR BF f5 3Rk =2 — 2h14 o
statements.

10

10.9 Cents{ll| 4.3 Cents i

Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company EEAEEZSIPENTIAATREREEAZ
attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note 25(b). BRESHEEAMEE25() °
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— o Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GelRskHEMEPEIKER

For the year ended 31st March 2024 BZ=—ZE-NFE=A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L8#5HE)

2024 2023
Note —EBNEF —E-=F
M & $'000 ¥t $'000 F T
Profit for the year
: 117,788 ,
A B 21,057

Other comprehensive income for the year (after tax)

AEEHMEE RS (FRBEK)

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

HETEREM S ERRS2HA

Remeasurement of employee retirement benefit liabilities

BERKBANEBEZEHTE

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

HETRREMSERRES2HA

Exchange differences on translation of financial statements of
subsidiaries and joint venture outside Hong Kong

HREEBUIIMERBLARREE AR ZMBHRRM
EECEHELE

Cash flow hedge: net movement in the hedging reserve

RERBEH  HihEEFEH

(3,546)

(107,884) (201,452)

1,111

Total comprehensive income for the year

AEEZHWETE
Attributable to:
THALHE:

Equity shareholders of the Company
ARAAREFEA

Non-controlling interests

FERER

Total comprehensive income for the year
13,242 182,830

(182,830)

(137,184)

(45,646)

The notes on pages 129 to 254 form part of these financial £ 129F 2548 2 MizE ARG IEHRKR < — 2010
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEAMBIRAR

At 31st March 2024 R=—ZE-WF=A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L8#E5HE)

Note
F 5F

Non-current assets

FRBEE

Property, plant and equipment

e BERERE

= Inyestmgnt properties
-REWE

- Right-of-use assets

-EREEE

- Other property, plant and equipment

- EAYE - BB KRS

Deposits for the acquisition of property,

plant and equipment

BEYE BERRBZIZ

Intangible assets
BEEE

Interest in joi_rjt venture
BEQTFZER

Deferred tax assets

EEHREEE

Other receivables

H il FE UK

Current assets

MENEE

Inventories

=&

Trade and other receivables

Wi AR R e L A PR ALK

Current tax recoverable

FE W3R B E

Cash and bank deposits
RERBITER

Assets helq for sale
BFELHECEE

Current liabilities

REVEMR

Trade and other payables
EAERR R EMENR

Bank loans
IRITER
Lease liabilities
HEas

Current tax payable

FEA IR BB H

Net current assets/ (liabilities)

BRBEE (8R)

Total assets less current liabilities

BREERRBEE

11(a)

11(f)

12
14
24(b)

16

15
16
24(a)
17(a)

18

19
20
21

24(a)

2024
—EMEF

$°000 F5r $'000 Fit

2,998
432,285
2,668,137

3,103,420

1,112

119

269,555
15,419

3,389,625

554,546
873,312
18,136
794,452
6,624

2,247,070

1,824,727
255,987
104,865

39,797

2,225,376

3,411,319

2023
— =

—_—

$'000 ¥t $'000 Fit

3,124
277,724
3,111,274
3,392,122
419
260,693
3,653,234
639,615
981,850
19,528
555,292
2,196,285
1,963,392
409,633
84,665
14,232
2,471,922
(275,637)
3,377,597
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R A BRSO &

At 31st March 2024 R=ZZE W& =A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L8#5HE)
2024 2023
—8= —E—=
Note = M _ =
E=3 $000Ft $'000 Fit EEoEsr YL

Non-current liabilities

FREBEE

Bank loans
IRITER

Lease liabilities

20 115,053

21 198,000 51,521

Employee retirement benefit liabilities

BERKBANERE

Deferred tax liabilities
EEBIEEE

Other payables
H{h (TR

22(b) 19,164 24,835

24(b) 72,563 76,115

19 8,955 9,483

298,682 277,007
NET ASSETS
REE
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
BRRGEE

Share capital

R

Reserves

s

3,112,637 3,100,590

25 1,044,398 1,021,453

1,960,162 1,963,262

Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 3,004,560 2,984,715
ARTIRERFE AEIGERLHE

Non-controlling interests

FFIZM RS

TOTALEQUITY
s

108,077 115,875

3,112,637 3,100,590

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directorson 20th RZ-ZZE—NEXNA-Z+HEESSH AL ITE

June 2024. B o

Winston Yau-lai LO Roberto GUIDETTI
ERE (B h=

Director Director

EE EE

The notes on pages 129 to 254 form part of these financial 5 129ZF 2548 o MizEF I ARG IEHRKR 2 — 201
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GARRBER

For the year ended 31st March 2024 BZ=—ZE-NFE=A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L8#E5HE)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ADARESEARE
Shares held for
share award Share-based
scheme compensation Non-

Share kitE Capital Surplus Other General Hedging Exchange reserve Retained controlling Total
apital  HEIEE Teserve Teserve Teserve Teserve reserve eseve  RBER Profits Total interests equity
A& R EARE  BHEE  AMHE -REE  HnBE 0 ENBE  BREE  REW At FEREE  BEREE

(note 25(cl(l) ~ (note 25(d)  (note 25(e)i)  (note 25(elfi)  (note 25(eli) (note 25(e)ivl)  (note 25(elfv)) ~ (note 25(elivi)

Note  (WEDS(ON)  (&rosle)  (WFE2s(e)  (BEE2sleli) (W& 2s(elin) (HrEE2sle)  (HE3E25(eli) (B3 25(elvi)

B $000F  $00Fm  S000FT  $00Fm  $000FE  S000Fm  $000FT  $000Fm  S00FT  $000FRT  $000Fm  S000FRT  S000FR

Balance at 1st April 2022
HoB--ERA-RLER 1013028 (10,002) 31522 135,576 (48,242) 2261 637 66926 58701 2007506 3257913 31186 356909

Changes in equity for the year:

FEEIRRET:

Profit for the year
REREA

Qther comprehensive income

Afb2EbE

5 5 (24664 21057

9 o o o o o o 11 (180470) o (3546)  (182,905) (20982 (203887)

Total comprehensive income
EhREE

Transfer from surplus reserve to
retained profits - - - (8974) - - - - - 8974
BEHRAERERZEN

Transfer from capital reserve to
retained profits 250 - - (1,218 - - - - - - 1218
BEARGEREREET
Shares issued on exercise of share
options 25(c) i) 5412 - - - - - - - (746) - 4,666 - 4,666
RTRBRERETRS

Shares issued on vesting of share
awards 25() ) 3013 - - - - - - - (3013)
FERROZBRETRE

Vesting shares pursuant to the share
award scheme 25(d) - 2776 - - - - - - (2388) (388)
RERREETIRRRG

Transfer from share-based
compensation reserve to retained
profits

BRAERREREERZRGET

Equity settled share-based transactions

HRHAIRER RS

Acquisition of non-controlling interests
in a subsidiary i} - - - - (152313) - - - - - (152313) (128032) (280,345)
- BREA Ak ERER

Interim dividend declared in respect of
the current year 25(0) i) - - - - - - - - - (13916) (13916) - (13916)
ERAEEZRERE

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests - - - - - - - - - - - (21,633) (21,633)
BFERERRERS

Balance at 315t March 2023
H-B-zEZRTH-Rbg 1021453 (7.226) 30,304 126,602 (200555) 2261 1748 (113544 T 2046551 2984715 15875 3100590

1111 (180470) S 175 (137,184) (45646)  (182830)

(%82) 982

25549 = 25549 = 25549

The notes on pages 129 to 254 form part of these financial  $#129ZF 2548 ST I ARG IEIRER = — 2015 o
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
meEEREHX

For the year ended 31st March 2024 BZ=—ZE-NFE=A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L8#5HE)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

AORREEE AL
Shares held for
share award Share-based
scheme compensation Non-

Share  RripEEE Capital Surplus Other General Hedging  Exchange reserve  Retained controlling Total
capital HEsE reserve Teserve Teserve reserve reserve reseve  RIGER Profits Total interests equity
k% <R ERRE  BBEE  RHRE  -REE  HREE  ENRE  #ERE  REM At FERER  EXEE

(note 25(c)(i)) ~ (note25(d)) (note25(e)(i) (note 25(e)fi)) (mote 25(e)ii)) (note 25(e)(iv))  (note 25(e)v)) ~(note 25(e)(vi))

Note  (WEEDS(C)  (WRDSI)  (RFEE2s(eli) (M¥ak2s(elil) (M¥ak2s(e)i) (E2s(eliv)  (WEE2s(elv) (MsE2s(elii)

hit $000fx  SooFm  S000Fx  $00Fm  So00Fm  $000FEm  $000Fm  $000Fm  S000Fm  $000Fm  S00Fm  $000FT  $000FR

Balance at 315t March 2023 and
Ist April 2023

R-B-=EZR=+-AR
ZRCEMR-RER

Changes in equity for the year:

AERRRRE:

1021453 (7.226) 30304 126,602 (200555 2261 1748 (113544) T2 2046551 2984715 15875 310059

Profit for the year
E ° ° ” - - - - - 116,367 116367 1421 117,788
REREA
Qther comprehensive income
! - - - - - - 1,748 101,500 - 5,086 98,162 6,384 104,546)
H2EE 7 (17 (101500 OB (634 (104549

Total comprehensive income
o - - - - - - 1748 101,500 - 121453 18205 4963 13242
sEhzes ATt 68

Transfer from surplus reserve to
retained profits - - - (6,576) - - - - - 6576
BEHRAERERZEN

Transfer from capital reserve to
retained profits 25() ) = = (1.218) = = - - - - 1218
BEAREEREREET
Shares issued on exercise of share
options 25(c) i 19791 - - - - - = = (3824) - 15,967 - 15,967
RTEBRERRARL

Shares issued on vesting of share
awards 25(0) ) 3154 - > > > > > > (3154
FERROEEMETRE
Vesting shares pursuant to the share
award scheme 25() - 4516 - - - - - - (4773) 257
RERGRBTHRBRA
Shares purchased for share award
scheme 25(d) - (6,471) - - - - - - - - (6171) - (6,471)
RRARETERERD

Transfer from share-based
;(:;nﬁ;:snsat\on reserve to retained B B B B B B B B 1315) 1315
AR EERRERERZRERT

Equity settled share-based transactions
o = - - - - - - - 21865 - 21865 - 21865
NRHANFER RS

Final dividend approved in respect of
the previous year 25(b) i) = = = = 5 - - - - (15017) (15017) - (15017)
HEBRL-FE2RERE

Interim dividend declared in respect of
the current year 250) i = - - - - - - - - (15,004) (15,004) - (15,004)
SRRz RERE

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests - - - - - = = - - - - (2835) (2835)

nFERERTERS

Balance at 315t March 2024

i 1044398 8,881) 29,086 120,026 200,555 2261 - 215,044) 85920 2147349 3,004,560 108,077 3,112,637
H-B-MEZRZ+-AER 2 (00353 s

The notes on pages 129 to 254 form part of these financial £ 129F254E 2 MizF ARG IEIHRER < — 20
statements.
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— o é% Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

FALRERER

For the year ended 31st March 2024 BZ=—ZE-NFE=A=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L8#E5HE)

Note
Ff 5E

Operating activities

BEEE

Cash generated from operations
REEXERBES

Tax paid:

EHBIIEA :

- Hong Kong Profits Tax paid
-EHEBAEH

- Tax paid outside Hong Kong
-EHBEEUINIMERBIE

Net cash generated from operating activities

RETBRBRLIHE

Investing activities

REED

Payment for the purchase of property, plant
and equipment

BEYX  BERRMHEZRIE

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and
equipment

HEMXE - BERRBRABRIE

Government grants received for acquisition of
plant and equipment

WEE M R 52 2 2 WA # BY

Placement of time deposit maturing after
three months

FEFREBB=EA 2EHFX

Investment in joint venture

REERNTRZRE

Interest received

2 KA E

Net cash used in investing activities

REFHFMAREFHE

17(b)

11(a)

2024 2023
—E-MEFE —E==

$'000 Ft $'000 Tt EEXe0J0ls DYoo 0=

801,070 527,259

(9,028)
(15,876)
790,543 502,355
(146,298) (187,473)
8,190
93
(151,000) =
(23,736) (22,253)
23,225 12,283
(294,294) (189,160)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
mERERER

For the year ended 31st March 2024 BZ=—ZE-NFE=A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L8#5HE)

2024 2023
—E-MEFE —E==

Note
Fi=E $000 F5t $'000 FiT [Nl IE P
Financing activities
L& EEN
Proceeds from new bank loans
P 17 61,334 525,121
$FRIR1T BB 5
Repayment of bank loans
sm a5 17 (310,365) 459,764
HBRTER (© ( )
Capital element of lease rentals paid
s 17 (101,412) 87,860
BHAEES 2 EANBE & L7t
Interest element of lease rentals paid
. 17 (10,550) 5,589
BHEEES 2 FBHE & £
Interest on bank loans paid 17(c) (19,478) (26,958)

EFIRITERZFE
Proceeds from shares issued on exercise of
share options 25(c) (ii) 15,967 4,666
BITEBRERTROMERE
Purchase of shares held for share award
scheme 25(d) (6,171) -
MR RBETEEERND
Payment for acquisition of non-controlling
interest 28
U B SR BR M 22 2 FRIE
Dividends paid to equity shareholders of
the Company (29,983) (13,893)
EAQTREFEARERES

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

) FE 42 R AR R 2 IR 2

(280,345)

(2,835) (21,633)

Net cash used in financing activities

MEEHMARSBE (403,493) (366,255)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents 92,756 (53,060)
RERBFELSEEBEM GRd)REE

Cash and cash equivalents at 1st April

ROAR—BZRERRELEEHER

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

ERgEHooE

554,785 621,365

(4,587) (13,520)

Cash and cash equivalents at 31st March

R=A=+—A2REeRNSSEEE =8 642,954 554,785

The notes on pages 129 to 254 form part of these financial FE129F 254 B 2 MsE I AN SR T 2 — 201D ©
statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS ER R B B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”),
which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing rules”). Material accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are first
effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for
the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial
statements.

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March
2024 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in a joint venture.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that derivative financial
instruments are stated at fair value as explained in the accounting
policies set out in note 1(t).

Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell (see note 1(y)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that
have significant effect on the financial statements and major sources
of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 2.

1 EBEXEFBE

(a) EBIEHA
AMBHEEEBAEERAZ(ERYBRSE
ZANREB(RERP) 2REMRER - (FB
MBHREER) —ACEESBEFMOASEM
ZHBERZENCEBYBRELER) (&
BEEADKRE - AYBHELS TS EH
BERZMERAAFZFLHHRB (T EHRAD
ZERBEERE AREERMZEREHBE
RT X -

BRETMASCEME T(FBUBHRELER)
ZIERA  ARAEE 2 ERN ST HEERE
MHEAHERERA - BREALEEARAEE
BT ERMRESI BN EMRBEEHEZ
EAEARREBERAVBRERARR - B
BEERENME L) -

(b) MBEBRRZEREE
BE-_Z-_NE=ZA=1+—-BLEEZHEH
BRECERADAREMB AR (FEAE®)])
URAEER—RBEE DT 2’ -

BREELFE S RREMB 2 ITESRMTA
BRAAEEN  RRUBHMREUE LKA
ERTEEE -

FFHEFRRDEERRAERAFEREE
AR E B 28K E SRR (RHEE ) °

EHEAERRNTE(EBUBRELEL) 28
BHRREGEHSHESTBERER  UREE -
BE WARIHZHRESE 2 HE - E5HR
B o WEAF RARBRRKREREAEERM
EEERNRERERAAREZZHAMER
B HERBREEEBEEEREAME
RENR S X E &S E 2 MR E K AT 4F ) &
ZEH BRAERTREA BN GBI -

EEESTHENSEMATMEBMRE -5
AT BRI R EE MR - AIZERTE
SEMETHERER  WRETHES
MARBEIERE  MEFLET 2 HEHM
KRR HERD o

FREEETRAC(EBMB|RE LR BEHE

HHEMBEBRRBEATE ZHE - URMGETT
BERZZEBRRZARART  HRHEFE2-
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following new and amended HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA to these financial statements for the current
accounting period:

- HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts

- Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies, changes in
accounting estimates and errors: Definition of accounting
estimates

- Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements
and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making materiality
Jjudgements: Disclosure of accounting policies

- Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred tax related
to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction

- Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: International tax
reform - Pillar Two model rules

None of these developments have had a material effect on how the
Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior periods
have been prepared or presented in these financial statements. The
Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not
yet effective for the current accounting period.

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries (including structured entities) are entities controlled
by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has power,
only substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are
considered.

A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting
or similar rights are not the dominant factor in deciding who controls
the entity, such as when any voting rights relate to administrative
tasks only and the relevant activities are directed by means of
contractual arrangements.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7
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() BHBRZE2H
AEEERASH AN ZAMBHRREAUT
HEBSEHMASRM 2T REBT(ER
RS R E R -

- (EBMBREEFI7RIRESH]
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[EH EAHE - Eat BEKE | 2187

- (EBREHEADSB 125K  HER
REELZEERREBHZELNE]
ZAERT

- (BBEFERDFE12R[FEH - EEH
BHE-STHZHAEA |2 EFT

BETAEREASERAMBRRMFERS
EINAEERAHERNBERE 2 RERME
MR 2 A RNERERTE - NEE I HEE A &
ARASH B ER 2 EAMTERRRE -

(d) FMEXRARFEERES

MEBLR (BEEBMUER) AAREMESZ
BER -EXKECSHEEEBCERESIR
BEST2EK REEIBEHERTHEEE
HMPEZEL®R  AFAEEEFHZERE - B
FEAEERTERAR  REEAEET (B
REBEREMATRER) -

ERMERBRAENRLCTETHERLES AR
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EBREBDREBENZHAINEE -



Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented on
the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from
holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual obligations
towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position in accordance with notes
1(n) or (o) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in
a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change
in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.

1 EXEHBEE@

(d) MBLQARIFEERES @
RHBAR R SRR EENAHNESSE
RESLPEAGAUBRREAAKR &
RAFZEAZES TERELSHE URE
ERARZEZRSREE ZEARSEEF
RN REG S BB R RS2 B - MERE
BE EERNATIZHZIRSEEZASRE
BIRA SR WEAR 2 5 XM o
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or joint venture
(see note 1(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in
a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 1(j)(ii))
unless it is classified as held for sale (see note 1(y)).

(e) Joint venture

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or Company
and other parties contractually agree to share control of the
arrangement, and have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements under the equity method, unless it is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified
as held for sale (see note 1(y))). Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of
the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s
identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment (if any). The
cost of the investment includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and any direct
investment into the joint venture that forms part of the Group’s
equity investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net
assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment (see note
1(j)(ii)). Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any
impairment losses for the year are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive
income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

1 EXEFBER®@m

(d MEBRRRIEZRES @)
BAREBMEAHHBAT 2 REE  BiEHE
UMBAT ARG MHELEZRE
RIBHER - EMREAEHEESENRE>

ZAMBAR 2 BE I RAAERR Mk
BPWERVNREIESHEE 2D AE  H(WE

M) MEBREARBE QT
A (RFEE 1(e)) o

BEE QAT ZREZ

RRABRZHBERRERATRMBAR ZRETS
BEARAMER S RERBER AR (R 1))
BRIEEDERIFELHE (RMELY) -

EIHP?-D‘

)
*E’&ﬂ?%$’§l‘i$’& ARHMATREN
EToRESERFEERER IR -

BREEQRANRERIBAFFHEIMAAR
DEAFELENHEAR (R 1Uy) 5
REERANRERRERECAGEUBR
ROWEEUBAANR ZRABREERNEE
AERGZRENTHRBIFEEZ A BB
BAZEMEE (NE) REXAFBEBEE
% EERBRUBREZEMEAREEX
FEBRERE-HIZEELAZEMNERE
RE-I® FTHEEUBRIAEEEGZR
EREEZEBRAME 1)) FREEZRE
HRERK EMBHWEBR KA  A5H
BAEZRERBRNCRBENEERFERN
FARERROEGEBRERABER  MAK
EEEZREVBRNC KR 2 M2 E RS
HENEGEBRBEREMEEBSERAER



Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(e) Joint venture (continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the joint
venture, the Group'’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance form
part of the Group’s net investment in the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the investee, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which
case they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate or vice versa, retained interest is not remeasured. Instead,
the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity
method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have joint control over a
joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the date
when joint control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset.

(f)  Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest (see note 1(i)) to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held
for a currently undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated in the statement of financial
position at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see note 1(j)ii)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(f)  Investment properties (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of investment
properties using the straight-line method over the shorter of the
unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful lives, being no
more than 50 years.

The useful life of investment properties is reviewed annually.

Rental income from investment properties is accounted for as
described in note 1(u)(iii).

(g) Other property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated
in the statement of financial position at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 1(j)(ii)):

- Freehold land and buildings;

- Interests in leasehold land and building where the Group is the
registered owner of the property interest (see note 1(i));

- Right-of use assets arising from leases over freehold or
leasehold properties where the Group is not the registered
owner of the property interest; and

- Other items of plant and equipment including right-of-use
assets arising from leases of underlying plant and equipment
(see note 1(i)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment
includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial estimate,
where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items
and restoring the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs (see note
1(w)).

Items may be produced while bringing an item of property, plant
and equipment to the location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
The proceeds from selling any such items and the related costs are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(g) Other property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using
the straight line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

- Freehold land is not depreciated.

- Buildings situated on freehold land are depreciated over their
estimated useful lives, being no more than 25 years.

- Leasehold land and buildings are depreciated over the shorter
of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful lives,

being no more than 50 years.

- Other plant and equipment:

Factory machinery and equipment 4 - 25 years
Fixtures, furniture and office equipment 3 - 12 years
Motor vehicles 4 - 10 years

No provision for depreciation is made for construction in progress
until such time when the assets are substantially completed and
ready for use.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable
basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(h) Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful life is
finite) and impairment losses (see note 1(j)(ii)).

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated
useful lives. The following intangible assets with finite useful lives
are amortised from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

- Brand name 20 years
- Customer list 7 years
- Pollution discharge right 5 years

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are
assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful life of
an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support the indefinite
useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and in accordance with the
policy for amortisation of intangible assets with finite lives as set out
above.

(i) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from that use.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

1 EXEHBEE@

(hy ®|EEE

75 SR B W 2 SR R R 5 R 8
(fifE st AT A F AR RAEFRRIIR (R
BFE 2G)(i))

ERRERUERFHcETLEEREREEMR
SHAERFHAUNESEREZEANER - T
EEERUERFH2ELEERETHER
ERBEE AMASTUEAFHOT

- RIEZE 20
- BFRE 7%
- B 5

BEC BN RGNS FR -

MBETEENTEREEERTERFH - A
TEFEE BREECIERAFHEERZ
IMEREBFRN  UEEREFERBES
HREABEBEZFEHEEARERTERSF
Mot -mEREE AEREEAHER
AERFEHEERER AR 2 EEARIEH
BEREVRELEXHERAEEERTERFH 2
EBREEFHBHE CHRETFAR-

() HEEE

RENFHRE  AEESFAEENEEEHEE
FESHE - HENARRREMETE—R
REANZEFCRINEEER BN ZEH
BHEREsHE HEFREEEREER
BEZER THEABZEATESEBAES
RERD AEHECES -



Notes to the Financial Statements
e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(i) Leased assets (continued)
(i)  Asalessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset,
the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a systematic basis over
the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised
at the present value of the lease payments payable over the lease
term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if
that rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability is
measured at amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement
of the lease liability and hence are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred.
Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see notes 1(g) and
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(i) Leased assets (continued)
(i) As alessee (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in
the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease modification”)
that is not accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification. The only exceptions are any rent concessions which
arose as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
which satisfied the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS
16 Leases. In such cases, the Group took advantage of the practical
expedient set out in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and recognised the
change in consideration as if it were not a lease modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current
portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as the present
value of contractual payments that are due to be settled within
twelve months after the reporting period.

The Group presents right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately
in the statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(i) Leased assets (continued)
(i) As alessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception
whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets
to the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified as an
operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The rental income from operating leases is recognised in accordance
with note 1(u)(iii).

()  Credit loss and impairment of assets
(i) Credit loss from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs") on financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit
losses are measured as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive).

Where the effect of discounting is material, the expected cash
shortfalls are discounted using the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition or an approximation thereof for trade and other
receivables.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

() Credit loss and impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Credit loss from financial instruments (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost
or effort. This includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result
from possible default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from
all possible default events over the expected lives of the items
to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowance for trade and other receivables is always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. ECLs are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and
an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either
partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

() Credit loss and impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period to identify indications that the following
assets may be impaired or an impairment loss previously recognised
no longer exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets
and investment properties;

- intangible assets;
- interest in joint venture; and

- investment in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of
financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a
cash-generating unit).

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then, to
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), or value in use (if
determinable).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

() Credit loss and impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets (continued)

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.

(iii)  Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group is required to prepare
an interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of the financial
year. At the end of the interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at
the end of the financial year (see notes 1(j)(i) and (ii)).

(k) Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average method and comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories
is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories
to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as
an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in
the period in which the reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

()  Receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment
of that consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allowance for credit losses (see note 1(j)(i)).

(m) Software-as-a-service (SaaS) arrangement costs

A Saa$ arrangement is a service arrangement where the Group has a
right to access to the supplier’s application software running on the
supplier’s cloud infrastructure during the term of the arrangement,
but not control over the underlying software asset.

Costs to implement a SaaS arrangement, including those incurred in
configuring or customising the access to the supplier’s application
software, are evaluated to determine if they give rise to a separate
asset that the Group controls. Any resulting asset is recognised and
accounted for in accordance with the policy for intangible assets as
set out in note 1(h). Implementation costs that do not give rise to an
asset are recognised in profit or loss as incurred, which may be over
the period the configuration or customisation services are received
to the extent that such services are distinct from the SaaS, or over
the term of the SaaS arrangement to the extent the configuration or
customisation services are not distinct from the SaaS.

Payment made in advance of receiving the related services is
recognised as prepayment.

(n) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised and redemption
value being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable, using the
effective interest method.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(o) Payables and contract liabilities
(i) Payables

Payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

(i) Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue (see
note 1(u)). A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised (see note 1(l)).

(p) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL in
accordance with the policy set out in note 1(j)(i).

() Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are charged as expense in the year as the related service are
provided by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these amounts are stated at their
present values.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(d) Employee benefits (continued)
(i) Defined benefit retirement plan obligations

The Group has the following two categories of defined benefit plans:

- defined benefit retirement plan registered under the Hong
Kong Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance, Vitasoy
International Holdings Limited Defined Benefit Scheme (the
“DB Plan”).

- long service payments (“LSP”) under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is
calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior
periods and discounting that amount. For the DB Plan, the net
obligation is after deducting the fair value of plan assets. For LSP
obligations, the estimated amount of future benefit is determined
after deducting the negative service cost arising from the accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”)
contributions that have been vested with employees, which are
deemed to be contributions from the relevant employees.

The calculation of defined benefit obligation is performed by a
qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. For the
DB Plan, when the calculation results in a benefit to the Group,
the recognised asset is limited to the present value of economic
benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit plans, which comprise
actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets in the DB Plan
(excluding interest) and the effect of any asset ceiling (excluding
interest), are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income.
Net interest expense for the period is determined by applying the
discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the
beginning of the reporting period to the then net defined benefit
liability, taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit
liability during the period. Net interest expense and other expenses
related to defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss and

» o«

allocated by function as part of “cost of sales”, “marketing, selling and

distribution expenses”, “administrative expenses” or “other operating
expenses”.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(d) Employee benefits (continued)
(iii)  Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based
compensation plans under which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments of the Company.
These plans comprise share option schemes and a share award
scheme.

The fair value of share options or share awards granted to employees
is recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in
the share-based compensation reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options or the awarded shares were granted. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options or the awarded shares, the
total estimated fair value of the options or the awarded shares is
spread over the vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the options or the awarded shares will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options or the
awarded shares that are expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years
is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year of the review,
unless the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as
an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based
compensation reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options or
awarded shares that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the
share-based compensation reserve) except where forfeiture is only
due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market
price of the Company'’s shares.

For the share option schemes, the equity amount is recognised in the
share-based compensation reserve until either the option is exercised
(when it is included in the amount recognised in share capital for the
shares issued) or the option expires (when it is released directly to
retained profits).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(d) Employee benefits (continued)

(iii)  Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(continued)

For the share award scheme, the Group may acquire its own shares
through the trustee of the share award scheme on the Stock
Exchange for the shares to be vested under the share award scheme.
The shares acquired by the Group that are not yet vested for this
share award scheme were recorded as treasury shares and recorded
as “Shares held for share award scheme” as a deduction under
equity. Upon vesting of the awarded shares, the related costs of the
acquired shares are reduced from the “Shares held for share award
scheme”, and the related fair value of the awarded shares are debited
to share-based compensation reserve with the difference charged/
credited to equity.

The Group may also issue new shares for the vested share awards.
The amount previously recognised in share-based compensation
reserve will be transferred to share capital upon the issuance of new
shares.

(iv)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when it
recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of termination
benefits.

(r)  Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. It is
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a
business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in
other comprehensive income.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or receivable on
the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustments to the
tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount
of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty
related to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includes
any tax arising from dividends.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

() Income tax (continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are
met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination
and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences;

- temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries,
associates and joint venture to the extent that the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the
foreseeable future; and

- those related to the income taxes arising from tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two
model rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
separately in relation to its lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax
credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the
reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of
taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred
tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals
of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the
business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax
assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be
realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future
taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are
met.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(s)  Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation
is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(t) Cash flow hedges

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge
of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or liability or a
highly probable forecast transaction or the foreign currency risk of
a committed future transaction, the effective portion of any gains
or losses on re-measurement of the derivative financial instrument
to fair value is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the hedging reserve. The
ineffective portion of any gain or loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

If the hedging instrument is a non-derivative monetary item, which
is permitted only for foreign currency risk, then the effective portion
of the foreign currency gains or losses on the hedging instrument
also are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the hedging reserve. The ineffective portion
of any foreign currency gains or losses are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the
recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability, the
associated gain or loss reclassified from equity is to be included in
the initial cost or other carrying amount of the non-financial asset or
liability.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(t)  Cash flow hedges (continued)

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the
recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, the associated
gain or loss is reclassified from equity to profit or loss in the same
period or periods during which the asset acquired or liability assumed
affects profit or loss (such as when interest income or expense is
recognised).

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the preceding
two policy statements, the associated gain or loss is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss in the same period or periods during which
the hedged forecast transaction affects profit or loss.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or
exercised, or the entity revokes designation of the hedge relationship
but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur, the
cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in equity until the
transaction occurs and it is recognised in accordance with the above
policy. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place,
the cumulative unrealised gain or loss is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss immediately.

(u) Revenue recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the
sale of goods, the provision of services or the use by others of the
Group's assets under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is
transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use the
asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which the Group
is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

The Group takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph
63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any
effects of a significant financing component if the period of financing
is 12 months or less.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(u) Revenue recognition (continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

(i) Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes possession of and
accepts the products. If the products are a partial fulfilment of a
contract covering other goods and/or services, then the amount
of revenue recognised is an appropriate proportion of the total
transaction price under the contract, allocated between all the goods
and services promised under the contract on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

(i)  Service fees

Service fees are recognised when the related services are provided.
Service fees exclude value added tax or other sales taxes.

(iii)  Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss in equal instalments over the periods covered by the
lease term. Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are
earned.

(iv)  Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost
that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to
the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e.
gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see note
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(u) Revenue recognition (continued)
(v)  Dividend income

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the
shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

(vi)  Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial
position initially when there is reasonable assurance that they will
be received and that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are
deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and consequently
are effectively recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the
asset by way of reduced depreciation expense.

(v)  Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss,
except those non-derivative monetary items used to hedge foreign
currency risk which are recognised in other comprehensive income
(see note 1(t)).

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction date is
the date on which the Group initially recognises such non-monetary
assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(v)  Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

The results of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of
financial position items, including goodwill arising on consolidation
of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong, are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity
in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a subsidiary outside Hong Kong, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that subsidiary
outside Hong Kong is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when
the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from monetary items that
in substance form part of the net investment in an operation outside
Hong Kong, together with any related tax, are reclassified to equity
on consolidation.

(w) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
complete.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(x)  Repair and maintenance expenditure

Repair and maintenance expenditure, including cost of overhaul, is
expensed as incurred.

(y)  Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if it is highly
probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather
than through continuing use.

Such assets are generally measured at the lower of their carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell. Impairment losses on initial
classification as held for sale and subsequent gains and losses on
remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Once classified as held for sale, property, plant and equipment are no
longer depreciated, and any equity-accounted investee is no longer
equity accounted.

(z) Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other

entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(z) Related parties (continued)

(b)  (continued)
(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

(aa) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

2  Accounting judgements and estimates

Notes 14, 22 and 23 contain information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to interest in joint venture impairment
assessment, defined benefit retirement liabilities and the fair value
of share options and share awards granted. Other key sources of
estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(@) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

If circumstances indicate that the carrying values of property,
plant and equipment may not be recoverable, the assets may be
considered “impaired”, and an impairment loss may be recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36, Impairment of assets. Under HKAS 36,
these assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that their recorded carrying amounts may
not be recoverable. When such a decline has occurred, the carrying
amount is reduced to recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is the greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and the value in
use. In determining the value in use, expected cash flows generated
by the asset are discounted to their present value, which requires
significant judgement relating to level of sales volume, selling
prices and amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily
available information in determining an amount that is a reasonable
approximation of recoverable amount. However, actual sales
volumes, selling prices and operating costs may be different from
assumptions which may require a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of the assets affected. Details of the nature and carrying
amounts of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in note 11.

(b) Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses and
temporary deductible differences. As those deferred tax assets
can only be recognised to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax benefits
can be utilised, management judgement is required to assess the
probability of future taxable profits. Management’s assessment
is constantly reviewed and additional deferred tax assets are
recognised if it becomes probable that future taxable profits will
allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered. Details of the nature
and carrying amounts of deferred tax assets are disclosed in note
24(b).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

3 Revenue and segment reporting

(@) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of
food and beverages.

Revenue represents the invoiced value of products sold, net of
returns, rebates and discounts.

No disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers is
presented as the entire revenue of the Group is derived from the
manufacture and sale of food and beverages, and is recognised at
point in time.

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by entities, which are organised
geographically. In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has presented the following four
reportable segments. No operating segments have been aggregated
to form the following reportable segments.

- The Mainland China business mainly represents the
manufacture and sale of soya milk, tea, juice, etc. in Mainland
China;

- The Hong Kong Operation (Hong Kong SAR, Macau SAR
and Exports) mainly represents the manufacture and sale
of soya milk, tea, water, juice, tofu, etc. in Hong Kong SAR,
sale of beverages in Macau SAR, export of beverages from
Hong Kong SAR and the operating of tuck shops and catering
businesses in Hong Kong SAR;

- The Australia and New Zealand business mainly represents
the manufacture and sale of soya milk and other plant milk
products in Australia and sale of beverages in New Zealand;
and

- The Singapore business mainly represents the manufacture
and sale of soya related products in Singapore, sale of
beverages in Singapore and the export of soya related
products.

All of the Group’s revenue is generated from the manufacture and
sale of food and beverages.
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PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

3 Revenue and segment reporting (continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)
(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Group’s most senior executive
management monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable
to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible assets and
current assets with the exception of interest in joint venture,
deferred tax assets, current tax recoverable and unallocated head
office and corporate assets. Segment liabilities include trade creditors
and bills payable attributable to the manufacture and sales activities
of the individual segments, bank loans, lease liabilities and other
liabilities managed directly by the segments with the exception of
employee retirement benefit liabilities, deferred tax liabilities, current
tax payable and unallocated head office and corporate liabilities.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “profit from
operations”. To arrive at “profit from operations”, the Group's profit
is further adjusted for items not specifically attributed to individual
segments, such as finance costs, share of losses of joint venture,
integration expenses in relation to the assumption of full ownership
of Vitasoy Australia Products Pty. Ltd. (“VAP”) and unallocated
head office and corporate expenses. Income tax is not allocated to
reporting segments. Inter-segment sales are priced at cost plus a
profit margin.
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PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

3 Revenue and segment reporting (continued) 3 WARSER RS (@

(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) I E (@)

(i)  Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (i) DEFE BEREEE)
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided  E_E_NER-_ZE-=F=A=+—-HL

to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes FE BEERAEEGSETHREEASRM
of resource allocation and assessment of segment performancefor ZEREBEERSBRRTE2BAREDHER

the years ended 31st March 2024 and 2023 is set out below: HHWT :
Mainland China Hong Kong Operation Australia and New Zealand Singapore Total
RE Rt FBEE RN R ER AR @t
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

ZE-NE -—E-=fF ZB-MNE —E-=F ZB-NE —E-=f ZB-NE —E-=F ZB-NE —2-=%
$000FL  $000F;x  $000Fm  $000F;w  $000F;T  $000F;w  $000FXT  $000F;  $000FT  $000F T

Revenue from external customers 3359080 3509101 2224359 2143815 526676 580325 107,008 107318 6217123 6340559

RENEBEEZBA

gtjﬂr%e@"f”t revenue 148870 138276 34232 20079 3253 3408 3,650 4491 190005 166254
[b &

Reportable segment revenue

el 3507950 3647377 2258591 2163894 529929 583733 110658 111809 6407128 6506813

Reportable segment profit/(loss)
from operations 220,535 45918 224,746 218,036 (80,890) 7,635 (12,855) (12,130) 351,536 259,459
BREFBZEEERT/ (BR)

Interest income from bank
deposits 1,756 2,669 20,835 9,348 634 266 = 23,225 12,283
ROFRZFBHA

Finance costs
&R
Depreciation and amortisation for
the year (306,955) (315,060) (190,244) (189,284) (20,080) (19,660) (5,695) (5,609) (522,974) (529,613)
AEEZEREH
(Recognition)/reversal of
impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment (14,009) (2,414) 1,843 (2,227) = - = (12,166) (4,641)
(BR) /BENE BERR
ZHEBE
Impairment losses on assets held
for sale (3,593) - = - = - = (3,593) -
HFELEZEEZHERSE
Reportable segment assets

AREIW2EE

(13,181) (22,639) (10,434) (7,120) (5,969) (2,360) (444) (428) (30,028) (32,547)

2,641,289 3169659 4164017 33848483 431,439 448,202 117,809 119,046 7,354,554 7,585,390

Reportable segment liabilities

1,922,598 1,148,531 338,454 32,812 3,442,395
BREAD S AE 2,366,732 1,015,704 232,263 32,562 3,647,261

Additions to non-current segment
assets during the year 50,678 102,567 312,256 80,325 43,165 20,252 879 2,503 406,978 205,647
AEEHEZERBIDEE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

3 Revenue and segment reporting (continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

3 WARZBHE

(b) ZEFHE (@)

R a R ATE R

(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profitor (i) ZBAIETEKA - 1B  BEREE
loss, assets and liabilities ZE R
2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F
$'000 F T $'000 F 7t
Revenue
YA
?;g; f?'f;;gqr;i’t revente 6,407,128 6,506,813
7k =008
glg;ﬁaag?iozf;g;ﬁe\;segment revenue (190,005) (166,254)
=NE 3
;’fﬁ;ﬁfted revenue 6,217,123 6,340,559
R
2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F
$’000 F T $'000 F 7t
Profit or loss
b=k
R;potréaﬁle segimfft_p%rjfit from operations 351,536 259459
BREDTHZRE R
Finance costs (note 5(a))
R A (3 5(a) S (32,547)
Share of losses of joint venture
PNy e R7EL (22,253)
Integration expenses in relation to assumption of full ownership of VAP
o 9,704 43,403
SREVAPR B A RENEANS Szl SN
Unallocated head office and corporate expenses
oyl P P (156,400) (112,463)
Consolidated profit before taxation 131,668 48,793
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

3 Revenue and segment reporting (continued) 3 WARSEE®RE @
(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) ZEFHE (@)
(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profitor (i) ZBAIETEKA - 1Bi  BEREE
loss, assets and liabilities (continued) ZHER (&)
2024 2023
—EomEF —EC=F
$’000 F T $'000 F 7t
Assets
BE
Reportable segment assets
3 7,354,554 7,585,390
BREDB2EE
Elimination of inter-segment receivables
N N A 2,006,347 2,017,528
250 U 3K 2 ( ) ( )
5,348,207 5,567,862
Deferred tax assets
N s 269,555 260,693
FEIERIEEE
Current tax recoverable
. 18,136 19,528
JE Uit 38 A B 18

Unallocated head office and corporate assets

ROBMZBRRAREXEE

Consolidated total assets
N 5,636,695 5,849,519

797 1,436
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

3 Revenue and segment reporting (continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or
loss, assets and liabilities (continued)

3 WARZBHEE @

(b) ZEFHE (@)

Liabilities
8&

Reportable segment liabilities
AREDHZ2EE
Elimination of inter-segment payables

70 #B & FE A R 2 il 85

Employee retirement benefit liabilities

BERAKENER

Deferred tax liabilities

EERIBRE

Current tax payable

P IR EABEH

UnaIIocated head office and corporate liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities
meEHmas

(i) ABEEDHHUA Bz BHERERE
2 ¥R ()
2024 2023
—E_UE —E-=F
$'000 7t $'000 F 7t
3,442,395 3,647,261
(1,050,176) (1,015,339)
2,392,219 2,631,922
19,164 24,835
72,563 76,115
39,797 14,232
315 1,825
2,524,058 2,748,929
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e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

3 Revenue and segment reporting (continued)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

(iii)  Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the geographic
location of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, deposits for
the acquisition of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets
and interest in joint venture (“specified non-current assets”). The
geographic location of the specified non-current assets is based
on the physical location of the asset, in the case of property, plant
and equipment and deposits for the acquisition of property, plant
and equipment, and the location of the operation to which they
are allocated, in the case of intangible assets and the location of
operations, in the case of interest in joint venture.

3 WARZBHEE @

(b) I E (@)
(i)  HEZHF
TREINEBRFAEEYE BERRE2HIE
NE BEVE RERLREZITS 8FE
ERREELTAZER (BEERBEE] 2
ER -MYWE BERREBERBEEWE BE
REZIEME BEEARBDEE 2 HEN
ENREZEECERHEEE REFEE
MEEEERBECERXFIEN  RREEQ
BZERMES NIEERTER o

Specified non-current assets

Mainland China

H B A

Hong Kong Operation
BEBEK

Australia and New Zealand
BN R F R

Singapore

eI

BEFREEE
2024 2023
—E-mE —E=F
$'000 F T $'000 T
2,024,787 2,443,857
784,991 663,226
251,062 235,809
43,811 49,649
3,104,651 3,392,541

The revenue from external customers and specified non-current
assets of the Group attributed to Hong Kong, the Group’s place of
domicile, amounted to $1,962,229,000 (2023: $1,888,674,000) and
$775,554,000 (2023: $655,129,000) respectively.

BRGREMAEH) EAEEREIEE
BEZBARFAEEREFRRBEED BB
1,962,229,000 7t (=& = =4 : 1,888,674,000
L) ®775,554,000L (=& = = & :
655,129,0007T) °
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 1% 3R R Y 5
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(REEHPIN  LUBEHE)
4  Otherincome 4 Hitlg A
2024 2023

i e 11 £ 2 —g=-=
$'000 F T $'000 Tt

Government grants (Note)

. 64,397
BB (BEE)
COVID-19-related rent concessions (note 17(c)) 12.869
2019 BAR B S mAHREFE € BER (MHEE 17(c)) ’
Int ti f bank d it
n /e_res;n?omeg rom bank deposits 12,283
RITERZFEWA
Rental income
4,179
HeWA
Scrap sales
o 4,823
RERIEHE
Rebate from a vendor on acquisition of property, plant and equipment _
MEBEVE BRERZBHRESESZE
Malntt\enance recharge income 5.606
K EHEEE R A
Sundry income
N 9,689
MW A
84,243 113,846
Note: B &E -

During the current year, government grants of $24,137,000 (2023: RAEAER —EHEE-_Z-ZEFRPERBHRE
$32,092,000) were received from the government of the People’s Republic of MESGEARELNE (HE]) BRF—S®mEH
China (“PRC") in relation to an investment in Mainland China in 2020. 24,137,000t (ZE = =4 : 32,092,0007T) °

During the previous year, other government grants included COVID-19 REBFE  HME2019BRBESHEBEMR +
financial assistance in Mainland China, Hong Kong SAR and Singapore A~ BB BT BUE R 0 &t BUS B S
amounting to $25,521,000 and other government grants of $93,000 received 25,521,000 THB) c UEMBEWE BRERRZREK
from the government of the PRC in relation to the acquisition of property, BAEBAzEMBF#EE 93,000 tE EREE
plant and equipment were netted off against the cost of the related assets ZEAHIBR (MiEE11(a)

(note 11(a)).
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e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

5

Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

5 BRWRANEd

BRBADERE KR (GEA) ¢

2024 2023
—EmEF —E—-=
$'000 F 7T $000 Tt
(a) Finance costs:
B E AN
Int t on bank | te 17
n /e_rss:rl anEI oan_s (note 17(c)) 26,958
RTERZHE (FHEE17(c)
Interest on lease liabilities (note 17(c)) 5 589
HEEEZANE (MFE17(c) ’
32,547
2024 2023
—EomEF —E-=
$'000 F 35t $'000 F 7t
(b) Staff costs:
BIRA:
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
T N - 106,547 111,710
REMFRIRGT B 2 K
Net expenses recognised in respect of:
LTEEZEERERFE
- Retirement gratuities (note 22(c)(v)) 2266
- BRE (EE22(c)(v) ’
- Long service payments (note 22(d)(i)) 16.369
-REBRBE S (FFEE22(d)i) ’
Total retirement costs
R N 109,671 130,345
#IR PR S
Equity settled share-based payment expenses (note 23)
N . 21,865 25,549
UERHAEEIRER 2B A (MEE23)
Severance payments
o 14,657 18,347
EHEH
Salaries, wages and other benefits
» W ° 1,524,766 1,492,128
Fe IERHEMEF
1,670,959 1,666,369

Annual Report 2023/2024 £ E# & @



Notes to the Financial Statements
e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

5  Profit before taxation (continued) 5 BR#AER @
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BREADERN SR (GEA) : (&)

(continued)

2024 2023
—F-mEF —F=-=
$'000 Tt $'000 F 7t
(c) Other operating expenses:
Hih K& BER -
Staff costs
_ R 173,981 175,902
BIRA
Sundry tax in Mainland China
37,910 39,768
FR B P b B9 L Ath B 1B
Management fee charged by a related party (note 29(a)) 25371
B S WA EE B (M5 29(a)) ’
Withholding tax on royalty and interest income 12214
BHECHAERFEWATELNR ’
lit d li
S;L:I yﬁassurance and sampling expenses 16,707
EERBFREAER
Depreciation and amortisation
. " 14,883
MEREH
Professional fee
w 14,856
EXE
Repair and maintenance expenses 7516
BERRERR ’
Exchange loss
e 9,622
EHEE
Donation
. 1,799
B
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 17(b)) (802)
HEME BERREZEER () FE (HE170)
Recognition/(reversal) of write down of inventories (2.409)
e (BE) MRFEE ’
(Reversal)/recognition of impairment losses on trade and other
receivables (note 17(b)) 1,278
(BE) /HERR e iR 7X % H fth FE W R 2 R B B 18 (T EE 17(b)
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment (note 17(b)) 4641
M BEREZEZRERBRE (M 17(0) ’
Impairment losses on assets held for sale (note 17(b)) _
BIEHECEEZRBERE (HE17()
Others
4,295
Hith
332,910 325,641

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. #Eftt B EFREEE B R A A



Notes to the Financial Statements
e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

5  Profit before taxation (continued) 5 BR#AER @
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BREADERN SR (GEA) : (&)

(continued)

2024 2023
—EMF —E=-=
$'000 Tt $'000 F 7t
(d) Other items:
HER
Government grants (Note)
30,818
BB (H3E) ( ) (104,054)

COVID-19-related rent concessions (note 11(b))
2019 Bk im S mHEEE € B (e 11(b)
Amortisation of intangible assets

B EE2H#E

Depreciation

e

- Investment properties

-REWE

- Right-of-use assets

-ERAEEE

- Other assets

-HitbEE

Auditors’ remuneration

3 El e

- Audit services

- EZRTE

- Other audit-related services

- At F % E B BR

- Tax services

- BB

Variable lease payments not included in the measurement
of lease liabilities (note 11(b)) 17,609 14,585

R AHEEREFE 2 UEHEENF (M 11(b))

Net foreign exchange loss

SN BT 18 5

Cost of inventories (note 15(b))

FE A (M EE 15(b)

(828) (17,729)

279 292

126 126

105,509 99,569

417,060 429,626

6,697

294

410

4,458 11,097

3,112,848 3,327,851

Annual Report 2023/2024 £ E# & @



Notes to the Financial Statements

PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

5 Profit before taxation (continued)

Note:

During the current year, government grants of $24,137,000 (2023:
$32,092,000) were received from the government of the PRC in relation to
an investment in Mainland China in 2020.

During the previous year, other government grants included COVID-19
financial assistance in Mainland China, Hong Kong SAR, and Singapore
amounting to $65,178,000, of which $25,521,000 was included in other
income, $34,304,000 was netted off against staff costs and $5,353,000 was
netted off against cost of sales and operating expenses.

6 Income taxin the consolidated statement of
profit or loss

(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss represents:

5 BR#HEBEER @
Ff&E -

RAFER —HAB-Z-ZFRTERMBNIRET
BEPEBN—E%BI1£ 24,137,000t (ZE==F:
32,092,0007T) °

REBEE  H4E2019BRFESHFHEBMA S
Erth - EBEBNTHERF MBS HBRFESH
65,178,000 ST By - E A H MUk A % 25,521,000 7T
34,304,000 T B2 & T i A {EIK 88 » % 5,353,000 7t £
HER AR EE AIEKSE -

6 HKREHEZmRZAF/H

(a) HEBBRZBEMT :

2024 2023
1 £ 3 —==-=
$'000 F 35t $'000 F 7t

Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax
REARE-FBFEH
Provision for the year

FRRE

(Over)/under-provision in respect of prior years

UEFEZ (BHEBHE) MBETE

Current tax - Outside Hong Kong
REBE-FBUIIMIE

Provision for the year

FRRE

Over-provision in respect of prior years

DEFEzshRE

Deferred tax

IEEHLTH

17,270

3,585

15,239 20,855

24,783

(1,868)

22,915

(16,034)

27,736
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PR AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

6

(a)

Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

Income tax in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss (continued)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss represents: (continued)

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2024 is calculated at
16.5% (2023: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year.

In accordance with the relevant PRC corporate income tax laws,
regulations and implementation guidance notes, the statutory income
tax rate applicable to the Company’s subsidiaries in Shenzhen, Foshan,
Shanghai, Wuhan, Dongguan and Nansha is 25%.

In addition, the Group is subject to withholding tax at the applicable
rate of 5% on distribution of profits generated after 31st December
2007 from the Group’s foreign-invested enterprises in Mainland
China. Deferred tax liabilities have been provided for in this regard
based on the expected dividends to be distributed from the foreign-
invested enterprises in Mainland China in the foreseeable future in
respect of the profits generated after 31st December 2007.

Taxation for subsidiaries outside Hong Kong SAR and Mainland China
is charged at the appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the
relevant tax jurisdictions.

(a)

MyEE -

(ii)

(iii)

FERERZAEH @

GEBERZBENOT @)

SRS ESRERBEREE N2
ERBAF L 16.5% (ZEZ=F 1 16.5%) Z
BIEHE o

REBBEHESEFFEEER ERRERE
SR BARALEZRI - #L - £E-
RE REREDPHEBRARZEEMERES
25% °

LEoh  REEARAEEPE A IE R
REZZELF+ A=+ - HEBEEZEFE
2 DIRES%BABEBRFENK - XEH
ERURERE RN ERENATER RREA
AUR-ZERBEE+ A=+ -BERELEZR
Mok zREFTRELERIARE -

B 845 BT BB R o Bt DA A B
ArHENREERE L ERE S BTEA
BEIE -
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e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

6 Income taxin the consolidated statement of
profit or loss (continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

6 HEHEmRZAT/H@®

(b) BIEXHEESTERNABARE
FTEZHER:

2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F
$'000 F 3¢ $'000 F 7T

Profit before taxation
BRBEADER

131,668 48,793

Notional tax on profit before taxation, calculated at the rates applicable to

profit in the tax jurisdictions concerned

REBHEBREEERE AN SR 2 B R BB AN F
ZEAEBIE

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses

FAHE X H 2 RIERE

Tax effect of non-taxable revenue

FERBBAZBIEEE

Withholding tax of Mainland China subsidiaries

PR B A B 2 TRER B IR

Tax effect of unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences not

recognised

AERZABARBEBERARJENEREE BB E

Tax effect of recognition of tax loss and deductible temporary differences not

previously recognised
BRENABRAZHEERRURNENEZE2HESE
Net (over)/under-provision in respect of prior years
UEFEZ (BhEE) BETRFHE
Tax credit on PRC Corporate Income Tax paid
ERMPEEEMESHR2BERSE
Tax effect of written-off previously recognised tax losses
WL ERAREFBZHELE
Others
Hith

Actual tax expense
ERHRIER H

(30,875)

18,571
(12,891)

(221)

67,115

(11,197)

1,717

(7,798)

3,315

13,880 27,736

(c) Pillar Two income tax
The Group has applied the temporary mandatory exception to
recognising and disclosing information about deferred tax assets and
liabilities related to Pillar Two income taxes and would account for
the tax as current when incurred.

Since the Pillar Two legislation in the jurisdictions where the
Group operates was not enacted as at the year end date, and due
to the uncertainty of the announcement of the legislation and the
complexities in applying the legislation and calculating the Global
Anti-Base Erosion Rules income, the Group is in the process of
assessing its exposure to the Pillar Two legislation for when it comes
into effect.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. #Eftt B EFREEE B R A A
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Notes to the Financial Statements
e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

7  Emoluments of Directors 7 EBEEZEE

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the  RIEE B (D AEH) 5 383(1) 1K (A T (HE
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies ESRFEER) RA)FE2WIRBEZEEZMH S W
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation T

are as follows:

2024
bt S|
Salaries,
allowances
and other
benefits Retirement Share-based
Directors’ inkind  Discretionary scheme payments
fees EHe - EER bonuses  contributions Sub-total DyEGiP:] Total
EZHe HUEWEN BERR2EL  RKGEER Mt BRZAR @it
(Note)
(h82)
$'000F it $'000F T $'000F ¢ $'000F T $'000F ¢ $'000F it $'000F T
Executive Directors
HITEE
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO
s 414 6,309 4,635 408 11,766 3814 15,580
BRERE
Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI
- 248 7,688 5,073 538 13,547 8,201 21,748
HEELE
Mr. Eugene LYE _
Peh L A 248 2,374 403 69 3,094 3,094
Non-executive Directors
FHTEE
Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO _ _ ) _
EEB 4L 299 299 299
Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO
iy 299 - - - 299 - 299
BERLE
Ms. May LO _ _ ; _
BHELL 367 367 367
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUHHITEE
Dr. The Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI _ _ ) _
SEEET 593 593 593
Mr. Jan P.S. ERLUND
JanP.S. ERLUND %4 563 563 53
Mr. Anthony John Liddell NIGHTINGALE _ _ ) _
PERa 643 643 643
Mr. Paul Jeremy BROUGH _ _ ) _
Paul Jeremy BROUGH %4 A atz Wz
Dr. Roy Chi-ping CHUNG 434 _ _ ) 434 _ 434
BEYEL
5010 16,371 10,111 1,015 32,507 12,015 44,522
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

7  Emoluments of Directors (continued) 7 EBEEZEM2@®W

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the  RIBEE B (D AMEH) 5 383(1) 1R (A T (HE
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies ESRFEER) RA)FE2WRBEZEEZM S W
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation T : (4&)

are as follows: (continued)

2023
ZECZF
Salaries,
allowances
and other
benefits Retirement Share-based
Directors' inkind  Discretionary scheme payments
fees Ed o RER bonuses  contributions Sub-total R A Total
EZHe  HUBWEN BERRRL  RAGEER M BRZAR #it
(Note)
(M)
$000F 7t $000F 7t $000F $000F 1T $000F 7t $000F 7t $000F 7t
Executive Directors
HITEE
Mr. Winston Yau-lai LO
BREALL 400 6,294 1,254 396 8344 3,107 11,451
Mr. Roberto GUIDETTI
EEEL A 200 7516 1,361 392 9,469 8214 17,683
Mr. Eugene LYE
Rehyl A 200 2,300 576 65 3141 3141
Non-executive Directors
FHTEE
Ms. Yvonne Mo-ling LO
BEBY+ 290 - - - 290 - 290
Mr. Peter Tak-shing LO
BEREA 290 290 290
Ms. May LO
BHEL+ 340 - - - 340 - 340
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUHHITEE
Dr. The Hon. Sir David Kwok-po LI
SEEEt 580 - - - 580 - 580
Mr. Jan P.S. ERLUND
JanPS. ERLUND 54 530 ) ) i 530 i >0
Mr. Anthony John Liddell NIGHTINGALE
REEA 631 631 631
Mr. Paul Jeremy BROUGH
Paul Jeremy BROUGH %4 = ) ) ) 68 ) =
Dr. Roy Chi-ping CHUNG . ) . )
BETEL 421 421 421
4,487 16,110 3191 853 24,641 11,321 35,962
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

7  Emoluments of Directors (continued)

Note: These represent the estimated value of share options and share
awards granted to the Directors under the Company’s share option
scheme and share award scheme. The value of these share options
and share awards is measured according to the Group’s accounting
policies for share-based payment transactions as set out in note 1(q)(iii)
and, in accordance with that policy, includes adjustments to reverse
amounts accrued in previous years where grants of equity instruments
are forfeited prior to vesting.

The details of these benefits in kind, including the principal terms
and number of options and awards granted, are disclosed under the
paragraph “Share option scheme” and “Share award scheme” in the
directors’ report and note 23.

8 Individuals with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2023:
two) are Directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 7. The
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other three (2023:
three) individuals are as follows:

7 ESBEZEe @

MiE - MR BER ZATIEREA QT 2 BRES
BRRORBAERTESCBRERROR
BtitEE WEBRERRORBZEE
To AR 45 Y 3 L(a)(iil) AT B AN SR B R BARR 2 B X
ERzXBRAZEFERMmTE  MRRZ
X BREUBEFERFMARBARET
BERERBAMC RNz BRESEE2HE -

BEBENEN 2HE (BRCRHEZBRER
BRORBEEHRARBE) RESSHREB
MRAEET SR [ IR0 AT 8| — R KM 23

5 -
8 EmiMEAL

THEREMEALTY MB(ZEZ=F 'MW
R)BES BECHNESRMT7HRE - Hek
ZHR(ZEBEI=F  ZR) AT EENT :

2024 2023
—F-mEF —F=-=
$'000 F 5t $000 F 7T

Salaries and other emoluments

FeRkHMHE

Retirement scheme contributions
RINET B AR

Discretionary bonuses

B8 B2 TEAL

Share-based payments

LARR A B B 1 2 953K

14,450

261

3,064

4,031

21,806
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e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

8 Individuals with highest emoluments (continued) 8 EEEE AL #)

The emoluments of the three (2023: three) individuals with the =& (ZZEZ=ZF:=R)BsMEATzi#E
highest emoluments are within the following bands: FUATHER
2024 2023
—EomEF —E-=
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE AEL
$5,500,001 to $6,000,000 _
5,500,001 Jt £ 6,000,000 JT
$6,000,001 to $6,500,000 1
6,000,001 Jt £ 6,500,000 JT
$6,500,001 to $7,000,000 ~
6,500,001 jt £ 7,000,000 JT
$7,000,001 to $7,500,000 1
7,000,001 jt Z 7,500,000 JT
$7,500,001 to $8,000,000 _
7,500,001 jt £ 8,000,000 JT
$8,000,001 to $8,500,000 1
8,000,001 Jt £ 8,500,000 Jt
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHBI - LUBKEEHH)

9  Other comprehensive income

9 Hitzmikz

(a) Tax effects relating to each component of other () EHEHEMZERESIM BB

= .
-7 - 3

comprehensive income:

Exchange differences on translation of financial
statements of subsidiaries and joint venture

2024 2023
—2-mE “E-=F
Tax credit/ Tax credit/
Before-tax (expense) Net-of-tax Before-tax (expense) Net-of-tax
amount #E amount amount BB amount
BHASE K% (BE) NBKELE EEEELE:SYAC LRI R
VRS (VIR (VB $000TT  $000FT  $000F %

FANEM2E WSR2 H P R#E

28

outside Hong Kong (107,884) = (107,884) (201,452) = (201,452)
RBREEBUNMBRBEAARGEAAZHH
REMEECERER
Cash flow hedge: net movement in the hedging
reserve (2,092) 344 (1,748) 1,329 (218) 1,111
BeREfn  HIRETLE
Remeasurement of employee retirement benefit
liabilities 6,089 (1,003) 5,086 (4,226) 680 (3,546)
EERABHEEZENHE
(103,887) (659) (104,546) (204,349) 462 (203,887)
(b) Components of other comprehensive income: (b) HttZmEUWKzEZIH -
2023
—E-=
$'000 F 7t
Cash flow hedges:
RERSE
Effective portion of changes in fair value of hedging instruments recognised
during the year (8,093)
FRERZHHPIAARBEEB 2BEXRHBH
Amounts transferred to initial carrying amount of hedged items 9499
EREHAEHERYEEBEZSH ’
Net deferred tax credited/(debited) to other comprehensive income (218)
REMEERKESTA S IR) ZIELEH B FHE
Net movement in the hedging reserve during the year recognised in other
comprehensive income 1,111
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e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

10 Earnings per share

(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of $116,367,000
(2023: $45,721,000) and the weighted average number of
1,071,969,000 ordinary shares (2023: 1,070,165,000 ordinary
shares) in issue during the year, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

10 BREF

() SREXREF
ERERABIADREARATDREFTE A
5% A 116,367,000 (=2 ==
45,721,000T) R FRE BITERAR 2 INEF
19 81,071,969,000 B EBER (ZE =4 :
1,070,165,000 R & @A) st E » HFFEWT ¢

BERZNEFTE

2024 2023
—F-mEF —F=-=
Number of Number of
shares shares
:2vg 4= gl 4=
'000 T ji% '000 F B

Issued ordinary shares at 1st April
REA—AZEBITEBER

Effect of share options exercised

SITEBREZE

Effect of share awards vested

EEREBERRGO2EE

Effect of shares purchased under share award scheme

RERORBTABEROG <&

R=ZA=+— R zEBR2MEFHIH (K 10(b)

1,070,899 1,070,010

1,487 469

155 77

(391)

We_lghte_d average nur;lbir of ordinary shares_;\at 31st March (note 10(b)) 1,071,969 1070165
YS=HA=T1T— = 2 B
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e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

10 Earnings per share (continued)

(b) Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the profit
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of $116,367,000
(2023: $45,721,000) and the weighted average number of
1,072,895,000 ordinary shares (2023: 1,072,096,000 ordinary
shares) after adjusting for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)

10 EEREF @)

(b) SREBERF
ERBBEEANIRERQATRESTE AEMLE
F1116,367,000 T (ZEZ=4 : 45,721,000 7t)

R EABEEHERANCEBR 2 EME
AR 1% 2 B AR N RE 19 #01,072,895,000 AR
%zﬁﬂx (_ﬁ— =% :1,072,096,000 B & B I7)
FTEHFEWOT

BERZMEFITE (#F)

2024 2023
—EMF —E=-=
Number of Number of
shares shares
::gvig (4= B EE
'000 T A% '000 FM%

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31st March (note 10(a))

R=ZB=t—-RzEBERzMEFIE (ME10()

Effect of deemed issue of ordinary shares under the Company’s share option

scheme for nil consideration

BREBRBALRAZBEREASNEELTABRTERR2EE

Effect of shares awarded under share award scheme

RERDRBTEARERO 2ZE

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) at 31st March
REZA=+—HzEBRZIMEFHE (EH)

1,071,969 1,070,165
1,178

753

1,072,895 1,072,096

As at 31st March 2024, the Group had potential dilutive shares in
connection with its share option scheme and share award scheme.
Certain share options could potentially dilute basic earnings per
share in the future, but were not included in the calculation of diluted
earnings per shares because they are antidilutive for the period.

N_E_MFE=ZA=+ R AEESARA
ﬁ%ﬂx%?@ﬂ&ﬂﬁﬁ”ﬂﬁbﬁ%*ﬁ%ﬁz EH#ER
-BTEBRERRTHBESREARRF -
THABREBERNZHES  RERPASD
R -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

11 Property, plant and equipment 11 YE - - BERKXME
(a) (a)

Other property, plant and equipment
A% BERZE

Factory Fixtures,
Land and machinery furniture
buildings held and and office
forownuse  equipment  equipment Motor  Construction Right-of-use  Investment
BEEERZ  IRMER #E FAR vehicles inprogress  Sub-total assets  properties Total
THRET BfE BOERE RE ERIR Nt FREEE  RENE &zt
$000Fx  $000Fm  $000Fm  $000Fk  $000Fm  $000Fm  §000Frm  $000Fm  $000F 7
Cost:
A
At 1st April 2022
H-E-—EmE—g 1,716,637 4,368,325 656,458 166,044 86,645 6,994,109 559,217 22,698 7,576,024
?E"%‘%‘gjad'““me”“ 104302 (33067 (85%8) (8516 (1153 (380978  (18880) - (399859
%fgt'ms 1779 B B3 LM 103510 13617 5229 - 59
Transfer 3,589 75093 38,603 76 (117361) - - - -
B
;{2053'5 (645) (97214 (17898  (13166) - (128923 (85812) - (19473
APV 1617058 4136152 666878 156478 61259 66ITE5 6819 22698 787342
RZE-=%=fA=+-H
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses:
BITERAESS:
At 1st April 2022
W-B-—EmE—f 609,591 2,328,293 328,758 103,629 - 3370271 218,087 19,448 3,607,806
éf%‘%”gadmm‘*”“ 035 @ 50 (2259) - (15608 (4033 - (o1t
Charge for the year }
KERIFE 59,092 290,457 67,091 12,986 429,626 99,569 126 529,321
Impairment losses
HEEE 3813 82 298 4193 448 4,641
Written back on disposals
HEERE (398) (95,062) (13,309) (12,687) (121,456) (64,976) (186,432)
At 31st March 2023
W-@-ZEZf=+-f 638970 2,410,142 375472 101,967 - 3,526,551 249,095 19,574 3,795,220
Net book value:
REFE:
At 31st March 2023
W-@-EZf=+-f 978,088 1,726,010 291,406 54511 61,259 3,111,274 271,724 3124 3,392,122
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

11 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 11 Y% - BERRE@®
(@) (continued) (E) G

Other property, plant and*equipment
Hithx - BERRE

Factory Fixtures,
Landand  machinery furniture

buildings held and  andoffice
forownuse  equipment  equipment Motor  Construction Right-of-use  Investment
RAEfFEA: IRHER %8 GAR vehicles  inprogress  Sub-total assets  properties Total
THREF Hf  WAER RE BRI Mt EREEE REnE 3
$000Fx  $000Fxk  $000Fm  $000Fw  $000FE  $000Fk  $000Fm  $000FT  $000FiT
Cost:
B
At 1st April 2023
N-2-—ENE—f 1,617,058 4,136,152 666,878 156,478 61,259 6,637,825 526,819 22,698 7,187,342
Eé(%]%ﬂ,g; adjustments (69602 (149876)  (12742) (2.295) (4994) (239509  (13583) - (253092)
f‘ﬁdg“m - 225 1253 19031 7550 133375 272491 - 405866
I@E%g“ef 423 91088 11130 24 (107273) - - - -
tDHiigosa'S (33)  (48,121) (8349)  (13764) - (0569 (38074 - (108,640)
Classified as assets held for
sale (note 18) _ _ _ _ _ _
AEABELEYEE (29,118) (29,118) (29,118)
(Fr&E18)
At 31st March 2024
N-B-mE=R=+-f 1,551,352 4,026,400 669,456 160,274 24522 6,432,004 747,656 22,698 7,202,358
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses:
ZRERAERR:
At 1t April 2023 -
N-2-—ENE—f 638,970 2,410,142 375,472 101,967 3,526,551 249,095 19,574 3,795,220
%%%ngg adjustments (254)  (77544) (6420 (1,660) - (108149) (3267) - (111419)
Charge for the year _
KERFE 57,008 280,179 67,127 12,746 417,060 105,509 126 522,695
Impairment losses/(reversal of
_ Impairment losses) = 12,529 (363) = = 12,166 = = 12,166
REFE/ (BEHESE)
WL 2 CTES 02 @255 (858 (1351) - (4928 (35.966) - (100892)
& = H?}% @
Classified as assets held for sale
(note 18) _ _ _ _ _ _
HEERENE AR 118,33 (1883) (18836
(P&t 18)
At 31st March 2024 _
H-E-mE=f=+-f 673,152 2563215 427,958 99,542 3,763,867 315,371 19,700 4098938
Net book value:
REFE :
At 31st March 2024 878200 1463185 241498 60732 24522 2668137 432085 299% 3103420

R-B-ME=ZA=1-H
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

11 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(@) (continued)

Government grants of nil (2023: $93,000) were received from
the PRC government in relation to the acquisition of plant and
equipment and were netted off against the cost of the related assets
during the year.

During the year, the carrying amounts of certain items of property,
plant and equipment were written down by $12,166,000 (2023:
$4,641,000) to their recoverable amounts as follows (the recoverable
amounts were estimated using the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use):

(i) An impairment loss of $13,827,000 (2023: $2,635,000) was
recognised on various items of property, plant and equipment
utilised in the Mainland China and Hong Kong SAR operations
reflecting the cessation of usage, where the recoverable
amounts of these items were minimal.

(i) During the previous year, an impairment loss of $1,321,000
was recognised on abandoned property, plant and equipment
associated with the relocation of the Shenzhen operation
to a modern facility in Dongguan as part of the Group’s
manufacturing innovation programme, where the recoverable
amounts of these items were minimal.

(iii)  Following the relaxation of pandemic prevention measures
announced by the Hong Kong SAR Government in February
2023, in anticipation of a recovery, management performed
an assessment of the future performance of the Group’s
Vitaland tuckshop business. Consequently, a reversal of
impairment loss was recognised in respect of other property,
plant and equipment of $1,661,000. During the previous year,
an impairment loss was recognised in respect of right-of-use
assets of $448,000 and other property, plant and equipment
of $237,000.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

11 9% BERRE @

(@) (@&
FAMERTEBRFTUREHRBEERERRE
MBS B (ZZF Z =4 : 93,000 7t) 3 £ A8 BE
BEZHRAMBR -

RER > ETUE  BERRE 2 IREE
12,166,000 T (ZFE==% : 4,641,000 7T) ET
Pz ®RETMWEEE (TWREEHEEARER
EHERARERBEMET ZBSEREE)

() FEREREBEHINTHEEEEAN
ZENE - BRERREEERFLER
MR ERE 13,827,000 T (=2 ==
% :2,6350007T) c ZEEENTKE
SHENHTRE

(i) REEEE BFRIBERBZER=R
1&1tm%(1’ﬁﬁ% S W AEBAEE R E
H—3D) MEREEEENE BER
RERRERE1E 1,321,000 7T ' ZZEE
MO WRESEETIMTZRE -

(i) EEBBEBNR-Z-=F_HEf
MBI RERE  AEERESRESRM
HAREBEMR N EEERHRER
WETHG B WHMAYE BE
REEREREEE1,661,0007T ° A
FEEE RERAEEERIABESSE
448,000t M EMYE - MEKRRE
A # R {E K518 237,000 7T ©



Notes to the Financial Statements
e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

11 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 11 YE - BERRME®@®

(b) Right-of-use assets b) FEHEEE

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of (RIEBEEEDE2FEAREEZRE FEDN
underlying asset is as follows: mT

2024 2023
—F-mEF —EC=F
$'000 F 7t $000 T 7t

Interests in leasehold land held for own use, carried at depreciated cost, with
remaining lease term of:

FEERcHEE T s (RITERATIR) 2 THEE

- 50 years or more

6,471 471
- 50 L é
- between 10 and 50 years

144,996 157,
10 E 506 2 >7,336

151,467 163,807

Other properties leased for own use, carried at depreciated cost

HEFB Rz Ets GRITERATIR)

Factory machinery and equipment, carried at depreciated cost

279,970 112,904

N DN 783 848
T e R R (RITE AR ARSIER)
Fixtures, furniture and office equipment, carried at depreciated cost 165
HE - BZEMRBPBLAERME RITERARIER)
432,285 277,724
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e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

11 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 11 YE - BERRME®@®
(b) Right-of-use assets (continued) (b) FHEEE @

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in HEREFERAZHERBHXEREIMUT :
profit or loss is as follows:

2024 2023
—F-mEF —EC=F
$'000 F 7t $000 T 7t

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by class of underlying asset:
REBEES B2ERREECTEER .
- Ownership interests in leasehold land held for own use

-HEFERZEEL B EREES

- Other properties leased for own use

3,780 3,946

w 101,056 94,644
-HErBRAZHEMmYE
- Factory machinery and equipment
N 580 894
- TR R R
- Fixtures, furniture and office equipment 85
- KRB -BHBRRBAERE
105,509 99,569
Interest on lease liabilities (note 5(a)) 5589
HEaBE2FE (MEE5@) ’
E lating to short-t I
xpen_se re ang o short-term leases 28.253
FEEPHEE 2%
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets, excluding short-term leases of
low-value assets 3,128
FREREEEEHEZHX (REEEEZRBHEERMD)
Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities
(note 5(d)) 14,585
FErAHEEEFE 2 U2HEE SR (M 5(d)
COVID-19-related rent concessions (note 5(d)) (17.729)

2019 Bk % 5 P 18 B AE = R (Y& 5(d))
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

11 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (continued)

The Group leases various warehouses, offices and factory and office
equipment for use in its operations. The leases included in right-
of-use assets typically run for an initial period of between one year
and five years. For leases which include an option to renew the
lease for an additional period after the end of the contract term,
where practicable, the Group seeks to include such extension
option exercisable by the Group to provide operational flexibility.
The Group assesses at lease commencement date whether it is
reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. If the Group is
not reasonably certain that it will exercise the extension option, the
future lease payments during the extension periods are not included
in the measurement of lease liabilities. The potential exposure to
these future lease payments is summarised below:

Lease liabilities recognised

(discounted)

ERRzZHEEEE(EHR)

2024
—EEF
$'000 F T

11 Y% - BERRE@®

(b) FEREEE @
AEBERZERE PLE IHRHBRIAE
REBHHEEBEER -SFACHEEEZHE -
ROTEP-—FERAF -BRAREGHNFRTE
RREEHEFNMENNEE EOEATT 2B
RT AEEAORBEREETTE2EHL
HEE UEHEBELEERE AREREER
MEMMEEEES ETREHEE - 4
SEARESESEMSTHRENREER  RIEHBH
Bz RREESRFEFAHELBZFTE -
ZEARBENRZEERBELMOT

Potential future lease payments
under extension options not
included in lease liabilities
(undiscounted)

EHRETZRFABREREEZ

Warehouse - Hong Kong Operation

RE-BEXER

BERAREEMAICRITR)
2023 2024 2023
—E-=F —EMEF —EC=F
$'000 F 7T $'000 F T $'000 F T
28,288 - 120,191

In addition, the Group is the registered owner of several plots of
leasehold land, in respect of which upfront lump sum payments were
made to acquire them.

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were $272,491,000
(2023: $52,294,000). This amount primarily related to the capitalised
lease payments payable under new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of
lease liabilities are set out in notes 17(d) and 21, respectively.

During the previous year, the Group has applied the practical
expedient permitted in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 to all eligible
rent concessions received by the Group.

o AEESBRAEL B2 EZRBTEA
ERLRAEE AN RRBEZSE L -

FR > ABEEFAEEESR272,491,000T (=
T =4 :52,294,0007T) c ZFE T EEFHHA
EMEETENMBENREE -

FREEZRERHARNREEEE NS
o BIE SR E17(d) K 21 -

REBFE  AEECE(FBUBHRSER)
BL6RFAARME 2 TTRER ZRARAE
EEUWBZBESERESRER
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e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

11 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(c) Property, plant and equipment leased out under
operating leases

The Group leases out investment properties under an operating

lease. The lease runs for an initial period of two years, with an option

to be early terminated by either participating party. None of the

leases includes contingent rentals.

The Group’s undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable
operating lease are receivable as follows:

11 Y% - BERRE@®

() RELEHEHERLZME  KE
Kt
AEENCERERLRENE REHED
SREME AASEFERRIAL -5
HELHBERRES -

REBRBTUHRBREERERBZRITR
HEMRWT :

Within one year

— %

2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F
$'000 T 5t $'000 F 7t
3,262 1,741

(d) The fair value of investment properties

The fair value of investment properties at 31st March 2024 is
$59,700,000 (2023: $63,300,000) which has been estimated at
their open market value by reference to recent market transactions
in comparable properties (2023: same basis of valuation adopted).
The valuation was carried out by an independent firm of surveyors,
Roma Appraisals Limited, who have among their staff members of
the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the
location and category of the properties being valued.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

(d BREWFRZARE
REMENR-_B-_NF=ZA=+—HZARE
%59,700,000 7T (ZFE==% : 63,300,000 7T) °
LR SEALBYE AR TERZERER
FmSEEETMAN (ZEZ=F  KBE 14
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BZEE  EMMEENEZHERERAEER
BT A o



Notes to the Financial Statements
e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

11 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(d) The fair value of investment properties (continued)

The fair value measurement is categorised as a Level 3 valuation
under the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS
13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date;

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs
i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available; and

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs.

The fair value of investment properties is determined by using the
direct comparison approach with reference to the market price of
comparable properties and adjusted for building quality and timing
of the reference transaction. The significant unobservable input
in the fair value measurement is the property-specific adjusting
rate, which ranged from 0.94 to 1.05 (2023: 0.93 to 1.03). The fair
value measurement is positively correlated to the property-specific
adjusting rate.

(e) Property, plant and equipment pledged against
bank loans

At the end of the reporting period, no items of property, plant and

equipment of the Group are pledged to secure bank loans or bank

facilities granted to the Group.

(f)  Deposits for the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment

As at 31st March 2024, a deposit of $1,112,000 (2023: nil) was

paid to acquire property, plant and equipment. The remaining

amount of the consideration for the acquisition is included in capital

commitments (note 27(a)).

11 Y% - BERRE@®

d BREWEZQAE@E
AREHERB(BBUBREEDNE 1354
AEHEIMBREZ-RARBEESELE
SHREE BEARABEHESEZERNES
ENMTHEESEMARB > TERMEREES
BHEE

- BoMfhE EEAE-REARE (B
RIABHEEEESNRBERNERMTE 2
RERABBE)FEZARE

-  FIRMHE:ERAE-REARE (BX
REINF-RzABRHARE) BXER
EREATHEEHARBHEZAR

BE- TUBEGAHBRETSEIEZ
BWARBE S &

- EEREE EAEATTRRRAY
THE PINTE

RENEZQIAREBDSETLBYE ZHERE
REELEZEE  UHMSERGZRTFER
REEFEHARE  ARBEFECERTTERER
BMABBNERNMEREER . HF094E1.05
(ZZEZ=F:093%103) - A RAEFTEHEE
IR ER CE R ERBEE -

() MBITERERZYE BEK
B

REHRA  AEEREERETANE  BER

RBEE UERASEER ZBRTENIR

TEE -

() BEYX BERREZTZ

RZEBE-_NE=ZBA=+—H HBEEVWE
ERBECXZMNTL1,112,000 T (ZE==4F:
E) BENREBZBTSHETAEIRE (M
27(a)) °
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e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

12 Intangible assets 12 EREE
Pollution
Brand name Customer list discharge right Total
mEETE BEFEE £ Dt wEt
$'000 F 7t $'000 F 7T $'000 F 7t $'000 F 7t
Cost:
A :
At 1st April 2022
7,579 10,958 1,582 20,119
R-ZE--FWMA—H
Exchange adjustments
<~ 158 = 117 41
[ AR (117)
At 31st March 2023
e — o — 7,737 10,958 1,465 20,160
R-E-=F=A=+-—H
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses:
Rt HERRERSS
At 1st April 2022
7,579 10,958 814 19,351
R-ZFE-—_FMA—H
Exchange adjustments
158 - 60 98
fE 5 A (60)
Charge for the year
v = = 292 292
NEEHEH
At 31st March 2023
7,737 10,958 1,046 19,741
R-E-Z=F=HA=+—H
Net book value:
ERERE :
At 31st March 2023 _ _ 419 419

RIEBE-_=%=H=+—H
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e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

12 Intangible assets (continued) 12 BREE @
Pollution
Brand name Customer list discharge right Total
b & 18 EFRE BESHE gt
$'000 F It $°000 F it $'000 F 7T $'000 F T
Cost:
A :
At 1st April 2023
7,737 10,958 1,465 20,160
R-E-_=FTA—H
Exchange adjustments
= 138 - 82 220
o b 3 (138) (82) (220)
At 31st March 2024
7,599 10,958 1,383 19,940
R-BE-_WNEF=A=+—H
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses:
Rt MR ERSS
At 1st April 2023
7,737 10,958 1,046 19,741
R-ZFE-=FMA—H
Exchange adjustments
p 138 - 61 199
E g (138) (61) (199)
Charge for the year
o - - 279 279
AN
At 31st March 2024
7,599 10,958 1,264 19,821
R-ZE-_ME=A=+—H
Net book value:
IRENEME -
At 31st March 2024 _ _ 119 119

RZB-_ME=A=+—H

The amortisation charges of pollution discharge right are included in ¥ S ZEEER O AGSBRERZ1TH
“administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or BRHIA-
loss.
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e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

13 Subsidiaries 13 B AT

TRHEEAEBFTENB AR ZHBE KRB E
SN BEZRMERNEAEEER - LEH
BARMAMFINFMREZZESHE LR

The following list contains the particulars of the principal subsidiaries
of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise
stated. All of these are controlled subsidiaries as defined under

note 1(d) and have been consolidated into the Group’s financial Y HEAEBEZHBHRERANGSTE -
statements.
. PIac.e of Proportion of ownership interest
incorporation/ WEEESLE
establishment
and operation Particulars of held by the heldby a
Name of company B3 e issued capital Company subsidiary Principal activities
REREHE BUREE M CRTRAHEE ARABE  MWEBRAARE FEER
% %
Vitasoy USA Inc. United States of 100 shares - 100 Sale of beverages
America 100 B R 47 HENR
ZNBERE
Vitasoy North America Inc. Canada 1,000 shares 100 - Sale of beverages
JIEYN 1,000 & B 43 HERR
Shenzhen Vitasoy (Guang Ming) Foods and The PRC  RMB80,000,000 85 - Manufacture and
Beverage Company Limited (note (i)) e AR¥ sale of beverages
RY 4 (L 8R) R mEVEI AR A A (HEE() 80,000,000 7t (ceased operation since
15th December 2021)
EE&%E‘%K:%
(B=E=—-%+Z=AH
TERRKILEE)
Vitasoy (Dongguan) Company Limited (note (i) The PRC  RMB335,000,000 - 85 Manufacture and
S5 (R3) BIR AT (HEE (i) FE ARE sale of beverages
335,000,000 7 LERBEESR
Vitasoy (Foshan) Company Limited (note (iii)) The PRC RMB200,000,000 - 85 Manufacture and
SR (Bhil) BBRA A (B EE (i) e AR¥E sale of beverages
200,000,000 7t YERBEESRR
Vitasoy (Shanghai) Company Limited (note (iv)) The PRC  HK$219,461,176 - 100 Manufacture and
#4028 BRAE (V) H i sale of beverages
219,461,176 % EERHEERD
Vitasoy (Wuhan) Company Limited (note (v)) The PRC  RMB170,000,000 - 100 Manufacture and
#Agn (BE) BR A (M V) H ARE sale of beverages
170,000,000 7¢ EERHESRD

Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHAI - LUBREEE)

13 Subsidiaries (continued)

13 MBS @

‘ PIac.e of Proportion of ownership interest
incorporation/ BEREALE
establishment
and operation Particulars of held by the heldby a
Name of company B3 issued capital Company subsidiary Principal activities
RREHE BUREE MY CRTRAHE XRERE  WEARRE TEEE
% %
Vitasoy Company Limited (note (vi)) The PRC  RMB100,000,000 - 100 Sales/distribution
EARER A 7 (HEE (vi) HE ARE of beverages/food
100,000,000 7t and headquarter
management service
(Mainland China)
HE/DHEARR
EmRARER
FR 3% (REIA)
Vitasoy Australia Products Pty. Ltd. (note (vii)) Australia V class shares: - 100 Manufacture and
CGE) BN A$8,925,000 sale of food and
N class shares: beverages
A$8,575,000 EERBERRR
VER: B
8,9250008 7
NER
8,575,000 2 ¢
Vitasoja (Macau) Limitada Macau SAR MOP100,000 100 - Distribution of
Hfg ORM) BRAF BAERTHE RN 1000007 beverages
A
Produtos De Soja Hong Kong (Macau) Limitada Macau SAR MOP10,000 - 100 Dormant
ERSRRM) BRATE BPSRTHRE  RFM¥100007T EREE
Vitaland Services Limited Hong Kong SAR 300,000 shares 100 - Operation of
EHRMBEERAF EBERTHE 300,000 %R % tuck shops and
concessions
BEBRDRIR
NRE
Hong Kong Gourmet Limited Hong Kong SAR 2 shares - 100 Provision of catering
BEBERAERAH EBERTHE 2 B4 services
REERRE
The Hong Kong Soya Bean Products Company, Hong Kong SAR 2 shares 100 - Property investment
Limited EBRBRITHE 2R B NERE

BRERARAT
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEHAI - LUBREEE)

13 Subsidiaries (continued)

13 MBS @

‘ PIac.e of Proportion of ownership interest
incorporation/ BEREALE
establishment
and operation Particulars of held by the heldby a
Name of company B3 issued capital Company subsidiary Principal activities
AEER BUREEMHE ERTRAHE XRERE  WEARRE TEEE
% %
Vitasoy (China) Holdings Limited Hong Kong SAR 1 share 100 - Investment holding
Ethh (RE) ZERERAT BERHAITHE 1RRH REER
Vitasoy Investment Holdings Limited Hong Kong SAR 1 share 100 - Investment holding
EHNREERERAT BRBHTHE 1 RR % REZR
Vita International Holdings Limited Hong Kong SAR 2 shares 100 - Investment holding
EHERERERAR BRBHTHE 2RBH RERR
Vitasoy International Investment Limited Hong Kong SAR 1 share 100 - Investment holding
EHDERREERAT BRBRHTHE 1R RERR
Vitasoy (China) Investments Company Limited Hong Kong SAR 2 shares 100 - Investment holding
EW (PR REERAR BERBRTHE 2RBH RERR
Vitasoy Holdings (Malta) Limited Malta  Ordinary shares: - 100 Sales of beverages
ERlfth HK$20,257 (ceased operation
Deferred share: since 31st January
HK$7 2024 and is currently
ZER B under liquidation)
202577t HERR(E-Z-ME
ELERS —-A=t-Hi
BT T RIS ETREFE)
Vitasoy Investment (Singapore) Pte. Limited Singapore 5$10,000 - 100 Investment holding
s 10,000 RELR
Vitasoy International Singapore Pte. Ltd. (“VIS") Singapore $$79,800,000 - 100 Manufacture and sale
K 79,800,000 ¥ of soya related and
beverage products
EERHESEER
REm
Vitasoy Distributors (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. Singapore 5$2,500,000 100 - Dormant
MK 2,500,000 EmEE

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

13 Subsidiaries (continued)

Notes:

(i) Shenzhen Vitasoy (Guang Ming) Foods and Beverage Company
Limited (“Shenzhen Vitasoy”) is a sino-foreign equity joint venture
established in Mainland China and is to be operated up to 2049.

(ii) Vitasoy (Dongguan) Company Limited (“Vitasoy Dongguan”) is a sino-
foreign equity joint venture established in Mainland China and is to be
operated up to 2067.

(iii) Vitasoy (Foshan) Company Limited (“Vitasoy Foshan”) is a sino-
foreign equity joint venture established in Mainland China and is to be
operated up to 2049.

(iv) Vitasoy (Shanghai) Company Limited (“Vitasoy Shanghai”) is a wholly
foreign owned subsidiary established in Mainland China and is to be
operated up to 2045.

(v) Vitasoy (Wuhan) Company Limited (“Vitasoy Wuhan”) is a wholly
foreign owned subsidiary established in Mainland China and is to be
operated up to 2064.

(vi) Vitasoy Company Limited is a wholly foreign owned subsidiary
established in Mainland China and is to be operated up to 2070.

(vii)  On 13th February 2023, the Group acquired the remaining 49% equity
interest in Vitasoy Australia Products Pty. Ltd (“VAP”), increasing the
Group's equity interest in VAP from 51% to 100% (see note 28).

13

MyEE -

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

B B 2 B (@)

RYN AR CEBR) BRI AR L8 (DRI
{ﬂzZIJ}J ARPBABRIZHIIEESE QT
KREHE_BMOAFL -

#ig (RE)BRLR (REEMPL BR
FEIRMRI 2P IINEESERNT  KEHE
ZEXtFIE

MG L) BARQE (HLEME]D BN
TEREY 2HIEERE QT REHE
ZEOAFLE -

@ (L8 ARAT ([ LS&BI)) BR
RERBE T 2NEMEAT  EEHE=
FEMAEL o

Hapgn (ROR) BRAF (FEEMLPD BR
REARBEY 22N ERBLE  KREREZ
FAROEFL -

AR IR A T A0 R B R A 2 2 SN
BAR  SEME-FLEFL-

RZE_=F_A+=H KAEEKE
Vitasoy Australia Products Pty. Ltd. ([VAP) &
TA49% IR HE  EAREBNRVAPZREH51%
HANZE 100% (BB EE 28)
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(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

13 Subsidiaries (continued) 13 MIB 25 &)

The following table lists out the information relating to Shenzhen  TXRZH 5B EER = A FFIEREDR 2 NE B M
Vitasoy, Vitasoy Dongguan, Vitasoy Foshan and VAP, the subsidiaries ~ B2 @RI 4 « R4 TG ~ 451U 4E4b 15
of the Group which have material non-controlling interests (‘NCI”). R VAP & ¥ c- TX 25 2B ER M EIEE
The summarised financial information presented below represents  H{EfI 2 TR MEEAT 2 €58 o

the amounts before any inter-company elimination.

Shenzhen Vitasoy Vitasoy Dongguan Vitasoy Foshan VAP
PRIt 41 REHMD 1L gt
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

“ECME -—E-=F ZB-MNE -—F-=F ZB-ME -—F-=F —F-ME -—T-=F
$000Fx $000F;w $000FiT $000F; $000FT $000F; $000FT  $000 TR

(Note)
(P&E)

géng;;eg%g;\ " 15% 15% 15% 15% 15% 15% - -
%2}5% 93,583 106,026 99,511 170968 161,008 116,511 - 217,142
Y =
;‘;%’gg ZEES 26314 27505 984806 1110752 288872 354507 - 252407

) 5
%g%abmt'es (3302) (6172)  (439,225)  (522340) (95522  (109,231) - (231469)
) =IE
LB - - (391398) (6414 (16297)  (20027) - (847)

J) HRIBE
%eggets 116595 127359 253694 295236 338061 341780 - 23723
g;‘;%gfgg’%gfgc' 18291 19906 37546 43261 52240 52,708 - -
[f;j\e”“e = - 554164 586354 706373 705801 - 583733
(Loss)/profit for the year
RERE (K5i) /%F (8768) 2080  (25360) (28335 34554 3,553 - (56367)
gg'qggggensive income (3,768) 2080 (25360)  (28335) 34554 3553 - (55584)
‘g"gasg?}ﬁltﬂg”égg’ (%;‘;)' g (565) 313 (3288)  (452) 5,274 1,047 - (2149)
Dividend paid to NCI
Ak BRERRERE - - - - 2835 16383 - 5250
Cash flows (used in)/generated from

operating activities (6,114) (56,776) 113,692 (14,594) 40,315 124,386 = (64,454)

KeEy (FA) /FERERE

Cash flows generated from/(used in)
investing activities 2,944 58,806 (17,029) (45,822) (13,499) (12,359) = (19,589)
REFBNE/ (R RERE

Cash flows (used in)/generated from
financing activities - - (94,640) 50,885 (23,065)  (123,674)
REEH (FTA)/FEheRe

68,369

Note: During the previous year, the Group acquired the remaining 49% Mz REBEE AEER=-SE-==-A+=H
equity interest in VAP on 13th February 2023. Details are set out in UTBE VAPER T 49% B HE o ZEBE SN HIEE 28 -
note 28.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

14 Interestin joint venture

Details of the Group’s interest in the joint venture, which is
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial
statements, are as follows:

14 SEQTzHE=
AEEREE AT S HRAESERE

B BHERAAR) FEOT ¢

Proportion of ownership interest

WERERILE
Place of Group's
Form of incorporation effective
business and business Particular of interest Held by the Heldbya Principal
Name of joint venture structure AL R issued capital rEE2 Company subsidiary activity
RENREH EBRERS ExnE  ERTRAES ERER FA0ARE MWELARF TERY
% % %
Vitasoy - URC, Inc. Incorporated The Republic of Registered 50 - 50 Sale of
Ealijzan the Philippines capital of PHP beverages
(“Philippines”) 2,254,000,000 (note)
FRELANE TR A HERM
(T3ERE))  2,254,000,000 % GES
Note: Vitasoy-URC, Inc. (“VUR”) was established by the Company in partnership Fff&E © Vitasoy—URC, Inc. ((VUR]) B2 A 8 — R
with a major branded consumer food and beverage company in the FREFERMEERRERAT (BEEE
Philippines, the other investor to this joint venture, for the manufacture RAZB—BREB)EBAYL  UNFERE
and sale of the Group’s plant-based beverages in the Philippines. VUR is HYERMEERAEEUNEYR I BEZME °
mainly engaged in the sale of beverages. VURFEREMRMEE -
VUR, the only joint venture in which the Group participates, isan  VUR(AEBEK —SHE S NF)A—BFE L

unlisted corporate entity whose quoted market price is not available.

Summarised financial information of VUR is disclosed below:

THEEER BYETHRE -

VURZ I ERBERBENT :

Gross amounts of VUR’s
VUR Z 4%

Loss from continuing operations
Total comprehensive income

EHEWEAEE

2023
—E-=
$'000 F 7t
(35,975) (42,544)
(36,018) (42,312)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

14 Interest in joint venture (continued)

(@) Impairment
The carrying amount of interest in joint venture was fully impaired by
recognising an impairment charge of $42,800,000 after considering

the adverse impact of COVID-19 on future sales projections in the
year ended 31st March 2021.

During the year ended 31st March 2024, the performance of the
joint venture continued to improve, leading to an improvement
in level of losses incurred following the relaxation of quarantine
restrictions by the Philippines government. Nevertheless, considering
the current accumulated losses and uncertainty in evaluating market
factors in the calculation of the recoverable amount, management
concluded that no reversal of impairment was to be made.

(b)  Unrecognised share of losses

During the year, the Group injected further capital of $23,736,000
(2023: $22,253,000) into the joint venture. With an unrecognised
loss of $24,296,000 (2023: $26,676,000) brought forward from prior
years, the Group has recognised a share of loss of $23,736,000 (2023:
$22,253,000) after the capital injection.

As at 31st March 2024, the Group has discontinued recognising its
share of losses of joint venture because its cumulative share of losses
in the joint venture has exceeded the aggregate of the investment
cost less subsequent accumulated impairment losses. The Group will
not resume recognition of its share of any future profits in the joint
venture until its share of such profits equals the cumulative share of
losses not recognised in past years.

The amounts of unrecognised share of losses of joint venture for the
year and cumulatively are $17,715,000 (2023: $24,296,000).

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

14 SERTEzEZSm@®

(@) RE
HE_Z_-F=A=+-BRLFE RiR
2019 B A SR RRHETER 2 TR FEE -
BRI MEE A42800000T 8 QA2
e REED 2 ERME -

BE-ZE-_NE=A=+t—-HLEE 842
TXERERS  EEEBRANERRRHIZ
EBIEATPTEMAZS -BRENL  ZEFNEHNR
AEEURSTETRE S ERTEHEREN
THREHE EEEBRABBEHRERD -

(b) KRERFLERE

REAFEE AEEBOEEQARAE—FETE

23,736,0007T (Z & — =4 : 22,253,0007T) °©

EEBAWIiE%@*EE T ET18 24,296,000 7T (=
T =% 1:26,6760007T) MAEERETER

Eﬁ& 245 B 18 23,736,000 T (ZBE ==& :

22,253,0007C) °

N_E_MFE=ZA=+ -0 FAEECDKRILLHE
WLEFE{EQE’AT%E AAHRFEEE
NAFECBEBREXANBRERRTRERS
BHAE - EAKB G S E D AR RE
MERBEFERER ZRAIEEHBERN &
EEETEMERIBZFEF

FARBRt 2 AR EE N AEESES
17,715,000 T (ZZE = =4 : 24,296,000 ) °
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(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

15 Inventories

(@) Inventories in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise:

15 78
() HEVMEBERRRPZEEERE:
2024 2023

—F-mEF —EC=F
$'000 Tt $'000 F 7t

Raw materials

R

Finished goods
SR

323,998 382,858

230,548 256,757

554,546 639,615

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories

recognised as an expense and included in profit or

loss is as follows:

b) EREZARIAR/AIZFES
BoMME :

2024 2023
—EMF —E-=F
$'000 F 3¢ $'000 F 5t

Carrying amounts of inventories sold

EEFEZREE

Write down of inventories

A7 5

3,101,032 3,323,592

11,816 4,259

3,112,848 3,327,851

16 Trade and other receivables

16 FEURBRFR B2 ELfth FE UL X

2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F
$'000 T 5t $'000 F 7t

Current assets:
Trade debtors and bills receivable, net of loss allowance

FEW R K R RIS - HIRE B RAE

Other debtors, deposits and prepayments
Hitt W - R RFEMRE

715,301 788,957

158,011 192,893

873,312 981,850

Non-current assets:
FHREBEE -
Rental deposits

HERE

15,419 -
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16 Trade and other receivables (continued)

Apart from the rental deposits under non-current assets, the Group's
other debtors, deposits and prepayments amounting to $21,820,000
(2023: $26,218,000) are expected to be recovered or charged as
expense after more than one year. All of the other trade and other
receivables are expected to be recovered or recognised as an
expense within one year.

(@) Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
debtors and bills receivable (which are included in trade and other
receivables), based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is
as follows:

16 FEURBRFR R H fth FE UK ()

RIERBEEBT2HERSH  AEETESH
RBBE—-FE2KWESHNRER S 2 EtbEURR -
BERAEMNTIEE 21,820,000 T (ZBE =4 :
26,218,000 7T) ° Fr A H fth FE U BR 7k & H At FE LK
REHR—FEAKRESERE—ERAX -

(a) HRERDHT

RE®RA - BUERAKREWRRE (E8ERER
BRARHEMERRA) ZBRREAHARSNRE
BREZRESTOT

Within three months
=@AR

Three to six months

=Z2XEB

Over six months

ANER L

2023

—E-=HF

$'000 F T

703,131 777,056
10,289 8,115
1,881 3,786
715,301 788,957

Trade debtors and bills receivable are generally due within one to
three months from the date of billing. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances. Further details on the Group’s credit
policy and credit risk arising from trade debtors and bills receivable
are set out in note 26(a).

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7
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17 Cash and bank deposits 17 BRERBITER
(@) Cash and bank deposits comprise: () BRERBRTERERE:

2024 2023
—2F-@mEF —%-=
$'000 F T $'000 Tt

Cash at bank and in hand
ROTEEREERS

Bank deposits maturing within three months when placed

ERER=EARNZRITENR

156,948 259,778

486,006 295,007

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated cash flow statement

RERETRERACRERREEEER

Bank deposits maturing after three months

EREEB=A 2RITEX
Cash and bank deposits in the consolidated statement of financial position

. PR 794,452 555,292
GAMBRRENZRSREFTER -

At 31st March 2024, no Renminbi bank balances (2023: $44,874,000) R-Z-MF=F=+—0 BMEUAREG
were designated as a hedge against the foreign currency risk on B ZRTEFE (ZZE == : 44,874,0007T)
future purchases of raw materials. The loss (2023: gain) on re- EEAEH T EEZBEE R B 2 INERK o 17
translation of these bank balances at the exchange rate ruling during B EREHACEREHRBREZSRITEREZ
the reporting period was included in other comprehensive income. BE(ZEZ=F | &) Bt AHtZ2E KSR -

642,954 554,785

151,498 507

At 31st March 2024, cash and cash equivalents situated in Mainland RZ=-ZZE-—WOE=A=+—B SR TERH
China amounted to $81,348,000 (2023: $71,151,000). Remittance @ZRERAELZEIEH 581,348,000 T (=&

of funds out of Mainland China is subject to relevant rules and ==4% :71,151,0007t) - E2EHTERNLE
regulations of foreign exchange control. BrHEMNEEH 2RI KA -
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17 Cash and bank deposits (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash

generated from operations:

17 RERBITER@E

(b) ERBIANERELELEXRBHRERS
ZH R

2024 2023
Notes —EMF —E-=
o= $'000 F it $000 F 7t

Profit before taxation

BBt A a Al

Adjustments for:

T

- Share of losses of joint venture

-t €A REER

- Depreciation of right-of-use assets
-ERAREEZITE

- Depreciation of investment properties
-REMEZIRE

- Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment

-HMME  BERREZIFE

- Amortisation of intangible assets

-BILEE 2 #E

- (Reversal)/recognition of impairment losses on trade and other

receivables
- (BE) TR EW R R i B 2 REEIE
- Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment
-E BERREZREESE
- Impairment losses on assets held for sale
-BIEHECEEZRERFE
- Write down of inventories
- MR 17
- Interest on bank loans
-RITERZFE

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. #Eftt B EFREEE B R A A

131,668 48,793

23,736 22,253

5(d) 105,509 99,569

5(d) 126 126

5(d) 417,060 429,626

5(d) 279 292

5(c) (4,706) 1,278

5(c) 12,166 4,641

5(c) 3,593 -

15(b) 11,816 4,259

5(a) 19,478 26,958




Notes to the Financial Statements
e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

17 Cash and bank deposits (continued) 17 BERBTER@
(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (b) BRBMANGFELEEKABRE
generated from operations: (continued) ZEER ()
2024 2023
Notes —EmEF —E-=F

o $'000 ¥t $'000 F T

- Interest on lease liabilities
-HEBBEZRE

- Interest income from bank deposits

-RITERZFEWA

- Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment
-HENE BMERREBEZER (k) F58

- Equity settled share-based payment expenses

- BARER 2EH

- COVID-19-related rent concessions

-2019 B ES HERE SRR

- Foreign exchange loss
-EREE

5(a) 10,550 5,589
4 (23,225) (12,283)
5(c) 2,126 (802)
5(b) 21,865 25,549
4 (787) (12,869)

7,290 24,534

Changes in working capital:
EEASERD

- Decrease in inventories

-FERD

- Decrease in trade and other receivables
- B Uit AR R 2 LAt B R FKORL 2

- Decrease in trade and other payables

- B IR iR TR D

- Increase in employee retirement benefit liabilities

-EERKENEERE M

Cash generated from operations
e s p 801,070 527,259

48,098 82,939

79,625 95,272

(65,615) (332,851)

418 14,386
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17 Cash and bank deposits (continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from

financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.

Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash

flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s

consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing

17 B RIBITER@E
c0 MEIHELEZAGYE

TRHAJNAEERETHELE 2AEEEH &
PERERERFREEH METHAELEZ
EEREREREGNRARRREREZRA
EEZHERERERANIERBETH 2R
ERE o

activities.
Bank loans Lease liabilities Total
RITER HEaE fEt
(Note 20) (Note 21)
(Fff 5% 20) (BfF3E21)
$'000 F it $'000 F 7t $’000 F It
At 1st April 2023
H—E—=—&EmA—Q 524,686 136,186 660,872
Changes from financing cash flows:
MERSREEE
Proceeds from new bank loans
pe /8 % 61,334 - 61,334
FIBRITERFTBRIE
Repayment of bank loans 310.365 _ 310.365
BERITER (310,365) (310,365)
Capital element of lease rentals paid
. N - 101,412 101,412
BREERS 2 EAH ‘ ’ { ’
Interest element of lease rentals paid
N - 10,550 10,550
BHEEES 2 ABHH (10,530) (10,550)
Interest paid
19,478 - 19,478
BAFE (19,478) (19,478)
Total changes from financing cash flows 268.509 111.962 380.471
PP P 7t (268,509) (111,962) (380,471)
Exchange adjustments
E 3% i (19,668) (1,506) (21,174)
Other changes:
Hithg 8 :
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into new leases
during the period = 272,491 272,491
HARBILHFHEEZHESEEM
COVID-19-related rent concessions (note 4) _ (787) (787)
2019 BMRmEHAEBE S ER (izE4)
Decrease in lease liabilities from lease modification
e . - 2,107 2,107
REEEET SR EAD e e
Finance costs (note 5(a))
gt 19,478 10,550 30,028
A& R A (MEE5())
ieleiatchizood 255,987 302,865 558,852

R-ZB-_MFE=A=+—H
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17 Cash and bank deposits (continued) 17 BERBTER@

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) METHELEZBBYER @
activities (continued)

Bank loans Lease liabilities Total
IRITER HEAE et
(Note 20) (Note 21)
(ME&E 20) (MtEE21)
$'000 F 7t $000 F 7t $'000 T 7t
At 1st April 2022
R—Em——&EmA—Q 489,829 187,757 677,586
Changes from financing cash flows:
FERENEEE
Proceeds from new bank loans
RS 525,121 - 525,121
FIBRITERFIBRIE
R t of bank |
fggfg;?ﬁgk aniioans (459,764) . (459,764)
b x
Capital element of lease rentals paid
i N - 87,860 87,860
BAREES > EANH e 70
Interest element of lease rentals paid
N = 5,589 5,589
BARERS > FS8H b b
Interest paid
Sy (26,958) - (26,958)
Total changes from financing cash flows
Dol 38,399 (93,449) (55,050)
™ kY rAp) wes AR
Exchange adjustments
B 3 s (30,500) (2,221) (32,721)
Other changes:
H{th4 &) .
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into new leases
during the period - 52,294 52,294
BB LHEE2HESGEEM
COVID-19-related rent concessions (note 4)

— s O - 12,869 12,869
2019 TR B F IARITE & TR (W3 4) L A5
Decrease in lease liabilities from lease modification _ (915) (915)
REEEBT2HEEERD
Fi t te 5
Ef;;;;‘z;fg;;) @) 26,958 5,589 32,547
At 31st March 2023

524,686 136,186 660,872

R-FBZ-=f=ZA=+—H
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17 Cash and bank deposits (continued) 17 BERBTER@
(d) Total cash outflow for leases (d HERESRHHAEE
Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statement for leases T EFTAGEBRERER ZHEBFE LT E
comprise the following: B:
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
$’000 F T $'000 F 7t
Within operating cash flows
41,635 45,966
KEBEEHRER
Within financing cash flows
o anc 111,962 93,449
MEBRERER
153,597 139,415
These amounts relate to the following: ZEFIRHENTIEAEE !
2024 2023
b 111 2 —E-=HF
$’000 F T $'000 F 7t
Lease rentals paid
153,597 139,415
ENHEERES
18 Assets held for sale 18 BIEHEZEE

During the year ended 31st March 2024, the Group commenced REBZ-ZE-_NF=ZA=+—-HLEEE" $E
negotiations with a third party to dispose of certain property, plant B EBEFE=ZAo2HE HMHEXAEESE

and equipment of the Group (“Disposal Assets”). The negotiation #% -BERZEHE (HEEE]) - Tﬁ;’)ﬁﬁﬁ’\\\i%
process began before the year end and management considered HRifE  MEEEBRAAXZBEAREETRK -
the transaction is highly probable to be completed. The Disposal HEEBEER-ZZE-NEF=ZA=+—HZ#H
Assets have been classified as assets held for sale in the consolidated A HFEMRRARDEABFTELHECEE - HESE
statement of financial position as at 31st March 2024. An impairment ERFEARANL S EAFTEHEMEIRBESIE
loss of $3,593,000 was recognised for the Disposal Assets on initial 3,593,000 JtT °

classification as held for sale during the year.

On 3rd April 2024, the Group has entered into an agreement R-ZE-MENMA=H r KEEHRBEELES
with the third party for the sales of Disposal Assets at a total FEEFE=F:T 213 BKEA 6,624,000 7T °
consideration of $6,624,000. The disposal was not completed at the  HEZERHEMBHRRE A KRTHK °

date of approval of the financial statements.
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(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

19 Trade and other payables

19 BAERRRE R

2024 2023
—2F-mEF —F=-=
$'000 F T $'000 Tt

Current liabilities:

MEBEE

Trade creditors and bills payable

BARRRENRE

Accrued expenses and other payables

Pt & AR KR AR

Receipts in advance from customers

AREFFHE

881,697 885,593
895,111 1,013,969

47,919 63,830

1,824,727 1,963,392

Non-current liabilities:

FRBEE

Accrued expenses

&R

8,955 9,483

All of the trade and other payables included in current liabilities are
expected to be settled within one year, except for customer deposits
amounting to $23,341,000 (2023: $22,687,000) which are expected
to be settled after more than one year.

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
creditors and bills payable, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

AEBEERFTARBEBMEESRARA
o ER AR —FREER  H23,341,000 7T (=
T :22687000%) 2EFEEBIFAHR
BB —-FREE-

REHE  BIRRRENREBEEZXZEHZ
SRECDHTIITE -

2024 2023
—EmEF —E-=
$'000 F 35t $'000 F 7t

Within three months
=@AR

Three to six months
=ZX@EA

Over six months

NEA B E

875,120 878,985

3,152 5,577

3,425 1,031

881,697 885,593

The Group's general payment terms are one to two months from the
invoice date.

AEEZz-RARPRAEBB/EAHET—=
W1EA o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

19 Trade and other payables (continued) 19 MR E H SR @)
Movements in receipts in advance from customers FEWEEREZ2EE

2024 2023
—F-mEF —%-=
$'000 F T $'000 Tt

Balance at 1st April

RMAB— B Z4&8R

Exchange adjustments

&N R

Decrease in receipts in advance from customers as a result of recognising

revenue during the year that was included in the receipts in advance from
customers at the beginning of the period

FRERUA (BT ABANzRREFRIER) BHRAKREFRIBRD

Increase in receipts in advance from customers as a result of receiving forward
sales deposits during the year 3,114,787 3,089,432

FRWEBERHEZRSEHARE P RIEEMN

Decrease in receipts in advance from customers as a result of recognising
revenue during the year that was included in the forward sales deposits

received during the year

FREIBRA (BFAFARBMZERHERER) BHFAREFRERD

Balance at 31st March
e X 47,919 63,830
W=B=+— A& -

63,830 140,512

(2,832) (10,327)

(60,692) (129,107)

(3,067,174) (3,026,680)
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(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

20 Bankloans

At 31st March 2024, the bank loans were repayable as follows:

20 SRITER

Within one year or on demand

—FRAFZER

After one year but within two years

— i ETER

R-ZBE-ZMFE=Z/A=Z+—H BITERERT
SIHAREE -
2024 2023
—F-mEF —F=-=
$'000 ¥t $000 T 7t
255,987 409,633
115,053
255,987 524,686

As of the end of the reporting period, no bank loans were secured by
charges over property, plant and equipment (note 11(e)).

Certain of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to compliance
with certain financial covenants, as are commonly found in borrowing
arrangements with financial institutions.

As at 31st March 2024, the Group did not comply with certain
financial covenants as required in the banking facilities agreement
with a bank for the outstanding loan amounts of approximately
$100,661,000, which are presented as current liabilities in the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st March
2024. On 21st September 2023, the Group obtained waiver from
the bank in relation to its covenant requirements for the outstanding
bank loan of approximately $100,661,000.

As at 31st March 2023, the Group did not comply with
certain financial covenants as required in the banking facilities
agreements with certain banks for the outstanding loan amounts
of approximately $201,213,000, which are presented as current
liabilities in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31st March 2023. On 22nd May 2023 and 25th May 2023,
the Group obtained waivers from banks in relation to their covenant
requirements for the outstanding bank loans of approximately
$201,213,000

Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set
out in note 26(b).

RERB  BIERTERUNE BERRE
ERBEAER (M 116) °

AEBETRITFERETE TYH RS It
DERMBEBIILEERHFRZERAE

AZZE_NME=A=+—H FAEELEBT
H-BRTITVNRITEEREIEENET
B RMEBER S 100,661,000 7T
HRAEBR -—ZE-_ME=A=+—B2&#8H
BIRRERPIERBES - R=E=-=Fh A
—t+-BAEEESZERTHREEREKESR
$RITE 749 100,661,000 TTHIZRHER o

RZEZ=F=A=1+—-0 FEELEEF
HEFRITTINBRTEEREFTRAENE
TFEIiERHE REEZEEREL4201,213,000
T HRAEE-_E-=F=ZB=1+—B2Z#&
EHBRRRFINBRBEBE - R_FE_=
EFAZ+ZHARZE-=FRA=-+EHA K
EEESZHERTHEEBEARAEERTERY
201,213,000 LY FHER o

FBEAEEEERDESAR CE-—SHEH
M EE 26(b) °
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21 Lease liabilities

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of
the Group's lease liabilities:

2024
—E-EF
Present
value of the
minimum lease
payments
REEE
R2RE
$’000 F 7t
Within one year
104,865
—F R
After one year but within two years
—FRERNFER
After two years but within five years
120,400
MERERFR
After five years
7,374
hFEE

302,865

Less: Total future interest expenses

W RRFEERERE

Present value of lease liabilities
N 302,865
HESEBECRE _

21 HEASE

TREINFREBEZHESBZHRTEHOHIR

Total
lease
payments
HEMR
b
$’000 F 7t

107,749

151,689

18,813

247,642

355,391

(52,526)

2023
—E-=
Present

value of the Total
minimum lease lease
payments payments
RIEHEE HEMR
RRZRE HEE
$000 F 7t $'000 F 7t
84,665 86,108
34,202 36,176
9,776 11,088
7,543 19,352
51,521 66,616
136,186 152,724
(16,538)
136,186
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22 Employee retirement benefits

The Group operates and participates in a number of defined
contribution and defined benefit retirement plans in and outside
Hong Kong.

(a) Defined contribution retirement plans

(i) The Group operates a defined contribution retirement plan,
Vitasoy International Holdings Limited Staff Provident Fund
(the “DC Plan”), which is available for all eligible staff employed
by the Group in Hong Kong SAR and Macau SAR before 1st
August 2000. The DC Plan is funded by contributions from
employees and the Group, both of which contribute sums
representing 5% - 7.5% of their basic salaries. Forfeited
contributions are credited to members’ accounts in accordance
with the rules of the DC Plan. The DC Plan is administered
by trustees with the assets held separately from those of the
Group. The employees are entitled to 100% of the employer’s
contributions after ten completed membership years, or at an
increasing scale of between 50% to 90% after completion of
five to nine membership years.

Staff employed by the Group in Hong Kong SAR not joining
the defined contribution retirement plan are required to
join the Group’s Mandatory Provident Fund scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by an independent
corporate trustee. Under the MPF scheme, the Group and the
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employee’s relevant income, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of $30,000. Contributions to the
MPF scheme vest immediately.

(i) Employees of the subsidiaries in Mainland China are
members of the central pension scheme operated by the PRC
government. The Group is required to contribute a certain
percentage of employees’ remuneration to the central pension
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation for the Group
with respect to the central pension scheme is the associated
required contribution under the central pension scheme.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

22 EERIKEF

AEBEEBREBUIMNMEBERIR S MSIE
REHRFRAERBARMKEE -

(a) REMKEMNKEE

i) AEEEFER-ZZZTENA—-HZ
AEEBEINTHRERBRMEITHE
SEIAEEEGEKREIRI—ERE
MR KRG B ([FREMRRETED) (41
EREEERATRERES) - REM
MBI zEeRBEERTEB ZHMK -
ELHREERRFZ5%ET7.5%  FIK
M RE R E MR8 28 QAT
BRECZRFE - REMAFHBERAET
ABE RFEETHAKEEZEED
HEE E2HTERTFEL EEF
ZEEMEFHER MBSEFEERE
WETZEEZEEMFAET S L BIH50%
ZELIBE 90% o

S E A B W I 2 0 RE S EGR K
FECEBERNTHEET  4ARE
EBCRFMEABETERI S MAE
Bzt BT (EEHEIES
FFED - BHEMLAEETEARA—EHRE
HEERE BB EEETEABE -
BERFELAESHE  AEERES
ZEEREEERARA (FBVWAZEA
EBRA30,0007T) 2 5% @&t &R o [
BEHMEAESTEX T2 HARAEES -

(i) HEAEHELRZEEDRDEBA
RUZPREBEAREAEZHE - AEH
AREEMECETEI LA P RENK
EHEER REINRHES - FKH
BARBRAETHEIFABIT2HE—FE
BEPREARETEMEHAE 2 EEMS
o BE XN 2HRAEGERE -
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22 Employee retirement benefits (continued)

(a) Defined contribution retirement plans (continued)

(iii) For employees in Australia, contributions made by the
Group to a registered superannuation fund for its employees
increased from 10.5% to 11.0% of the employees’ salaries
from 1st July 2023 (2023: from 10.0% to 10.5% of the
employees’ salaries from 1st July 2022). The assets of the
scheme are held separately by an independently administered
fund. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

(b) Defined benefit retirement plans

At 31st March 2024, the Group recognised employee retirement
benefit liabilities in respect of the following employee retirement
benefits:

22 EEERAKER @

(a) REMKEMNKTE @)

iy BMNEEFB A£EE[HD-BEHE
EMBzaMERKESc#Hamg ==
“=FtA-HEBEREEHE2105%
BENN%(ZE-=F . =8 ==
F+tA-BEERESEFHF S 2100%EE
105%) ~TBIEERBIYEE v ESD
BIEE - BB 2 EREESHEE -

T

) REBFERIKGE
R-ZEBE-NE=A=+—H  A&EEHTIE
ERABAEIEEERNRENERE

Employee retirement benefit liabilities

BERKBANEE

- retirement gratuities (note 22(c)(i))

- R E (B EE 22(c)(i)

- long service payments (note 22(d))

- REIBRB = (FaE22(d)

2024 2023
nt e 11 £ 2 —Zg=-=
$'000 F T $'000 Tt

3,783
21,052

(c) Retirement gratuities

Employees of the Group in Hong Kong SAR and Macau SAR, who
have completed a prescribed minimum period of service and joined
the Group before a specific date, are entitled to retirement gratuities
upon retirement age. The gratuity is based on the employee’s last
month’s salary and the number of years of service.

A funded defined benefit retirement plan, Vitasoy International
Holdings Limited Defined Benefit Scheme (the “DB Plan”), was
established for the retirement gratuities. The DB Plan is administered
by an independent corporate trustee, with assets held separately
from those of the Group. The DB Plan is funded by contributions
from the Group in accordance with an independent actuary’s
recommendation.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7
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22 Employee retirement benefits (continued)

(c) Retirement gratuities (continued)

The latest actuarial valuation of the DB Plan was at 31st March 2024
and was prepared by independent professionally qualified actuaries
at Willis Towers Watson, using the projected unit credit method.
The valuation indicates that over 93% (2023: 93%) of the Group'’s
obligation under this defined benefit retirement plan is covered by
the plan assets held by the trustee.

(i) The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position are as follows:

22 EEERAKER @

() R’BAE @
REBANFEZHEHFBEREIR-FT-DF
ZAZt-PHERBERZBISXSERE
EMRAEMENEERET BRAMGERT
AEBERBEZAERMNBRAFEMABTZE
EHEHFBBII% (ZEZ=F : 93%) ZETA
BFREZTEEERE -

() RESHBRRRBRZERWT :

Present value of wholly funded obligations
THEHEEZRE
Fair value of plan assets

TEEEZARE

Employee retirement benefit liabilities

EERAEANER

2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F
$'000 T 5t $'000 F 7t
57,508

(53,725)

3,000 3,783

A portion of the above liabilities is expected to be settled after
more than one year. However, it is not practicable to segregate
this amount from the amounts payable in the next twelve months,
as the retirement benefit entitled by scheme members and future
contributions to the plan will also depend on staff turnover and
future changes in actuarial assumptions. The Group expects to pay
$552,000 in contributions to defined benefit retirement plan during
the year ending 31st March 2025.

A LS EMOENER—FRFBE - AW
HRETENEERZE ZRABAR AR ZET
SRR THERFEIRDEIRBERRARZ
SEmME  WEUEREERRT ZEBAME
XN ZEBPHBL AT AEEFREHNE
1_7_£$ A=T-HLEFERRERF
RARGHEISZ A 5K 552,000 7T °
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22 Employee retirement benefits (continued) 22 EEERAKER @
(c) Retirement gratuities (continued) (c) EBHKE @
(i)  Plan assets consist of the following: (i) FEAEEERETISHE:

2024 2023
—EImEF —E-=
$'000 F 35t $'000 F 7t

Plan assets with quoted price in active market

RERTSHREZGEEE

Equities
BE
- Financial
8,277
- B
- Consumer discretionary
e SRE o] 6,206
-FNEHER
- Industrials
T 3,403
- Consumer staples
DS 2,792
-NEHER
- Other
i 16,594
30,471 37,272
Bonds
&%
- Corporate bonds
9 6,180
- NAEIES
- Government-related bonds
» 9,734
-BAHEES
15,914
Cash, current assets and current liabilities 539
e RBEERABAR
Total d pl
otal quoted plan assets 53.725

EHRESFEHEERE
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22 Employee retirement benefits (continued) 22 EEERAKER @
(c) Retirement gratuities (continued) (c) EBHKE @

(i)  Movements in the present value of the defined benefit (i) RAEEBMNEEZREBELBUT :
obligations are as follows:

2024 2023
—F-mEF —EC=F
$'000 F 7t $'000 F 7t
At 1st April
60,338
REA—H
Remeasurement:
EHHE
- Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions (1,265) 28
-AAOGBRRRBABZBEE (hw) EHiE '
- Actuarial gains arising from changes in financial and experience assumptions (1,256) (368)
-HBREBBRAEMBZEE RS ’
Benefits paid by the Plan
N _ (12,453) 5,919
BRI HEA B
Current service cost
. 1,861 2,183
BB RBEEAE
Interest cost
X 1,622 1,246
R B R AR

At 31st March
46,017 57,508

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligationis5 REEBNEEFZNMERLTHHEERLFE (==
years (2023: 5 years). Z=FCHF)
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22 Employee retirement benefits (continued)

(c) Retirement gratuities (continued)

(iv)  Movements in fair value of plan assets are as follows:

22 EEERAKER @

() EBAKE @

(iv) FEIEEZLQAREZEHNT :

2024
—E-MF
$'000 F 7t

At 1st April
RO A—H

Contributions paid to the Plan

[ 5 7€ 18 A 5t M 2 At

Benefits paid by the Plan
RERATEESHEF

Administrative expenses paid from plan assets
R Bl EEXNZITREAR

Return on plan assets, excluding interest income

FFEIEEEE - AEEFSKRA

Interest income

R B A

At 31st March
R=B=+—H

2023
— = — =

=P

$'000 F T

53,725

1,313

(12,453)

(99)

(1,002)

1,533

60,094

3,000

(5,919)

(98)

(4,613)

1,261

53,725
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(BREEHBI - LUBKEEHH)

22 Employee retirement benefits (continued)

(c) Retirement gratuities (continued)

(v) Net expense recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are as follows:

22 EEERAKER @

() R’BAE @
v RESEZERHME2ERSERERZH

Current service cost

BAEBRBEA

Administrative expenses paid from plan assets

HEBEEXNZITHRER

Net interest on net defined benefit liability

REBMNEEFEIFNE

Total amounts recognised in profit or loss

RIBE R 2 B

Actuarial gains
BEWE

Return on plan assets, excluding interest income

FFEEEDR - TEEMNSWA

Total amounts recognised in other comprehensive income

REM 2 E KSR 2 R

Total defined benefit expense

RERMBRX

XFEWT
2024 2023
—F-mEF —EC=F
$'000 F 7t $000 T 7t
2,183
98
(15)
2,266
(2,521) (340)
1,002 4,613
(1,519) 4,273
530 6,539

The current service cost and the net interest on net defined benefit
liability are recognised in the following line items in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss:

RERMNEEFERAERBAARFEFNED
RGEBRERTIET I SIRER

Marketing, selling and distribution expenses

HE HERIHEER
Administrative expenses
THEHR

Other operating expenses

HiEEER

2023
—===

$'000 F T

882 953

833 932

334 381

2,049 2,266
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22 Employee retirement benefits (continued) 22 EEERAKER @
(c) Retirement gratuities (continued) (c) EBHKE @

(vi)  Significant actuarial assumptions and sensitivity analysis areas  (vi) EBEABEBEREBRBMIFOT :

follows:
2024 2023
—EMF —E-=F

Discount rate

3.4% .09
FH|R & 3.0%
Future salary increases CROZYIENLTTM  4.0% per annum
KRR FH £ EIE BF4.0% FF4.0%

The below analysis shows how the defined benefit obligations MU T B RRERBANEFTREABEMRR0.5%
would have increased/(decreased) as a result of 0.5% change in the  #Em LA, (T) :
significant actuarial assumptions:

2024 2023
—E-NEF —EBZ=F
Increase in Decreasein Increase in Decrease in
E# T EFH T Bk
0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5%
$'000 Tt $'000 F 7t $000 F 7t $000 Tt
Discount rate
1,341 1,399
IR =E ( )
Future salary increases
- _ 1,474 1,425
KRR & ILIE ( )

The above sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that EHBBUESTTIUBRBEBRR 2B 22
changes in actuarial assumptions are not correlated and therefore WEHIEBEZEELE FHITEZERFEMRR
it does not take into account the correlations between the actuarial 2Rz EHiZE% -

assumptions.
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22 Employee retirement benefits (continued)

(d) Long service payments

Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously for
at least five years are entitled to long service payments (“LSP”) in
accordance with the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance under
certain circumstances. These circumstances include where an
employee is dismissed for reasons other than serious misconduct or
redundancy, that employee resigns at the age of 65 or above, or the
employment contract is of fixed term and expires without renewal.
The amount of LSP payable is determined with reference to the
employee’s final salary (capped at $22,500) and the years of service,
reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits derived from the
Group’s contribution to the MPF scheme (see note 22(a)(i)), or the
DC Plan (see note 22(a)(i)) or the DB Plan (see note 22(c)), with an
overall cap of $390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group does
not have any separate funding arrangement in place to meet its LSP
obligation.

In June 2022, the Hong Kong SAR Government (the “Government”)
gazetted the Hong Kong Employment and Retirement Scheme
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022
(the “Amendment Ordinance”), which will come into effect from 1st
May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). The Amendment Ordinance will
eventually abolish the statutory right of an employer to reduce its
LSP payable to a Hong Kong employee by drawing on its mandatory
contributions to the MPF scheme.

Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting mechanism
takes effect, an employer can no longer use any of the accrued
benefits derived from its mandatory MPF contributions (irrespective
of the contributions made before, on or after the Transition Date)
to reduce the LSP in respect of an employee’s service from the
Transition Date. However, where an employee’s employment
commenced before the Transition Date, the employer can continue
to use the above accrued benefits to reduce the LSP in respect of
the employee’s service up to that date; in addition, the LSP in respect
of the service before the Transition Date will be calculated based
on the employee’s monthly salary immediately before the Transition
Date and the years of the service up to that date.

The Group has accounted for the offsetting mechanism and its
abolition as disclosed in note 1(q)(ii).

22 EEERAKER @

(d RER®Bz

REEFB(RB®R)  -EETERT » BEBE
ERERBELLIFTEARMBES (RY
BEE]) ZEBERNERRERBREFETS
FREUNCERREBIREE BENR6SHEN
ULERAKFEREVBEERREBRERT
BH - BERPBRBESESREDSZRER
#BH < (ERAH225007T) kKRB FH - IWHIR
AREERB S8 (R MEE22()) 257 E #K
=t &) (R M aE 22(a)(i)) SR E & A8 (R M e
22(c)) BERN A KB E R 2 B AR
BHES 24 LR A390,0007T « A< 5 B 17 B
WEE B ESZHUBTERBBRBEER -

N—BZZFXA BEBERTRERS (K
¥ 1) T2 2022 F B R K R AR 5T 8UE A R =
) ERD) RO (AERTIRBI)) - BB =F
“TEHFRA-BRERTEELHD - ZEFT
RO RREREEIANRAAEQBE S EME
Hz@bltHFRoHENEE2RIRB S
ZIETERER] o

Hep —BHUEY PHHER  BEXEBEH
HEMASERRL AT ERES HX (BHR
BEAHZA - EHHZRER ZHF) FEE
ZEMRG SRS ERARERBFHZRY
RIS A - EESNBE R BACHAEZE -
AR EEER LR RERMDBEZA
HAREERBFHRBREE B 5
BERHARBFH2RIRBESBREER
BRBERHMAZAFRBEBERA B ZRBEF
HARTE -

HAMEE L)) FriR T ARBE S EEHEHS
REBUHZHHETEFRE -
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22 Employee retirement benefits (continued)

(d) Long service payments (continued)

The Group has determined that the Amendment Ordinance primarily
impacts the Group’s LSP liability with respect to Hong Kong
employees that do not participate in the DB Plan. The Amendment
Ordinance has no material impact on the Group’s LSP liability with
respect to employees that participate in the DB Plan.

An actuarial valuation of long service payments was also carried
out at 31st March 2024, by independent professionally qualified
actuaries at Willis Towers Watson, using the projected unit credit
method.

(i) The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position is the present value of unfunded obligations
and its movement are as follows:

22 EEERAKER @

(d) REBR®E @

AEECEE  ZEIRIEEFESEEY
TESRERERANAEZERREE 2 RIRE
SEME - ZBITRARAEEHCSRRER
AetBlzBEZRMBBEEARBEATE -

REREEIR-_BE-_NE=ZA=+—HHE
RENR B I EE S ERBEMRAEEN
EELRETHREME-

(i) RESUBERIRBERAZSEAREDY
EECRE EE2BHUT

At 1st April
MRIMA—H

Remeasurement:

EHitE

- Actuarial losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions

-BAAOSRFRRAZFAHRZEEEE

- Actuarial gains arising from changes in financial and experience assumptions

-HBREBBRAEMBZBEE RS
Benefits paid by the Group
AEBECHER

Expenses recognised in profit or loss:
BRERMX

Current service cost

BAERBRA

Past service cost - scheme amendments
BIERIEA - FHEMEET
Interest cost

EIISY %N

At 31st March
R=A=+—H

2024 2023
—F-mEF —EC=F

$'000 F 5t $000 F 7t

5978

(47)

(1,248)

728

15,530

111

16,369
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22 Employee retirement benefits (continued)

(d) Long service payments (continued)

(i) (continued)

A portion of the above liabilities is expected to be settled after
more than one year. However, it is not practical to segregate this
amount from the amounts payable in the next twelve months, as the
retirement benefit payable will also depend on staff turnover and
future changes in actuarial assumptions.

The weighted average duration of the LSP obligation is 10 years
(2023: 12 years).

(ii) The above expenses are recognised in the following line items
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss:

22 EEERAKER @

(d) REBR®E @
0 (&)

EH BB EO S RNER — FRBME - AT
HRENRAEANTISEFEIRBREEER
BRAKRZZEME  HWELREERRTZ
BRAESR N 2 SEFMBEL AT ©

REBRESET2MEFLIHRALI0FE (=ZF
Z=F 125F) o

iy LABACHRGEEBEERPETIEE
W

2024 2023
—EmEF —E-=
$'000 F T $'000 Tt
Cost of sales
R 356
SHE A
Marketing, selling and distribution expenses 9 680
HE HERIHEER ’
Administrative expenses
P 740 4,720
THEHA
Other operating expenses
e 317 1,613
Hih & & A
1,075 16,369
(iii)  Significant actuarial assumptions and sensitivity analysis are as (i) BEABEBEREBBMEIFOT :
follows:
2023
—EB-=HF
Discount rate o o
R =E 3.9% 3.0%
Future salary increases CAOZY NN 4.0% per annum
RRFFEIEIE F55£4.0% FF4.0%
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22 Employee retirement benefits (continued) 22 EEERAKER @
(d) Long service payments (continued) d) RER¥XS @
(i)  (continued) (iiiy (&)

The below analysis shows how the long service payment obligations WU T OB REHBRELEEREABERR
would have increased/(decreased) as a result of 0.5% change in the  0.5% % &)W £ H (T ¥) :
significant actuarial assumptions:

2024 2023
—ET-IEF —E=%F
Increase in Decrease in Increase in Decrease in
EH T EFH T Bk
0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5%
$'000 F ¢ $'000 Tt $'000 T 7t $'000 T 7t
Discount rate
1,163 1,264
IR E ( )
Future salary increases
_ 221 272
KRR & L IE e

The above sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that EHSBBUESTTIUBRBEBRR 2B 22
changes in actuarial assumptions are not correlated and therefore WEBHEEZREEE FHITEZERFERR
it does not take into account the correlations between the actuarial 2B ZEIZEBEZ -

assumptions.
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23 Equity settled share-based transactions

(@) Share option scheme

The Company adopted share option schemes on 4th September
2002 (the “2002 Share Option Scheme”), 28th August 2012 (the
“2012 Share Option Scheme”) and 30th August 2022 (the “2022
Share Option Scheme”) whereby the Directors of the Company are
authorised, at their discretion, to invite employees of the Group,
including Directors of any company in the Group, to take up options
to subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company. The 2002 Share
Option Scheme and the 2012 Share Option Scheme were terminated
on 28th August 2012 and 27th August 2022 respectively. As at 31st
March 2024, there were no outstanding options to be exercised
under the 2002 Share Option Scheme. Subject to their respective
exercisable periods, all outstanding options granted under the 2012
Share Option Scheme will still be valid and exercisable after the
expiration of the 2012 Share Option Scheme.

As at 31st March 2024, 3,164,000 options (2023: nil) were granted
under the 2022 Share Option Scheme.

The exercise price of the options is determined by the Directors of
the Company and is the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares on
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; and (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares on the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant.

The options are exercisable for a period not to exceed 10 years from
the date of grant. Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe
for one share in the Company.

23 URBANRERZRS

() MEMRFESTE
ARBR-ZZB-FNAMARMNBRET S
(ZZ2Z2-FBRESE)D RZZF-ZFN
AZt+ N\BEMERESE (ZF-—Z-FBR
BB D RR-ZZBZZFNB=THREMEBR
B8 (- FBRETED Bt X
RAZEEERENBARAEEZEE (B
BASEETEAQRAZES) EABREL
RBAAAEER - =F —\,—Eﬂﬁﬂﬂg*;
TE-CHEBREEIFER-ZZE-ZFN
A= +)\E&_§:Z$)\H—+ta,%§mo
N _E_NE=A=+t—-H0 HERE-FZF
—FEBERETERITEMARITENBRE R
BHEBTESAR  IERBE-Z-—-FBR
B ERE 2R ITEBRER-Z-—-FBR
B EIMRERRE DA FATE -

N —E-_NFE=ZA=+t—-R RE-FT=-Z
B REST 219R H 3,164,000 IR IE (=2 ==
F ) o

BREZTHEEHACAESEE  AUTZ
BeE (IRONKREAB (EALAREEH)
EBXAEEz2WHE: R)RONREEREH
AR A EE R A EBPRE 2 IR mE -

BREZTEHISEERE ARET Z+F -

BHEBREZFEAYERRE-RADARND -
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23 Equity settled share-based transactions 23 LUIRBAARERZRS @)

(continued)

(a) Share option scheme (continued) (a) HERRBESHE (@)

(i)  The terms and conditions of the unexpired and unexercised (i) RERBz2RERRRITEBERE 2K
share options at the end of the reporting period are as follows, RRGEHNT EBEREHDURG 2
whereby all options are settled by physical delivery of shares: BEYMRWESE

2024 2023
ZBIME ZE-=F
Date of grant Exercise period Contractual life Remaining Remaining
(dd/mm/yyyy) (dd/mm/yyyy) of options Exercise [JRGLEAIE Number of contractual Number of
R A TR BREZ price life options life options
(B/B/%) (B/B/%) BHFH i3l HRANEE BREZYE BEEEETDU P E

$TT '000 T '000 TR

09/09/2013 09/09/2014 to E 08/09/2023 10 years 9.370 - 5 months A 1,704
10/09/2014 10/09/2015 to £ 09/09/2024 10 years £ 10.080 EEXUNIYE 1yearF 1,792
26/06/2015 26/06/2016 to £ 25/06/2025 10 years 13.600 1year 2 years 18
14/09/2015 14/09/2016 to & 13/09/2025 10 years 13.600 1year & 2 years 1,588
24/06/2016 24/06/2017 to £ 23/06/2026 10 years 14.792 2years<E JyearsF 198
06/09/2016 06/09/2017 to 2 05/09/2026 10 years 14.792 2yearsF 3yearsF 1,420
26/06/2017 26/06/2018 to & 25/06/2027 10 years 16.296 3years 4yearsE 1,548
19/06/2018 19/06/2019 to & 18/06/2028 10 years 25.100 4years F 5years 1,618
28/01/2019 28/01/2020 to & 27/01/2029 10 years £ 30.350 5years 6 yearsF 320
21/06/2019 21/06/2020 to & 20/06/2029 10 years 44810 5years 6 years F 1,176
22/06/2020 22/06/2021 to £ 21/06/2030 10 years 30.200 6yearsF 7 years 1,580
24/08/2021 18/06/2022 to £ 23/08/2031 10 years 19.500 7 years < 8 years 2,254
04/07/2022 04/07/2023 to £ 03/07/2032 10 years 14.140 8years<F 9 years 3,286
26/06/2023 26/06/2024 to £ 25/06/2033 10 years 12.216 9years - -

18,502
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23 Equity settled share-based transactions

(continued)

(@)  Share option scheme (continued)

(i) (continued)

Except for the options granted on 28th January 2019 which will be
50% vested after the first anniversary from the date of grant and
50% vested after the second anniversary from the date of grant and
the options granted on 24th August 2021 which are subject to a
vesting scale in tranches of 25% each per annum starting from 18th
June 2022 and are fully vested on 18th June 2025, all the options
are exercisable progressively and the maximum percentage of the

23 LRBANRERZR S @

(a) BRETE @)

(i) (#&)
BRR-ZZE-NE-—BZ+N\BRH2BRER
BEREBHEFTEEEFRESREERBE
&E%i%%‘ﬁi&ﬁ%%aﬁu&m:

T-ENAZ+HEEHcEREASR =

::¢AH+AEiﬁu§$%%Z%$ﬁm
BE YHR-ZZE-FEXSNATNBEZIEEIN -
BT FTFE2EREZE DESEM MK

options which may be exercised is determined in stages as follows: RERATHEEREZED L LRAT ¢
Percentage of
options granted
RERBREZ2ESHL
On or after 1st year anniversary of the date of grant 25%
(o]

REBHET—BAFHHEE
On or after 2nd year anniversary of the date of grant
REBHETWAFHHE
On or after 3rd year anniversary of the date of grant
RERAPEF=BFRHEE

On or after 4th year anniversary of the date of grant

R AL NBFRAR

another 3 25%

another 3 25%

another 3 25%

During the year, no options (2023: 706,000 options) were exercised
under the 2002 Share Option Scheme, 1,704,000 options (2023:
10,000 options) were exercised under the 2012 Share Option
Scheme, and no options (2023: nil) were exercised under the 2022
Share Option Scheme.

FRBEBRE(ZZEZ=9F 7060001
RE)RE-_ZZ_FHEREFECSETE
1,704,000 7 IR E (= = =% : 10,0007 #&
RE)RE-_Z——_FHERETISETEN
REBERE(CZE-_=F 8)RE_FT_
FRERETTECERT -
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(BRBEFHBAI - LUBKEEE)
23 Equity settled share-based transactions

(continued)

Share option scheme (continued)

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share
options are as follows:

23

URRBHBARER 2K S @)

BRESE @)
BRESHE RMEFISTEBNT

2024 2023
—ENEF —g==
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options
MEFIHTEE BREZHE R S=Frgrd BREZHE
$T ’000 T B% $ 7T '000 F %
Outstanding at 1st April
Ny o = 19.265 16,384
REA— B ERITE
Exercised during the year
L 6.517 716
B P {8 R
Granted during the year
- 14.140 3,428
RERKTHD
Forfeited on termination of
employment of eligible participants
or lapsed during the year 22.335 (594)
HEEXSHEEBRBMNERZR
EE3
Outstanding at 31st March
R 7 s 18.711 18,502
R=A=+—RHERITE
Exercisable at 31st March 12.442

MR=ZB=+—HH1TH

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share
options exercised during the year was $13.433 (2023: $11.743).

The number of options granted during the year divided by the

weighted average number of issued shares for the year was 0.30%
(2023: 0.32%).

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. #Eftt B EFREEE B R A A
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23 Equity settled share-based transactions
(continued)

(@)  Share option scheme (continued)

(iii)  Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share options
granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share options granted
is measured based on a binomial lattice model. The contractual life of
the share option is used as an input into this model. Expectations of
early exercise are incorporated into the binomial lattice model.

Fair values of share options and assumptions:

23 LURBANRERZX S @

(a) BREFTE @

(i) BREZAABERES
AEBUBEEERERESREZAAME
NBEEREHERESAABHE - CEHE
BMEZ G AABENSERGEERTE B
REZSHNEPAEZER —EHASH -
BERSTEZAPRHASERSEER 2K o

BREZDXABERRR:

Dateof grant (dd/mm/yyyy)
BEAB(R/B/%)
10092014 26062015 1409015 4062016 0S0Y0M6 26062007 106018 JBOUAIS 20062019 2206220 0B OOTNL 260082003
Farvlieat bt ) _ _ ) _ _ _ _ _ _ i i .
SUECTVTEE w7 OURT QT OE BT RIBE SN GIE DAUR OEIE BORE MR ST6R
WTEREZAR
W?m DOOT SR SHBOT ST SISZOR ST SSI0T SOBOT GATOR SONOT SIM0%  SIS0E  SIOMOR
1YE]
Exercise price _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _
e 00T SBA0T SN0 ST STE  S6N6T  SSINE SI0E  SMBIOT  S0N0T SIOSIT S4TSR
Dttty W W% W% M %% MW W % % W M A
RHRE
Expected option fife
s 0yearsE  10yeasE  10yeasE  10yeas®  0yeas®  0yeasE  0yeasE  0yeasE  W0yearsE  0yearsE  0yeasE  0yeasE  10yeasE
A y y y y y y y y y y y y y
Bectd diends W % 306 1% 2% % 0% 0% 2% 0% % 1% 1M
g —
ﬂ;}”:;;eres e M%7 LT 10%  O%0% 1406 200%  160%  140%  OSTO%  100%  O7I0% 34

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility, adjusted for
any expected changes to future volatility based on publicly available
information. Expected dividends are based on historical dividends.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could materially affect
the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service condition. This
condition has not been taken into account in the grant date fair
value measurement of the services received. There was no market
conditions associated with the share option grants.

FAHRERELRBEE YRBEAKHASE
B ARFORIE 2 EMRABTURAE - BB
RERELREEE -TBBARKRZ2EH
HRAREZETELEEARE -

FBE

BRESBREBERBREMRE o LLIBRAES
EFfERZEZAOABERREEBH KTIEZER
Z 5 o B BB IR I A WIS R o
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23 Equity settled share-based transactions

(continued)

(b) Share award scheme

On 22nd March 2021, the Company adopted a share award scheme
(the “2021 Share Award Scheme”) under which the Company may, at
its discretion, select any eligible participant to participate in the 2021
Share Award Scheme as an award holder, and such award holder
may be granted an award of restricted shares, performance shares,
restricted share units or performance share units. The 2021 Share
Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 10 years
from 1st July 2021 unless terminated earlier by the Board.

The terms and conditions of the share awards granted during the
period are as follows, whereby all awards are settled by physical
delivery of shares:

23 LURBANRERZX S @

(b) MtPEREETE

RZZBZ-F=ZA=-+ZH A2ACKRH—
ERD RS (2= —F RO EZEE)
Bt AAFUERARERE BEENSER
SHREURBEREANSONSEH_Z_-FR
MRETE MARRBSEATERTER
BB RERD  ZRVROEBAIRER
MENZER —E--FRORBTHH=
B -FLA-HBEX BRHATF (ER
EESRAKLERRI) -

RABAR L 2 RBRMD 2 FRRRARFDT -
FIERESIURD 2 ENRKEE :

Number of shares awarded

RBERHZEE

Fair As at As at

Date of grant ~ Vesting period value per st April Granted Vested Lapsed  31stMarch
(dd/mm/yyyy)  (dd/mm/yyyy) award 2022 during during during 2023
RiEAH BEH Note BRERe RZE-_F the year the year theyear MZEZ=F
(8/8/%) (B/B/%) i ME  BE-B REREE REABE REARH ZA=t-8
$7T '000 F &% '000 F & '000 F & ‘000 F &% '000 F i

24/08/2021  24/08/2021 to £ 18/06/2025 (i) 18.220 699 - (162) (69) 468
20/12/2021  20/12/2021 to £ 20/12/2023 (ii) 16.010 188 - (94) - 94
01/02/2022  01/02/2022 to £ 18/06/2025 (i) 14.460 225 - (56) - 169
04/07/2022  04/07/2022 to £ 04/07/2026 (iii) 13.003 - 1,467 - (47) 1,420
1,112 1,467 (312) (116) 2,151
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23 Equity settled share-based transactions 23 LUIRBAARERZRS @)

(continued)

(b) Share award scheme (continued) (b) M BEIEE (@)
Number of shares awarded
RERA2HA
Fair As at Asat
Dateofgrant  Vesting period value per 1st April Granted Vested (EVSGl  31st March
(dd/mm/yyyy)  (dd/mm/yyyy) award 2023 during during during 2024
REAH FEH Note BRkBz R-F-=F the year the year the year [iiJmtmyuf:3
(B/B/%) (R/B/%) M aE ARE MA—-A REARE RERBE REANXY Bl
$7 '000 FB& '000 FB% '000 T i '000 F 1% '000 Fi&
24/08/2021  24/08/2021to £ 18/06/2025 (i 18.220 468 - (143) (51)
20/12/2021  20/12/2021 to & 20/12/2023 (ii) 16.010 94 - - (94)
01/02/2022  01/02/2022 to & 18/06/2025 (i) 14.460 169 - (56) -
04/07/2022  04/07/2022 to & 04/07/2026 (iii) 13.003 1,420 - (337) (170)
26/06/2023  26/06/2023 to & 26/06/2027 (iii) 10415 - 1,643 - (48)

2,151 1,643 (536) (363) 2,895

The fair value of the awarded shares was based on the closing price ~ #BERHO 2 AARENERBEEBEH2ERKS
per share at the date of grant and adjusted by the fair value of the EBRIZFEBHAZREANABEERAE  HEAE
dividends during the vesting periods as the grantees are not entited AGESRBHANERZEZERE -

to dividends during the vesting period.

The number of awards granted during the year divided by the FREBHZEBHBEBRUFEACHEITRHG 2N
weighted average number of issued shares for the year was 0.15%  #EFHEHAE0.15% (ZF =% : 0.14%) °
(2023: 0.14%)).

Notes: B &E

(i) The share awards are subject to a vesting scale in tranches of 25% (i) REROBE_SE-__F<B+\BEEESE
each per annum starting from 18th June 2022 and are fully vested on B2 ZoMBEB  UR_ZE_HFE XA
18th June 2025. RWAN R

(i) The share awards are subject to a vesting scale in tranches of 50% (i) REBRMBE-—FE-_—_F+-A=-THEEESE
each per annum starting from 20th December 2022 and are fully 50% 2 EZAMEE YR -_TE-_=F+=A4
vested on 20th December 2023. “+HEHMEE -

(i)  The share awards are subject to a vesting scale in tranches of 25% (i) REROHREAH-—BFERREF2%Z
each per annum starting from the first anniversary of the date of grant LbRAMEBFE > WERIRE BB EEIE
and will be fully vested on the fourth anniversary of the date of grant. B
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24 Income tax in the consolidated statement of 24 FEMBRARZEAEH
financial position

(@) Current tax recoverable/(payable) in the () HEPBEMRRRZEW (BN
consolidated statement of financial position WEABEM T ¢
represents:

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
$'000 F 7t $'000 F 7t

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year

REEFBNEGHEE

Provisional Profits Tax paid

BN 2 EHRAEH

(22,144) (17,270)

14,076 26,848

(8,068) 9,578

Balance of Profits Tax relating to prior years

BB EFEMEZNEHAKEA

Taxation outside Hong Kong

(11) (3,585)

13,582
BB LM ERIE ( ) (697)
5,296
Summary
2024 2023
—EMF —E=-=
$’000 Tt $'000 F 7t
Current tax recoverable
18,136 ,
FE R 3R HR R 18 19,528
Current tax payable
39,797 ,
P14 30 B B4 08 ( ) (14,232)

(21,661) 5,296
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(RBEHBN - LUBHHE)

24 Income tax in the consolidated statement of
financial position (continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised:

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements
during the year are as follows:

Depreciation

allowances

in excess of
the related Future
depreciation benefit of
BHEE Right-of-use lease taxlosses

TEZTE assets liabilities HIEEZ

24 HEMBRARZAEH @

(b) ERBELBEEE (EE)
RESBBRRRBRAZELEHEEE (BE)
ZEAKBORERZZEUNT -

Employee Withholding
retirement taxon  Cashflow
benefits  Provisions  dividends hedges Total

4HE EREEE HEAE ARNE ERERHAEN B REEAR ReREHH EH

$000FxE $000Fx $000Fm  $'000F T

$000Fx $000Fx $000F7w $000F7T  $000F 7%

Deferred tax arising from:
KENTEBZELHE -
At 1st April 2022
RZB-=£MmAF-H
Exchange adjustments
ERHE
Credited/(charged) to profit

or loss 16,629 340 (438) 26,321
RERFA/ (1)

Credited/(charged) to reserves

REHETA/ (HER)

fog_'\"ir;hfogi e 86292 (812) 8337 164463

(108,357) (9,050) 9,381 147,631

5436 583 (606) (9,289)

895 151,124 (8907) (126) 182591

= (10,633) = = (14,509)

2328 (34,009) 4,863 = 16,034

680 = = (218) 462

3,903 106,482 (4,044) (344) 184,578

Deferred tax arising from:
FEUTEBEZEEHE
At 1st April 2023
RZBZZEMA-H
Exchange adjustments
ERAE
Credited/(charged) to

profit or loss 11,752 (588) 547 7,228
RERFA/ (118)

(Charged)/credited to
reserves - - - -

R (NI /FA

?:fgﬁ"g;hfﬁi R (72211)  (8313) 8471 165106

(86,292) (8,127) 8,337 164,663

2,329 402 (413) (6,785)

3,903 106,482 (4,044) (344) 184578

= (5,628) = = (10,095)

12 4957 (740) = 23,168

(1,003) = = 344 (659)

2912 105,811 (4,784) = 196,992
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24 Income tax in the consolidated statement of 24 HZEMBRRRZAEH @
financial position (continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised: (b)) ERIBELEHBEELEE (BE)
(continued) (&)

Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial A E B AR SR

position

2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F
$'000 T 5t $'000 F 7t

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position 269,555 260,693
REFE M RRRER 2 ELER B E E R

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated statement of

financial position (76,115)
REESUBRARERZELHREEEFHE
196,992 184,578

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised () KRERZELEBEEE

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(r), the REBEMFINMBZEHEER  ~AEE L &R
Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of tax =875 B8 i % & 18 & H b & i Z £ 524,036,000
losses and other temporary differences of $524,036,000 (2023: 7t (=& = =4 :539,785,000t) 2 IE & Fi 18
$539,785,000) as it is not probable that future taxable profits against EE @' RETREBEKRIERLZIEEEREET
which the losses and other temporary differences can be utilised will A BEEERRERT AR IRETBAZE
be available in the relevant tax jurisdictions and entities. BAEERHEMERER -

Included in unrecognised tax losses is an amount of $46,078,000 RERKKEE+FHE 46,078,000 (ZE=-=
(2023: $52,465,000) which can be carried forward up to twenty % : 52,465,000 7t) A BEIEEE 2 FERLE
years from the year in which the loss originated, and an amount of E&Z—+% > & 259,086,000 Tt (ZE=-=%:
$259,086,000 (2023: $269,334,000) which can be carried forward 269,334,000 ) O BEIEE4A 2 FEREE
up to five years from the year in which the loss originated. The & ZHEF o H£8218,872,000 T (ZZ==%
remaining balance of $218,872,000 (2023: $217,986,000) does not 217,986,000 7t ) # 2 T RIBRITBEE R ©
expire under current tax legislation.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

25 Capital, reserves and dividends 25 BFR - -#HERERE
(@) Movements in components of equity (a) HERAEANTHZEE

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of AEBEGESERREARIN 2 ENHEEREER
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the ZHERFNGESEZEHR - AQTREZEER
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes ARBHORENRERZESEFHBEHINNT ¢
in the Company’s individual components of equity between the

beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

The Company b AT
Shares held
for share Share-based
award compensation
Share scheme Capital General reserve Hedging Retained Total
capital R EE 3 reserve reseve  RIFEMH reserve profits equity
Note BE  HEZBH  EAGE  -BEE BEHE  HNEE RO RuEE

R $000Ffx  $o00Ffx  $000Frm  $000Fm  $000Fm  $000Fm  $000Fm  $000F

Balance at 1st April 2022
RZB-ZEMA-AEH

Changes in equity for the year:
REEZEHED:
Transfer from capital reserve to
retained profits 25(e)fi) - - (1,218) - - - 1,218 -
BEARHEERERERA

Shares issued on exercise of share

options 25(c)(ii) 5412 - - - (746) - - 4,666
ROEBRETRTRH
Shares issued on vesting of share

awards 25(c)(i) 3013 - - - (3,013) - - -
AEBROZBMETRG

Vesting shares pursuant to the
share award scheme 25(d) - 2776 - - (2,388) - (388) -
RERDER AFERD

Equity settled share-based
transactions - - - - 25,549 - - 25,549
HRABNHER RS

Transfer from share-based

compensation reserve to

retained profits - - - - (982) - 982 -
BRAERBEREERERE

il
Interim dividend declared in

respect of the current year 25(b)i) - - - - - - (13916) (13916)
ERAEEZPERE

Total comprehensive income for
the year - - - -

AEERANRAE

Balance at 31st March 2023
R-B-=E=A=1-R#H4

1,013,028 (10,002) 31,522 2,261 58,701 637 1612660 2708807

1111 113,091 114,202

1,021,453 (7,226) 30,304 2,261 77121 1748 1713647 2,839,308
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

25 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued) 25 BAX - #ERKE @
(@) Movements in components of equity (continued) (a) ARG 2EE @)
The Company (continued) AL A] (&)
Shares held
for share Share-based
award compensation
Share scheme Capital General reserve Hedging Retained Total
capital RPEMEE  reserve reserve  [RIAEH reserve profits eciéity
Note Bx  REzRB  EAGE 0 -G HERE  HEE BEN  EnaE

i $000Fx  $000Fx  $000Fx  $000Fx  $000Fm  $000Fm  $000Fm  $000F 7w

Balance at 1st April 2023
R=B-=§MA—-A&H

Changes in equity for the year:
REECERET:

Transfer from capital reserve to

retained profits 25(e)fi) =
BEARBERZREREAN
Shares issued on exercise of

share options 25(c)(i 19,791 = = s (3,624) = = 15,967
ROEEREME TR

Shares issued on vesting of

share awards 25(c)(i) 3,154 - - - (3,154) - - -
AEBRORBHETRE
Vesting shares pursuant to the

share award scheme 25(d) - 4516 - - (4,773) - 257 -
RERGRET HARERH
Shares purchased for share award

scheme 25(d) - (6,171) - - - - - (6,171)
RRORBHARE 2RO
Equity settled share-based

transactions = = = = 21,865 - - 21,865
DRBARTER RS

Transfer from share-based

compensation reserve to

retained profits = = 3
BROENBEREBRZRE

bl
Final dividend approved in respect

of the previous year 25(b)(il) = = = - = - (15,017) (15,017)
HEBRL—EEZRERE

Interim dividend declared in
respect of the current year 25(b)(i) = = = - - - (15,004) (15,004)
ERAEEZPHRE

Total comprehensive income for
the year = = = 3

AEERERRAR

Balance at 31st March 2024
R-E-ME=A=+-R&H

1,021,453 (7,226) 30,304 2,261 77121 1748 1713647 2,839,308

(1,218) = = = 1,218 =

(1,315) - 1,315 -

(1,748) 150,334 148,586

1,044,398 (8,881) 29,086 2,261 85,920 - 1836750 2,989,534
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(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

25 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued) 25 BFR - - #HEREKRE @

(b) Dividends (b) EKE

(i)  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (i) EBFFELAARBEEEAZELEE
Company attributable to the year B E

2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F
$’'000 F T $'000 F 7t

Interim dividend declared and paid of 1.4 cents per ordinary share
(2023: 1.3 cents per ordinary share)

. N . 13,916
EEREEXN2HHRE -GREBER 1410
(ZZ2==F: gREEKR1.310)
Final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period
of 6.3 cents per ordinary share (2023: 1.4 cents per ordinary share)
(note 25(f)) 15,017

REFRBEBRR2AERE - BREER6.31L
(ZE-=F SRZBER 1.41L) (MFEE25(F)

82,591 28,933

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period R E 3k B % Kk 2 K #1 I8 B T3 % #it & B 5 3R
is based on 1,072,814,812 (2023: 1,072,099,023) ordinary shares, REHCERITRMEE1072814812K (==&
being the total number of issued shares at the date of approval of ==% : 1,072,099,023 1) ZERTE -

the financial statements.

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period REHRBEERRK2APRENERALAER

was not recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period. BEE-
(i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (i) BRE—BEFE HERFAMER
Company attributable to the previous financial year, SN FERAGREILFEAZEMNKRE

approved and paid during the year

2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F
$'000 F T $'000 F T

Final dividend in respect of the previous financial year, approved
and paid during the year of 1.4 cents per ordinary share (2023: nil)

%E@t—ﬁ?fﬂliﬁi?iﬁ%k)&&iﬁz
REBREABREBRI14L(ZE==F 1 &)

15,017 =
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

25 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(c) Share capital
(i) Issued share capital

25 BAX - #ERKE @

() B=&
() BEETRE

2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=-=
Number of Number of
shares shares Amount
RZEE BHEE okt
'000 T A& '000 F A% $'000 F 7T
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:
ERTREHMEZHR -
At 1st April
1,070,899 1,021,453 1,070,010 1,013,028
RIEUA—H
Shares issued on exercise of share options
o " L 1,704 19,791 716 5412
BATEBRENRTRA
Shares issued on vesting of share awards
e . = 212 3,154 173 3,013
REBROREMBITRG
At 31st March
s 1,072,815 1,044,398 1,070,899 1,021,453
R=A=+—H _

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company'’s residual assets.

(i) Shares issued under share option schemes

During the year, options were exercised to subscribe for 1,704,000
(2023: 716,000) ordinary shares in the Company. The net
consideration of $15,967,000 (2023: $4,666,000) was credited to
share capital. $3,824,000 (2023: $746,000) was transferred from the
share-based compensation reserve to the share capital account in
accordance with the policy set out in note 1(q)(iii).

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

EERZFEEATHRABER2RE X7
RAERBZRELRBRBRODEE —ZRFE -
RARBZRNBEEMS  IEEBERERE
ZHER -

(i) RIEBRETZZRTZRE
ERAREL704,000R (Z 2= =5
716,0008%) A AR EBR 2 BREETE - R
BIF%E4 15,967,000 T (ZE =4 : 4,666,000
) B EEEARRAK 2 3,824,000 (ZE =5 :
746,000 7T) B 4R 55 T 5F 1(a)(ii) Pk < BUK B &
HERBERERABRKER -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

25 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(d) Shares held for share award scheme

Movement of the Company’s shares held for share award scheme is
set out as below:

25 BAX - #ERKE @
d BRoOEBEFEZRA

LI

2024 2023
k1 £ 2 —EI=F
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
kRGEE &8 RSB S5
'000 T fig $'000 Tt '000 F i& $'000 F 7t
At 1st April
7,226 500 10,002
RMAB—H
Shares purchased for share award scheme 6171 ~ ~
RO RETERE 2R '
Vesting shares pursuant to the share award
scheme (324) (4,516) (139) (2,776)
BRIBR 0 R B EIEE RGO
At 31st March
8,881 361 7,226
R=A=+-—H

Shares held for share award scheme includes shares issued by the
Company and the Company’s shares purchased through the trustee
of the share award scheme from the open market. The total amount
paid to acquire the shares during the current year was approximately
$6,171,000 (2023: nil), which has been deducted from shareholders’
equity as at 31st March 2024. The shares purchased by the Company
that are not yet vested for this share award scheme were recorded
as treasury shares of the Company.

As at 31st March 2024, there were 637,000 (2023: 361,000)
treasury shares held through the trustee of the share award scheme.

(e) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Capital reserve

As part of the restructuring of the Group in February 1994, the
Company disposed of a property to a former subsidiary and
consideration was received in the form of cash and another property.
A total gain, representing the difference between the historical
carrying value of the property disposed of and the fair value of the
consideration received, resulted from such transaction.

RIDRBTEFTEZROBEAAAEITZR
BRARREBRDERTEAZEARAHED

BEAZKRATRD - FREARDAZFHE
BAX6171000 T (ZE2-=F 1 &) - HER

CE_NE=ZA=+-—HEREREZPIK -
KABMARMDRBETSBEBEAREB 2R
BIERAR AT EFRD AR -

RZE-_NMF=A=+—H RORBTE=
ZiEAFHE 637,000 (=& = =% : 361,000
BR) EFIR D ©

(e) REZMERARER

i) BXEE
EATEER-NWNNE-AETcERZ—
G ADRE-FEAMBARHE-BYE
REURER S —EWEXNT  HERXZE
ARG FHEMEZELREESRD K
RERAREZERE-
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(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

25 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(e) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(i) Capital reserve (continued)

The gain arising from this transaction was divided into realised and
unrealised portions in the ratio of the amount of cash and the fair
value of the property received (“the property”). The unrealised gain
was taken to capital reserve and is realised on depreciation of the
property. During the year, $1,218,000 (2023: $1,218,000) was
transferred from capital reserve to retained profits.

(i) Surplus reserve

The surplus reserve has been set up by Shenzhen Vitasoy, Vitasoy
Foshan, Vitasoy Wuhan, Vitasoy Shanghai and Vitasoja (Macau)
Limitada, in accordance with regulations in Mainland China and
Macau SAR respectively.

(iii)  Other reserve

The other reserve arose from the equity transactions with the non-
controlling interests of Shenzhen Vitasoy and Vitasoy Foshan in
2011, Vitasoy Dongguan in 2019 and VAP in 2023.

(iv)  Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the
cumulative net change in the fair value of hedging instruments used
in cash flow hedges pending subsequent recognition of the hedged
cash flow in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for cash
flow hedges in note 1(t).

(v)  Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of subsidiaries
and the joint venture established outside Hong Kong and the foreign
exchange differences arising from translation of monetary items that
in substance form part of the net investment in subsidiaries and the
joint venture established outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(v).

(vi)  Share-based compensation reserve

Share-based compensation reserve comprises the fair value of the
actual or estimated number of unexercised share options and share
awards granted to eligible participants recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments in note
1(q)iii).
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25 BAX - #ERKE @

() REZMERMBR @

() EBEX#E &)
ZEXGzWEZEWRERME (WED
DRAEZEHD B SRR KREREH - K2
BRHBCTABERRHE LR EWERE

1,218,0007t) BEA R BERZREEA -

(i) BEAFE

BerEEERYIEMD - LMD RS
byl ~ LMl R4 CRFY) BR AR D
BIARE P B At KR PIASRI TR 2 AR R -

(i) R
Hitf@BEER -2 ——FERIIEBDRE
WAEMTD R-ZZB-NAFERTEMBPURR
TECC-HFHREVAPHEIERES CEERS

(iv) 31
HWrhREEERERSHARREBME U AME
FRREREBEHFRR ST HRERE RS
REBEZREREHP 2HHPTAND AEBERE
FEEB 2 BUEM

v) EZ#FE
ERRERSRETBUMER L ZHE R
ARGERRAZMBRRELEZMBNEER
EERBERBUNMNMERL 2HBARARS
ENTNBEERRREFE DO ZEREBE
EZ INERE R EE o AR BASREME LA
HoETHEERE -

vi) ROEEHERE
BROERBERBEESRTAERSHEECE
BREMETEE 2 M RTEBRER KO R
D7 - THRAR Y EE Ua)il) BB B R
B2ARERZSABRMERT -
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(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

25 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(f)  Distributability of reserves

At 31st March 2024, the aggregate amounts of reserves available
for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company, as calculated
under the provisions of Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, was $1,839,011,000 (2023: $1,715,908,000).

After the end of the reporting period the directors proposed a
final dividend of 6.3 cents per ordinary share (2023: 1.4 cents per
ordinary share), amounting to $67,587,000 (2023: $15,017,000)
(note 25(b)(i)). The dividend proposed after the end of 31st March
2024 reporting period was not recognised as liabilities at 31st March
2024.

(g) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that
it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately
with the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practices, the Group monitors its capital
structure on the basis of a debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. For this
purpose, the Group defines debt as the total of bills payable, bank
loans and lease liabilities, and adjusted capital as all components of
equity less unaccrued proposed dividends.

The Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from the year ended
31st March 2023, was to maintain the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio
below 30%. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new
shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell
assets to reduce debt.

25 BAX - #ERKE @

() wHDIRFE
R-B-WME=ZA=+—-8 REES(QT
RBINE 6 F 2R E 2 TR DK FAD TR
EEEAZHEHEE51,839,011,000T (=&
Z=%:1,715,908,0007T) °

REFRB%ZR ESEERBERPBRESR S
BR63M (ZZE_=F  SRZTBER141L) £
215 67,587,000t (Z & = =% : 15,017,000
7T) (FEE25(0)(0) c R=BE=-WE=A=+—H
EFRAZBRZBRER-E_NEF=A=+—
Bt AERAEE -

(g) EBEXREH

FEEEEREAKR ZEZEERRARELER
RESECENEL EBRERKRBNER
AREREREBIKERESERNEERE
EHEEBESRRREHLEHRE A E R EHEE
ALTRMRE -

FEEEBRERHERRBETRIRER
UERSRRERAIERFTRS G EKFEE
EEXRRRTRZEZREEBNSFE I
HEEERE 2 SCHERRBFELHARE -

REXENED  AEEUEEHERABRERL
REREERAEARBEE FILBEH K
SEKEERERAENRERE RTERREES
BEZRE CHRELXADER ZPBAKDS
RIE R BRI B ©

AEEZEREGE -2 -_=F=A=1t—H
HFEERBAE  BEEHEHARENLRE
FRI0BUT - BERFIRFAZFTBALE  KAE
BREAEORRKGT2REESHE  BITHR
BARREDES BEFEEMEIHE
EEUREERE-
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25 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued) 25 BFR - - #HEREKRE @
(g) Capital management (continued) () BEAXREE @
The Group’s debt-to-adjusted capital ratio at 31st March 2024 and AEER-E-_NER=—_ZB=_=F=ZA=1+—
2023 was as follows: AzEEHKHABRERLZEMT !
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=fF
$’000 Tt $'000 F 7t
Current liabilities:
WEEE
Bills payable
124,552 91,712
EAEE
Bank loans (note 20)
s 255,987 409,633
RITE X (FHEE20)
Lease liabilities (note 21)
. 104,865 84,665
HESE (MEE21)
485,404 586,010
Non-current liabilities:
FREEE
Bank loans (note 20)
. 115,053
RITE R (MFFE20)
Lease liabilities (note 21)
198,000 51,521
HESE (MFE21)
Total debt
683,404 752,584
Total equity
RS 3,112,637 3,100,590
Less: Proposed dividends (note 25(b)(i)) (67.587) (15.017)

L BORAR S (B EE 25(b)()

Adjusted capital
TR B A 3,045,050 3,085,573
Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio

p— 22% 24%

Certain of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to fulfilment of AEBEETHRITEEEFTERLE  BEELAE
covenants which include maintaining the Group’s debt-to-adjusted @EZE8EHEAREREREZTNE TEHEN
capital ratio below a certain amount and maintaining the Group’s net TREANEB 2 FEEL REZNETHEUN
worth ratio above a certain amount. Except for the above, neither £ o BRU EFr#ish » KA T R EAEMKHE A A
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally B BEBFIIFHEMZERBRE °

imposed capital requirements.
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(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

26 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in
the normal course of the Group's business. The Group’s exposures to
these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices
used by the Group to manage these risks are described below.

(@) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. Management has a credit policy in place and exposure to
credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group’s cash and bank deposits are placed with financial
institutions with sound credit ratings, and the management consider
the Group's exposure to credit risk is low.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose the
Group to credit risk.

Trade debtors and bills receivable (which are included in trade
and other receivables)

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments, when due, and
current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. Trade debtors and bills receivables are
generally due within one to three months from the date of billing.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in
industries or countries in which the customers operate. Significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers. At the end of the
reporting period, 18.0% (2023: 19.0%) and 44.6% (2023: 45.0%)
of the total trade and other receivables was due from the Group’s
largest customer and the five largest customers respectively.

26 BEERMEEREMIAEZD
fE

AEEE-REBBRDFEEE RDES
FRRE R o 2B H Rz AR E R R A
SEMEEZSARMRA M ERRERR
REERIFMLMT -

(@) FERME
EERABRERSHEREANEEMERASE
B BAEZ AR -

FrEEzFERBEIEREBRUERRAR AME
B - EEBREGFERR MAEKEZBH
FERRBERIERE-

AEBCRERBITERNDERRERFEE
AR EREE EEERALEEERZE
ERBRAE-

AEELEEHREAESAKSERRREERR
2R o

FEW IR RIEWE1E (B BIERENKR
REMEXTA)
FEBEERBBREFESHZEFYRETE
BIEER - ZEFEETFTREFBEZEH
BERTHRASEREN  UTEZEEF2F
EENMUREHREFEEMECKERE - &
WERREEREE -—RRBEABT —Z2=@
ARIM - -5 AEEFSREFIE
i m o

AEBREFELEEETEZTEREARL
BEAREFEERR EAEHEERAREE
RAEEHGENEFCEREREBHRE -
RERE AEERAEFREREFZX
XD Bl FE Uk BR 3k B HL i B UL SR 42 58 2 18.0%

ZEBEZ=F :119.0%) K44.6% (B ==
45.0%)
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26 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(@)  Credit risk (continued)

Trade debtors and bills receivable (which are included in trade
and other receivables) (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade debtors and bills
receivable at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure
to credit risk and ECLs for trade debtors and bills receivable:

26 BEERMEEREMIAEZD
SfE @

(@) EERRE @

FEW BR7 R FE W Z 1% (B G 1% R E W AR 7
REMEKA) (&)
AEBERERREREZE S HREE —BRIEZ
MERAERESHAN AR EEE RAR
BIEEIE) S EHE HRAEEBASE
FRERTEBERTRAES B2 BBEERST
EEAZR  MREBEOHRRTEFEEBER
G EHAEMARAECHEEE—SBED o

TEREHAEASERBY R R ERRE M
HiFzFERRRABEEBFREZEN

2024 2023
e 111 2 —E-=F
Gross Gross
carrying Loss carrying Loss
amount allowance amount allowance
IREEE EERE BREAE E a1
$°000F 7t $'000F 7t $'000F T $'000F 7T
Current (not past due)
N 642,298 712,720 =
BNEA (RiEp)
Less than one month past due
. 62,465 66,217 1,829
LR —@EA ( )
One to three months past due
. _ 9,655 5,101 733
A8 — 2= {8 A e
More than three months but less than
twelve months past due 2,663 8,259 (1,900)
BHEB=EAELIAT=@A
More than twelve months past due 2,099 1,165 (43)

BHEBR T @A

719,180 (3,879) 793,462 (4,505)
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(BRBESBI - LUBAEE)

26 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(@) Credit risk (continued)

Trade debtors and bills receivable (which are included in trade
and other receivables) (continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade debtors
and bills receivable during the year is as follows:

26 BEERMEEREMIAEZD
SfE @

(@) EERRE @
FEW BR7 R FE W Z 1% (B G 1% R E W AR 7
REMEKA) (&)

BUERFRERRE ZBERERNFRN2E
BT

Balance at 1st April

RO A — B #&&k

Exchange adjustments

fE 5 AR

Impairment losses recognised
BRREEE

Uncollectible amounts written off

AT = & B e

Balance at 31st March
R=B=+—H#

2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F
$’'000 F T $'000 F 7t
4,308
(235)

1,278
(846)

3,879 4,505

(b) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for
their own cash management for daily operation, including placing
short term cash deposits and raising of loans to cover expected cash
demands, subject to approval by the parent company’s board when
the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of authority.
Cash surplus over operating needs are closely monitored and
managed by the Group’s central cash and treasury management
system. The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and long term. The Group’s exposures
to the liquidity risk and its policies for managing such risk were
unchanged from the year ended 31st March 2023.

(b) RBEZREMR
FEEENECEEEAEHATEFZREE
B AEEREPRREFRREAERURE
EHREFR HEMHNEEEBETHALEEZ
REAY RAESQARESSHE - BBE
EfFE R BB AEETRESRYEE
BHERYEERER AEB BRI EH
ERHRDESHEERABTERRZHRZBER
DERASEESZARRESRERETERS
BMEBARRHARAZES  UENHEDRR
RECARBESERE -BEE-_ZT_=F=A
=t+t—HLFER AEEAERZABESEA
fRkAEEABARBRGEZD -

Annual Report 2023/2024 £ E# & @



Notes to the Financial Statements
e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

26 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(b)  Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

26 BEERMEEREMIAEZD
SfE @

(b) REE SRR (@)
TEZNAEBEZSBEBEAERAZH TS
HERR > WIRBANRTRESRE (B8R
BHFR . RNETEIRER B BT FIRE
BRENR) URAEEAGEEHRES
B2 A EED

2024
kS £:3
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHRTRRASNH
More than More than
Within one year but two years but
one year or less than less than
ondemand two years five years After Carrying
—FRg SR—F8 SRMER five years Total Amount
RER DRWF PREF b3 Foh REE
$'000F 7t $000F $000F 7t $'000F 7t $'000F 7t $'000F ¢
Trade and other payables (excluding receipts
in advance and customer deposits)
1,591,749 - - 8,955 1,600,704 1,600,704
FEfT R R H A B AT5R
(TEERUFTEREFRS)
Bank loans
s 258,877 - - - 258,877 255,987
RITER
;Efj_e "ff"'t'es 107,749 77,140 151,689 18813 355,391 302,865
586
1,958,375 77,140 151,689 27,768 2,214,972 2,159,556

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7
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26 Financial risk management and fair values of 26 BREMEEREMIAZD

financial instruments (continued) RE@®
(b)  Liquidity risk (continued) (b) AREBESRERE @
2023
—EC=F
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
EARTBER SR

More than More than

Within one year but two years but

one year or less than less than
on demand two years five years After Carrying
—ER SR-% SRMEE five years Total Amount
REX SRME PREE bk b REE
$000F $000F $000F 7t $000F ¢ $000F ¢ $000F ¢

Trade and other payables (excluding receipts
in advance and customer deposits)

" " 1,695,182 - - 9,483 1,704,665 1,704,665
ERRTRAMESR
(TEERRZEREFES)
Bank |
A oane 416,584 121,679 - - 538,263 524,686
RITER
Lease liabilities
. 86,108 36,176 11,088 19,352 152,724 136,186
HEER
2197874 157855 11,088 28835 2,395,652 2,365,537
(c) Interest rate risk () FZEEK

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows FIZEERIEEHMIBECAABERIARBELERE
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market [ FE T 15 R 2= 8 B) M 5% B 2 B o
interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-bearing ZAEBEZFZEBTIERBHEMEE - RITHE
borrowings, bank deposits and cash at bank. The Group monitors RRBITEEFE AEFBEREETERFE IR
the level of its fixed rate and variable rate instruments. The Group’s KF¥ - AREBHEEBEEZNZERNEFENT
interest rate profile as monitored by management is set out in (i) X (i)IE o

below.
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26 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)
(i) Interest rate risk profile

The following table details the interest rate risk profile of the Group’s
interest-bearing instruments at the end of the reporting period:

26 BEERMEEREMIAEZD
SfE @

(c) FIZRE R #E)

(i) FIEZH
THRENAEEMOMETIERERD ZFZE
P

2024 2023
—E-mEF —g-=
Interest Interest
rate range Amount rate range Amount
FIE§E ok} FREE £5
% $'000 F ¢ % $°000 F 7T
Fixed rate instruments:
Bank deposits maturing after three months
- P 0.10-4.85 151,498 0.10 507
FREEB=EA ZRITEX
Bank deposits maturing within three months
. — P 0.10-5.08 486,006 0.50 - 4.98 295,007
ERER=EAAZRITER
Lz s 170-7.08 ERIS] 170 - 543 (136,186)
HESRE
334,639 159,328
Variable rate instruments:
EETA:
Cash at bank
_ 0.00-4.20 152,815 0.00 - 4.05 255,645
RITHEF
Bank loans
e e 3.20-5.95 (255,987) 3.30 - 6.77 524,686
RITER ( )
(103,172) (269,041)
Total net instruments 231,467 (109,713)

TRFHEE

(i) Sensitivity analysis

At 31st March 2024, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease
of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would have decreased/increased the Group’s profit after

taxation and decreased/increased retained profits by approximately
$645,000 (2023: $1,882,000).

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. #Eftt B EFREEE B R A A
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26 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(¢) Interest rate risk (continued)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous change in
the Group's profit after taxation and retained profits in respect of
the exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate
instruments held by the Group at the end of the reporting period.
The impact on the Group’s profit after taxation and retained profits
is estimated as an annualised impact on interest expense of such a
change in interest rates. Management assumed that certain interest-
bearing borrowings maturing during the next reporting period will be
rolled over upon the maturing for daily operation purposes.

The Group does not account for any fixed rate borrowings at fair
value through profit or loss, and the Group does not use derivative
financial instruments to hedge its debt obligation. The fixed rate
instruments of the Group are insensitive to any change in market
interest rate. A change in interest rate at the end of the reporting
period would not affect profit or loss.

The analysis has been performed on the same basis for the year
ended 31st March 2023.

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales,
purchases and borrowings which give rise to receivables, payables,
cash balances and lease liabilities that are denominated in a foreign
currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional currency of the
operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies giving
rise to this risk are primarily United States dollars (“USD”), Australian
dollars (“AUD”), Singapore dollars (“SGD”), Renminbi (“RMB”) and
Euros (“EUR”).

For group entities whose functional currency is Hong Kong dollars
(“HKD”), all sales and purchases are denominated in either HKD
or USD, except for certain transactions with group entities and
purchases that are denominated in AUD, SGD, RMB and EUR. Given
the HKD is pegged to the USD, management does not expect that
there will be any significant currency risk associated with such USD
denominated transactions.

26 BEERMEEREMIAEZD
SfE @

(c) FIZRE R #E)

(i) BT (E)

RSB MBERAEENERA RS ZF
BFETASIBAEEEGRSHRENEEAR
THRBMERFIRRE RN ZMEEE - AEH
BB ERFIRGERFTESHE DRFIES
BB EEEE G SEBRSE
RT—EREHEBE 2 THEEEARE
BIGEEUEAREEZR -

AEEBYELETMNESERRDIABEFEL
ABs BAKETEERATESRT AH
HEKEFZ AKEZEEIAHEATSA
RBPITHR -ERAZANREHITHE

BE-_E_=F=HA=+—-BULEEZH2HD
RBRHEEEET -

(d) EBE¥EE

rEEHG - ERRRIERBEEEREE
MEEAZEBWN BAHR BREEHREESR
& ZEEEDEINE (ARBASER 2UEE
BEUSMcEE)HE - BEEEREARERE
EREn(TEx)) B (GRxTD ~5%E (K
) ARBTARBDRET (&) -

RUMEEEREE (BB 2EEEEMS
BRETREEEBETZIRZRRBIRT
K AR RBTETESN  TEEETRE
WHETHE ARBERXITHE  EEE
AREBEZREUXRAHEZRZ LA EEFTEKR
BEXRERE -
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26 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(d)  Currency risk (continued)

For group entities whose functional currency is a currency other than
HKD, except for certain sales and transactions with group entities
and certain borrowings from group entities that are denominated
in HKD, most of the other transactions are denominated in their
functional currencies.

The Group’s policies for managing such risk were unchanged from
the year ended 31st March 2023. During the year ended 31st March
2024, the Group uses bank balances to hedge its currency risk arising
from the purchase of raw materials that are denominated in foreign
currency and classifies these as cash flow hedges as set out in note
17(a).

In respect of other trade receivables and payables denominated in
foreign currencies, the Group ensures that the net exposure is kept
to an acceptable level, by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot
rates where necessary to address short-term imbalances.

(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s significant exposure at
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate. For
presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown in
HKD, translated using the spot rates at the year end. Differences
resulting from the translation of the financial statements of
subsidiaries and joint venture outside Hong Kong into the Group’s
presentation currency, the exposure arising from the borrowings
from group entities that in substance form part of the net investment
in subsidiaries and the bank balances that are designated as a hedge
of the Group’s foreign currency risk of highly probable forecast
transactions or committed future transactions are excluded.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

26 BEERMEEREMIAEZD
SfE @

(d) E¥EKE@

REEEE R BB S EEEENS
BREFHEREEEEERETIRNS URESE
EEE ST ESHREBETEN Hib AR
RS VIRE IR E M {E o

BEBEE-_E-_=F=ZA=t+—BLEE#® &K
SETEAERARCERERLEES - REE=
Z_NE=ZA=+—-ALEE AEEFHR
THEEFEPHBEUNETTEZEMBESFRE
£ EERE > WMHET17() FEEZERT
EELIEABRESREYHT -

FASNETHE 2 R BB AR R BN RS -
FEEERFERRNPERTEING  UE
BIEHAEER  BARFEER TSR ER
7}(\/ °

() EEZEEERE
THRHAVNAKEERERAUFHABERE 2EER
WL 2 EBTEZCRAEESIREMESL
REARERRER FHEAREAECSBEIESF
BeAHERRELBEAEZI R BES
BUNMBERBARARSGELA ZMBHRESD
FEBZ2NERMELE =0 RKEEEE
BeEE (BEEBRHNBARZREFEZ
—®40) 2 Ak - MURIEE RS AREBER
RABETZRIACEBETZIRRRG Z
SNERBRZRITEFLTEEER -
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26 Financial risk management and fair values of 26 BREMEEREMIAZD

financial instruments (continued) SfE @
(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) E¥RERE @)
(i)  Exposure to currency risk (continued) (i) AIFZEHEE &)

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in HKD)
HERRALE (NEEHE)
2024 2023
“EonE ZE-CE

UsD ER SO  HKD  RMB  AUD UsD ER SO HKD  RMB AUD
ST v 5% BE  ARE An n & 5% B®  AR® Lo
§ooo o0 000 $000  $000  $000  §o00  $000  $000  $000 000 $000
fn fxn T fn n tn i fr fn i 1 tr

Cash and bank deposits
RERETER

Amount due from/(to)
group companies
e/ (BH)EERE

ARHE

Trade and other payables
ERRRREMEAR

11,508 1 115 64 14,230 136 12811 - = 127 79949 123

9,627 (2037) 3308  (433746) 439620 23480 10036 (1,342) 2567 (303286) 563495 4599

(27.882) (72) (49) - (1,350) (22)  (25267) (529) (419 (18,152) (1,190)
Net exposure arising

from recognised

assets and liabilities (6,747) (2,748) 3382 (433682) 452,500 23,594 (2:420) (1.871) 2148 (303159 625292 44927
EEAEERAREL

ERRETE
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26 Financial risk management and fair values of 26 BREMEEREMIAZD
SuE

financial instruments (continued)

(d)  Currency risk (continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the
Group'’s profit after taxation and retained profits that would arise if
foreign exchange rates to which the Group entities have significant
exposure at the end of the reporting period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables remained constant. In this respect,
it is assumed that the pegged rate between the HKD and the USD

(d) E¥RERE @)
(i) BB SHT

would be materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value

of the USD against other currencies.

usD

HKD
B

RMB
AR®

AUD

2024
——

—_——

Increase/
(decrease)
in foreign
exchange
rates
EREH
(k)

m £

Increase/
(decrease)

in profit after
taxation and
retained profits

RF&EFR
RREEFR
EFH (T E)
$'000F T
(275)

275

(115)
115

150
(150)

(20,646)
20,646

22,371

(22,371)

1,115
(1,115)

TRIMREBZBAAEESEREHERRER
CEZRZALRSHIREREAKERBR
BEANRREEN 2NGEY (BRRABHME
MU SBRZERFTE) - WS DRR)

WREXTCHEERTEREITAAMER 2

AMEEEDEEMIENERTE -
2023
—ECZ=F
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit after
in foreign taxation and
exchange retained profits
rates [E352EE gl
ExtH RREEF
(F%)  EF/(FH)
$000 F 75t
5% (97)
(5)% 97
5% (72)
(5)% 72
5% 90
(5)% (90)
5% (15,160)
(5)% 15,160
5% 30,402
(5)% (30,402)
5% 2,202
(5)% (2,202)
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26 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(d)  Currency risk (continued)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent
an aggregation of the instantaneous effects on each of the Group
entities’ profit after taxation measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into HKD at the exchange rate ruling at the
end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange
rates had been applied to re-measure those financial instruments
held by the Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period, including inter-company
payables and receivables within the Group which are denominated in
a currency other than the functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. The analysis excludes differences that would result from
the translation of the financial statements of subsidiaries and joint
venture outside Hong Kong into the Group’s presentation currency,
the exposure arising from the borrowings from group entities that
in substance form part of the net investment in subsidiaries and the
bank balances that are designated as a hedge of the Group'’s foreign
currency risk of highly probable forecast transactions or committed
future transactions. The analysis has been performed on the same
basis for the year ended 31st March 2023.

26 BEERMEEREMIAEZD
SfE @

(d) B¥REE @

(i) RS HT (E)

FRER AN ERERAEESEREUSH
DhEEMHEBRBRERT RESBETZ
ERRERESLESR AR

BREIMIIBREREXSHERAREFRTESR
SEERERBBFEESAEEMYEIIER 2%
LRI E  BEAEEATEHUERASDE
RAZHEEB U ERETEZENRRE
K- TEERRESEUMENB A
AIREGELNRZHBERRALAEB 2N EY
MELCZH REEEERCEE(BEEK
RBRARZREFE 2~ MEE AR -
URIEEREE P EAEEBHRTEETZR
SHERBETZARR S 2 INER I ZRT
ERE - BE-ZEZ-=ZH=ZA=+—HLEEZ
DWTIRBAREEET -
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27 Commitments

(@)  capital commitments outstanding at 31st March 2024 not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

27 RiE

() R-TB-WE&E=A=+-—A KREHH
BEFBBZRNEREEDT

2024 2023
—F-mEF —EC=F
$'000 F 7t $000 F 7t

Contracted for
254

Authorised but not contracted for

EREERTH

23,306 30,176

254,505 184,592

277,811 214,768

As at 31st March 2024, the Group is committed to certain contracts
for the purchase of factory machinery and equipment.

(b)  The Group's share of capital commitments of the joint venture
not included above are as follows:

RZE_ME=A=+—H XNEBERHZET
ETHBEIMMEERREZEN -

(b) HREHALIAEBEEEEATZE
AFEEMT :

2024 2023
—EMEF —E=-=
$'000 T 5t $'000 F 7t

Authorised but not contracted for

EREERRTN

5,763 86

28 Equity transaction with non-controlling
interests

On 13th February 2023, the Group acquired the remaining 49%
equity interest in Vitasoy Australia Products Pty. Ltd (“VAP”) from
National Foods Holdings Ltd. (“National Foods”) for AUD 51,000,000
in cash (equivalent to approximately $280,345,000), increasing the
Group’s equity interest in VAP from 51% to 100%. The fair value
for the shares acquisition was determined by an independent valuer
jointly appointed by both parties. At the date of acquisition, the
carrying amount of VAP’s net assets amounted to $261,290,000.
The acquisition resulted in a decrease in non-controlling interest of
$128,032,000 and an increase in other reserve of $152,313,000
during the year ended 31st March 2023.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

28 EAFEREDCZEZRS

MRZZBE=-Z=F=H+=0H &%E H National
Foods Holdings Ltd (. [ National Foods |) LA38 &
51,000,000 7T (48 & 7 £ 280,345,000 7T)
B& Vitasoy Australia Products Pty. Ltd (. [ VAPJ)
BRT49% R FE - EAE BN VAPHI R ER51%
EINZE100% - B WHEH A ABRTNG H
BZENBLAEMEE -RWEER - VAP
FEEREMEAS261,290,0007T @ MU BB
BE-_Z_=F=B=t+—HLEEZF#Z
% #E 35 R 4 128,032,000 7t ¢ H % 45 12 A0
152,313,000 5t °
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29 Material related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Group entered into the following
material related party transactions.

(@) Transactions with related parties

(i) During the previous year, the products of the Group were
distributed in Australia by a related party (non-controlling
interests of the Company’s subsidiary up to 12th February
2023) and a management fee was charged for the provision
of services. The management fee was calculated based on
a pre-determined percentage of the net sales of products
distributed by the related party. On 13th February 2023, the
entity ceased to be a related party of the Group after the
equity transaction disclosed in note 28 and the agreement was
terminated. No management fee was charged by the related
party for the year (2023: $25,371,000).

(ii) The Group has entered into a distribution agreement with a
joint venture in the Philippines pursuant to which the Group
agreed to supply soya related beverages and raw materials to
the joint venture. Total sales to the joint venture for the year
amounted to $19,843,000 (2023: $23,117,000). The amount
due from the joint venture as at 31st March 2024 amounted
to $4,840,000 (2023: $10,452,000).

The related party transactions in respect of (i) above constitute
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules (the “Chapter 14A"). However, they are exempt from
the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A as they are below the de
minimis threshold under Rule 14A.76(1).

Equity transaction disclosed in note 28 constitutes a connected
transaction as defined in Chapter 14A and is subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements, but is exempt from the
circular, independent financial advice and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A.

29 EXRAEALRS

REEUBBRREZBERBEZRZRERIN K
EECANUTERBEALRS -

() BEHBEEALTZXRS

i) RE—FE FAEEzERH—BHE
AT (AERAAIMBRARIZFERERE
EZEZ=FZATZH)REMNDHE
ZATHREHBEEBNEERER B8
BARELECCZBEALT I HEER
HEFHEZEILFE - RZE2EZ=
“BtT=H ZEBEME28MIFEEZ
BEXSEBETEATEBZBEAL
DB CKIL - FR > ZEABEATHE
WHEEEHR (ZTE =4 25,371,000
JT) °

(i) AEECH-HFEEESELEQRTL
—EAHEGE B AEBEREBZ
EEQNRMHERTHBERSREMR -
FR BZEEQAAFHZHEELEA
19,843,000 T (=& = =% : 23,117,000
L) o MRZE_WE=A=+—HEWlK
ZEENTZRIEA4840000T (= F
— =% :10,452,0007T) °

LABERENE2HEEALRZBR ETHA
FUAR(F VAR IREZFERERS °
A BRZERZERNE 14A.76(1) IR &K FT
B AUERRETE VAT ZRERE -

MEE28 T B < B R ZBAE 1AAZTFRTE
ZBAERG LABITRERLDEHE  HE
HRBIFVATERTZER BUPKERER
RBRRHLAERE -
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29 Material related party transactions (continued) 29 EXEAEALRS @

(b) Key management personnel remuneration b) BAREBAEZHS

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including Z~NEEBEREEASZHE (BEMNT7AKE
amounts paid to the Company’s Directors as disclosed in note 7and RIAQATEE XX EUR M8 EM
certain of the highest paid individuals as disclosed in note 8,isas HTEEHFALINGZFHE)WT :

follows:

2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-=F
$'000 F 7t $'000 ¥t
Short-term employee benefits
_ . 41,321 40,959
EHHEESRER
Post-employment benefits
e g S 1,694 1,406
BB 2 E A
Equity compensation benefits
. W 13,828 15,227
RAFHEREF
56,843 57,592
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 5(b)). BMEE T ATETRAI(RHEESD)) ©
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30 Company-level statement of financial position 30 2 TEBEHZEERRE

Non-current assets
ERBEE
Pr;@ert,l,%lantand equipment

Investment properties
-REWE

- Right-of-use assets
REE

- Other propert ant and equipment
WERR

- H A3 -

Interest in subsidiaries

R B A=z s

Deposits for the ach|5|t|on of property,

plant and equipmen

BEYWx - FE&&T%ZJ%

Other recelvables
= FE Llf( TA

Current assets
P
Inventories
TS_LE
and ther recelvables

FELIQEE &Eﬂﬂﬁﬁu BN
Amounts due ftrom subsidiaries
FE YR B8~ B FRIE

Current tax recoverable

FE W 3R BB TE

Cash and bank dep05|ts
IE%&%E T?‘TA

Current liabilities
RBARE

Trade and other %éyables
i3 ﬁ EE AR
Ban oans
iR ﬁé

Amounts due to subsidiaries
I B A RIFRIE

Current tax payable

BARH

Lease I|ab|I|t|es
5 E

Net current assets

BRBEE

Total assets less current liabilities

BEERMRDAE

2,998
213,171
440,751

656,920

1,707,204

1,055

15,419

2,380,598

166,367
472,022
570,292

670,375

1,879,056

688,181

290,326
7,770
67,126

1,053,403

825,653

3,206,251

3,123
61,507
481,442

546,072

1,646,958

2,193,030

196,367
511,879
632,513

10,482
425,550

1,776,791

637,920
100,000

254,201

50,477

1,042,598

734,193

2,927,223
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30 Company-level statement of financial position 30 2ATEBEZER TR E

(continued)

Non-current liabilities

EREAE

Lease liabilities

HEEE

Employee retirement benefit liabilities
EEERNEANERE

Deferred tax liabilities

EEBIEAE

157,057 20,386

12,847 12,462

46,813 55,067

216,717 87,915
NET ASSETS
BEE
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
BRRHE
Share capital
[
Reserves
&

TOTALEQUITY
SAE

2,989,534 2,839,308

1,044,398 1,021,453

1,945,136 1,817,855

2,989,534 2,839,308

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20th NoE-—mEANA-t+OEESSH AN ISE

June 2024. BEAf o

Winston Yau-lai LO Roberto GUIDETTI
ErRE [EEE

Director Director

= EE
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Notes to the Financial Statements
e

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSEHBI - LUBHETHE)

31 Non-adjusting events after the reporting

(a)

(b)

period

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Vitasoy
Shanghai announced a production optimisation plan to
affected staff in April 2024. Under this plan Vitasoy Shanghai
production will be suspended temporarily and the plant will
be properly maintained for future production. Some staff have
been transferred to other factories and some will remain to
take care of the plant and operations. 122 staff have opted
for mutual separation and severance pay and RMB27,451,000
was paid on 14th May 2024. No adjustment has been made in
these financial statements in this regard.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Directors
proposed a final dividend. Further details are disclosed in note
25(b)(i).

31

BAFHAZEZERBALRSE

RERBZ #MHLELER_-_FT_NE
MAEMEEEIEMEEREILE R
BT E Bl BB ERFILEEE
WHIRETHEHE UERRBREE -
MAOEBETEHEAEEMIM  HerZB oD
ETHETIMBELE -1228ET
BREADHBEENERE MARHE
27,451,000 tERZZE-_MFR A/ + X
B At o REFFEIRR I KR FhLLAEHFAR -

ESNERREREBRBERIRE - &
— SR BRI EE 25(b)() R B o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEHII - LUBIEEE)

32 Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued but not
yet effective for the year ended 31st March
2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of new or amended standards, which are not
yet effective for the year ended 31st March 2024 and which have
not been adopted in these financial statements. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

32 BHEMEEARREBEE—T-MN
F=ZA=+—HLFEEHZ
15T - METEBREETEER
Bz R &

BEZEUBEERTEZ2A  EREHAAS
EEMEBE T _HNF=A=1+—-RLFEH

REM NEEZSEVERRRA2BEHF]
RNAEIEETER > EFREET I W a2 AR E E 4
BEZ1&E] ©

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

MRT5IHE
HzEFRBZ
ETHRAEXN
Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements:
Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 1st January 2024
(BERESTHEAE IR FTBEHEXZS  HEEBTEETEHIHFmE ]2 —E-_WE—-HF—H
&3]
Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: Non-current
e . 1st January 2024
liabilities with covenants —mE—F—§
(BB EAE IR GBEHREXZS WERFEZHRBEE 215 ==
Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases: Lease liability in a sale and leaseback 1st January 2024
(BEBUBREERF 16K EAHLOZHEESE | 2185 —E-MWE—-HF—H
Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and HKFRS 7, Financial
Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier finance arrangements 1st January 2024
(BEBEHEANE7TRIELREX IR(EBUBREERF 7R 24 —E-MFE—A—H
TH: FEE HREFHEZTH 2B
An:;r:j nz::’/c(s ;c:elj(CK/ﬁQSn 2 :‘;;Zte effects of changes in foreign exchange 1st January 2025
g y —E-RF—HA—H

(BRESTHEANE2FREXZE o HE e AXEM 2185
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far the Group concluded that the adoption of
any of the above amendments or new standard is unlikely to have a

significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7
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Five Year Summary
e é% REHBRE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(LUBHETE)
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
Note it LB —T--F C—T--E B CZECEHE
M &E $'000F 7T $'000F T $'000F T $'000F 7t $'000 F 7T
Results
ES
NR;V)\enue (WAVAVK] 6,340,559 6,501,215 7,519,817 7,232,641
Profit/(loss) from operations 185.432
@R/ () 1,2 3 103,593 (212,851) 843,471 707,433
Finance costs
o 30,028 , J , I
& A 2 ( ) (32,547) (23,071) (11,770) (10,932)
Share of losses of joint venture
g 23,736 , = , ’
5 A TR ( ) (22,253) (22,242) (17,433)
Impairment loss on interest in joint
venture - - (42,800) -
AELREEZHERE
Profit/(loss) before taxation
s e 131,668
BERATR (i) 48,793 (235,922) 766,659 679,068
sl 1,2 (13,880) (27,736) 74,541 (177,151)  (109,477)
FrEH
Profit/(loss) for the year 117.788
REERF () ) 21,057 (161,381) 589,508 569,591
Attributable to:
TH AL FEL:
- Equity shareholders of the Company
" 116,367
_RATREESA 45,721 (158,750) 548,346 535,878
- Non-controlling interests
e 1,421 ; d 5 )
R (24,664) (2,631) 41,162 33,713
Profit/(loss) for the year
o o) 117,788 ! , , ,
REERF (BB 21,057 (161,381) 589,508 569,591
Assets and liabilities
BERAEE
Property, plant and equipment 3103420
W . GRS 2 ,103, 3,392,122 3,968,218 4,142,718 3,712,005
Other non-current assets
s 286,205 , , , ,
E B SR 1 261,112 282,739 163,942 181,288
Net current assets/(liabilities)
7 o3 h - 21,694 , ' , ,
ERBEE/ (BE) 2 (275,637) (475,424) (114,224) (185,794)
Total assets less current liabilities
NS 3,411,319
BEERAEAE 2 3,377,597 3,775,533 4,192,436 3,707,499

NP e 12 PEERIA  (277,007)  (206434)  (235562)  (289,395)
FREBER

3,112,637 3,100,590 3,569,099 3,956,874 3,418,104

NET ASSETS
FEE
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Five Year Summary

EFEBERE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LB HEEE)
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
Note b el [l —T-=F C-B--Hf ZE--F CZB-EH
B &E $'000F 5t $'000 F 7t $000F 7t $000F 7t $000F 7t
Capital and reserves
BERRGHE
E;;I;e er NPVRITE 1021453 1,013,028 984,030 939,328
%‘ffg“’es 1 RTOREYM 1963262 2244885 2632023 2,189,062
Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 3,004,560 2,984,715 3,257,913 3,616,053 3,128,390
RABIRESE ABLESELEE
penconiclin=lies 108,077 115,875 311,186 340,821 289,714
FERER
TOTALEQUITY
P KEAVECTM 3100590 3,569,099 3956874 3,418,104
Earnings/(loss) per share
BEREFN,/ (&HE)
:;325'_(“ yOEXSTEY I 4.3 centsfll (14.9 centsfll) 51.5 centsfill  50.4 centsHll
fien .8 cents 4.3 centsfill (14.9 centsfll) 51.0centsfill  49.9 cents{ll

Note to the five year summary

1

In 2023, the Group changed its accounting policy in relation to its long
service payment (“LSP”) liability following the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of the mandatory provident
fund (“MPF") - LSP offsetting mechanism issued in February 2023.
The policy was applied from June 2022 by recognising a catch-up
adjustment on the Group’s LSP liability. That was the time when the
Hong Kong SAR Government gazetted the Hong Kong Employment
and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022, which will eventually abolish the
statutory right of an employer to reduce its LSP and severance
payment payable to a Hong Kong employee by drawing on its
mandatory contributions to the MPF scheme. The policy change does
not have any effect on earlier periods before the legislative changes.

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 16, Leases, with effect from 1st
April 2019, the Group has changed its accounting policies in respect
of the lessee accounting model. In accordance with the transitional
provisions of the standard, the changes in accounting policies were
adopted by way of opening balance adjustments to recognise right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities as at 1st April 2019. After initial
recognition of these assets and liabilities, the Group as a lessee is
required to recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding
balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation of the right-of-use
asset, instead of the previous policy of recognising rental expenses
incurred under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Figures in years earlier than 2020 are stated in accordance with
the policies applicable in those years.

@ Vitasoy International Holdings Ltd. b iEIFREE AR D 7

A BRHEME

1

R-ZZEZ=ZF RESBSFTMHAIER=-F
“EHE_AEGARERBAMELAES (R
B ) - ROBRBSIEHRS 2S5t 285
FEECEXRERERMRE S (RERHB
ENEBZETEE ZBEE-E=_FR
REER #RUFAEERIRBEEEZE
HHRE - EREBENTHRERMTZEC2022
FRERBKTTEES GRHEZ ) (BRI K
By A BKEREEZTANAHE@BESS
SEH 2 BAMERERO EEGEE 2 RBR
BERERE ZEEER - ZHRZBHE L
SR REHESEENLE -

HREMAE-Z-AFHA - BBERZ(E
BMBRELENEI6RHE]  XEEE
ERBAEASHEXN S HE - REZE
B2 BEMGRY SRS DERAZT
XAZBPINERABRAAUERR-Z
—hWENR-HzERAREERHEEAE R
NPRAZZEEREER A58 (ERE
BAEAERAEEEEREELRELEZNE
BRAREAEEENE  MERBBEZBE
HES=EERIBHNEEHEELEZES
B CEERFUANEFREERFEN
BRABKEY -
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